
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M. MEETING 
 

AGENDA 
 
  
7:00 P.M. March 9, 2020 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. INVOCATION – Pastor Bill Benner, Church of Christ of Christian Union 

 
3.     PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summaries of the regular meeting and joint 

meeting of Council held on February 24, 2020, as recorded and 
transcribed. 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Shade Tree Commission 

meeting held on October 22, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.  
B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Historic Preservation 

Commission meeting held on October 23, 2020, as recorded and 
transcribed 

C. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Planning Commission 
meeting held on February 5, 2019, as recorded and transcribed.  

D. Resolution No. 20-23, a resolution authorizing the extension of the 
School Zone for Conger Elementary School to 300 feet east of the 
eastern most school property line on East William Street (US-36) 
for westbound traffic.   

E. Resolution No. 20-24, a resolution authorizing the City of Delaware 
to participate in the State of Ohio Cooperative Purchasing Program. 

F. Establish March 23, 2020 at 7:30 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and second readings for Ordinance No. 20-10, an 
ordinance approving a Rezoning Amendment for Terra Alta LLC., 
for Terra Alta Subdivision from A-1 and R-2 PMU to A-1 and R-2 
PMU on approximately 472.9 acres and located north of Braumiller 
Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin Station Road (No 
zoning changes to the Stockdale Farms portion of the development) 
and Ordinance No. 20-11, an ordinance approving a Conditional 
Use Permit for Terra Alta LLC., allowing the placement of a 



2 
 

Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District (PMU) for Terra Alta 
Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acres zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU 
and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and 
west of Berlin Station Road. 
 

6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

8. SEVENTH READING of Ordinance No. 19-63, an ordinance accepting the 
annexation of 43.847±  acres of land more or less, description and map 
are attached hereto as exhibits “A” and “B” for the annexation known as 
The Evans Farm Delaware LLC Annexation by Andrew Wecker, agent for 
the petitioners.  
 

9. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 20-05, an ordinance amending 
Section 901 of the City of Delaware Codified Ordinances to bring the 
rules and regulations into conformance with the current right of way best 
management practices.   
 

10. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 20-06, an ordinance revising Section 
909 of the City of Delaware Code of Ordinances establishing General 
Rules and Regulations for the maintenance and repair of sidewalk within 
public right of way.   
 

11. SECOND READING of Resolution No. 20-20, a resolution of necessity for 
construction or repair of sidewalks for the 2020 Downtown Sidewalk 
Maintenance Program.  
 

12. SECOND READING of Resolution No. 20-21, a resolution of necessity for 
construction or repair of sidewalks for the 2020 Sidewalk Maintenance 
Program. 
 

13. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 20-25, a resolution indicating what 
services the City of Delaware will provide to 1.062± acres of land, more or 
less, description and map are attached hereto for the annexation known 
as the Alshahal Enterprises, LLC Annexation by Michael R. Shade, Agent 
for the Petitioners.  
 

14. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-10, an ordinance approving a 
Rezoning Amendment for Terra Alta LLC., for Terra Alta Subdivision from 
A-1 and R-2 PMU to A-1 and R-2 PMU on approximately 472.9 acres and 
located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin 
Station Road (No zoning changes to the Stockdale Farms portion of the 



3 
 

development). 
 

15. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-11, an ordinance approving a 
Conditional Use Permit for Terra Alta LLC., allowing the placement of a 
Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District (PMU) for Terra Alta Subdivision on 
approximately 472.9 acres zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU and located north of 
Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin Station Road.  
 

16. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-12, an ordinance approving an 
Amended Preliminary Development Plan for Terra Alta LLC., for Terra 
Alta Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acres on property zoned A-1 
and R-2 PMU and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road 
and west of Berlin Station Road.  
 

17. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-13, an ordinance approving an 
Amended Subdivision Plat for Terra Alta LLC., For Terra Alta Subdivision 
on approximately 472.9 acres on property zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU and 
located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin 
Station Road.  
 

18. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-14, an ordinance approving a 
Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for Skilken Gold Real 
Estate Development for Sheetz located at 700 Sunbury Road on property 
zoned B-3 (Community Business District) and B-4 (General Business 
District) on approximately 4.6 acres.  
 

19. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-15, an ordinance approving a 
Final Development Plan request by Pulte Homes for the Communities at 
Glenross Section 16 containing 45 single family lots on 18.21 acres on 
property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned 
Mixed-Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald Eagle 
Drive and Sundial Lane.  
 

20. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-16, an ordinance approving a 
Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the Communities at 
Glenross Section 16 Part 1 containing 36 single family lots on 14.476 
acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald 
Eagle Drive and Sundial Lane.  
 

21. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-17, an ordinance approving a 
Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the Communities at 
Glenross Section 16 Part 2 containing 9 single family lots on 3.743 acres 
on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 



4 
 

Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District) an located on Bald Eagle Drive and 
Sundial  Lane.   
 

22. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-18, an ordinance approving a 
Final Development Plan request by T&R Properties for the Enclave at the 
Ravines at Olentangy containing 86 single family attached units and 1 
single family detached unit on approximately 14.742 acres on property 
zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on the north side of Curve Road and 
west of Rochdale Run.  
 

23. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-19, an ordinance approving a 
Final Subdivision Plat request by T&R Properties for the Enclave at the 
Ravines at Olentangy containing 86 single family attached units and 1 
single family detached unit on approximately 14.742 acres on property 
zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on the north side of Curve Road and 
west of Rochdale Run.  
 

24. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-20, an ordinance providing for the 
issuance and sale of notes in the maximum principal amount of 
$2,000,000 in anticipation of the issuance of bonds, for the purpose of 
paying the cost of constructing Glenn Road between certain termini by 
constructing, excavating, grading and paving, installing drainage, 
sanitary sewer laterals, street lighting, conduit, curbs and gutters, 
signage, traffic pavement markings, street signs, landscaping, and 
acquiring interests in real estate, together with all necessary 
appurtenances thereto. 
 

25. UPDATE AND DISCUSSION on 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Program 
(See enclosed memo) 
 

26. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-21, an ordinance supplementing 
the 2020 Appropriations Ordinance to provide additional funding for the 
Housing Program Income Fund.  
 

27. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-22, an ordinance supplementing 
the 2020 Appropriations Ordinance to provide additional funding for the 
East William Street Project and declaring an emergency.  
 

28. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-23, an ordinance supplementing 
the 2020 Appropriations Ordinance to provide additional funding for 
water main extensions associated with the Glenn Parkway Project.  
 

29. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-24, an ordinance supplementing 



5 
 

the 2020 Appropriations Ordinance to provide additional funding for 
Parkland and Trailway Development Improvements.  
 

30. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

31. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

32. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 















































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM D DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-23 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXTENSION OF THE SCHOOL ZONE FOR 
CONGER ELEMENTARY SCHOOL TO 300 FEET EAST OF THE EASTERN MOST 
SCHOOL PROPERTY LINE ON EAST WILLIAM STREET (US-36) FOR 
WESTBOUND TRAFFIC. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The existing school zone limits for Conger Elementary School were approved and 
established in 1992-93 based on the recommendations of the amended school 
zone study completed at that time.  The existing limits on E. William Street (US-
36) are 300 feet west and east of the original school property located at the 
northeast corner of E. William Street (US-36) and Channing Street.  The existing 
“School Zone Distance Forms” from 1992-93, along with the City of Delaware 
journalization records, are attached to this document for reference if needed. 
 
The Delaware City Schools purchased additional properties on the north side of 
E. William Street (US-36) east of their original property in 1996, 2002 and most 
recently in 2019.  Since acquiring these properties, the Delaware City Schools 
has expanded their parking lot and have plans for additional improvements on 
the two (2) eastern most properties that were just recently acquired.  Given that 
the schools property limits have changed on E. William Street (US-36), the City 
is requesting that the school zone limits be updated to reflect 300 feet from the 
eastern most property line. This will extend the school zone on E. William Street 
to just east of Wade Street.  Attached is an exhibit illustrating the proposed 



location of the school zone flasher device and relevant school zone signage & 
pavement markings for westbound traffic on E. William Street (US-36).  The City 
has identified the need for these changes to comply with Ohio Revised Code 
(ORC) Section 4511.21, to enhance the safety for school-aged children that 
attend Conger Elementary School, and to accommodate the significant surge of 
traffic (pedestrian, bus and vehicle) during the school arrival and dismissal times 
within the newly described area. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The extension of a school zone and placement of regulatory signage requires City 
Council authorization for permanent enforcement. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
At no additional costs to the City, these changes will be made with the E. William 
Street Widening Project since new school flashers, signage and pavement 
markings are being installed with the project.   
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
School Zone Extension Request Form approved by ODOT, memorandum dated 
January 29, 2020 submitted to ODOT requesting the school zone extension and 
Exhibit A showing estimated locations where the School Zone Flasher Unit will 
be relocated on East William Street (US-36).  All locations will need field verified 
in order to determine exact locations to maximize the visibility of the units and 
signage, minimize impacts to nearby residential properties, and avoid existing 
underground utilities.   



RESOLUTION NO. 20-23 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXTENSION OF 
THE SCHOOL ZONE FOR CONGER ELEMENTARY 
SCHOOL TO 300 FEET EAST OF THE EASTERN 
MOST SCHOOL PROPERTY LINE ON EAST WILLIAM 
STREET FOR WESTBOUND TRAFFIC. 
 

WEHEREAS, the improvements have been requested so as to provide for 
enhanced safety on East William Street (US-36) for school aged pedestrians 
attending Conger Elementary School; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Department of Transportation has approved the 
extension of the School Zone on February 24, 2020. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.  The School Zone will be extended to 300 feet from the 
eastern most school property line on East William Street for Conger Elementary 
School.  

 
SECTION 2.  The School Zone Flasher Unit for westbound traffic will be 

relocated on East William Street (US-36) for Conger Elementary School. 
 

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS___ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

TO:  Andrew Hurst, P.E. 

 Jennifer Jenkins 

FROM:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 

 Matthew B. Weber, P.E., Deputy City Engineer 

Jessica Ormeroid, PE, PTOE  

DATE: January 29, 2020 

RE: Conger Elementary School, E. William Street (US-36) School Zone Limit Updates  

 

The City of Delaware is formally requesting that the school zone for Conger Elementary School be updated 

and extended further east for westbound traffic on E. William Street (US-36).   

The existing school zone limits for Conger Elementary School were approved and established in 1992-93 

based on the recommendations of the amended school zone study completed at that time.  The existing limits 

on E. William Street (US-36) are 300 feet west and east of the original school property located at the 

northeast corner of E. William Street (US-36) and Channing Street.  The existing “School Zone Distance 

Forms” from 1992-93, along with the City of Delaware journalization records, are attached to this document 

for reference if needed. 

 The Delaware City Schools purchased additional properties on the north side of E. William Street (US-36) 

east of their original property in 1996, 2002 and most recently in 2019.  Since acquiring these properties, the 

Delaware City Schools has expanded their parking lot and have plans for additional improvements on the two 

(2) eastern most properties that were just recently acquired.  Given that the schools property limits have 

changed on E. William Street (US-36), the City is requesting that the school zone limits be updated to reflect 

300 feet from the eastern most property line. This will extend the school zone on E. William Street to just east 

of Wade Street.  Attached is an exhibit illustrating the proposed location of the school zone flasher device and 

relevant school zone signage & pavement markings for westbound traffic on E. William Street (US-36).  The 

City has identified the need for these changes to comply with Ohio Revised Code (ORC) Section 4511.21, to 

enhance the safety for school-aged children that attend Conger Elementary School, and to accommodate the 

significant surge of traffic (pedestrian, bus and vehicle) during the school arrival and dismissal times within 

the newly described area. 

 

 

 





























  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM E DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO:  20-24 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF DELAWARE TO PARTICIPATE IN 
THE STATE OF OHIO COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The State of Ohio allows governmental subdivisions to participate in the Ohio 
Cooperative Purchasing Program which translates into cost savings and 
efficiencies by allowing these entities to purchase goods and services through 
state contracts without the need for a separate bidding process. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
In order to participate in this program, governmental subdivisions are required 
to pass legislation on an annual basis authorizing the entity to participate in 
the cooperative purchasing program and pay a nominal administrative fee. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Based on the current estimated population for the City of Delaware, the 
administrative fee per year to participate in this program will be $170. 
 
 
 



POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
N/A 



RESOLUTION 20-24 
 

A RESOULTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE STATE OF 
OHIO COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM.  

  
WHEREAS, Ohio’s Cooperative Purchasing Act. (AM. Sub. H.B. No. 100), 

as signed into law on December 4, 1985; and 
 

WHEREAS, effective March 6, 1986, Ohio’s Cooperative Purchasing Act 
provides the opportunity for counties, townships, municipal corporations, 
regional transit authorities, regional airport authorities or port authorities and 
school districts, conservancy districts, township park districts and park districts 
and other authorities, to participate in contracts distributed by the state of Ohio, 
Department of Administrative Services, Office of Cooperative Purchasing for the 
purchase of supplies, services, equipment and certain materials. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That the Finance Director hereby requests authority in the 
name of the City of Delaware to participate in state contracts which the 
Department of Administrative Services, Office of State Purchasing has entered 
into and the Office of Cooperative Purchasing has distributed for the purchase 
of supplies, services, equipment and certain other materials pursuant to Revised 
Code Section 125.04. 
 

SECTION 2. That the Finance Director is hereby authorized to agree in the 
name of the City of Delaware to be bound by all contract terms and conditions 
as the Department of Administrative Services, Office of Cooperative Purchasing 
prescribes. Such terms and conditions may include a reasonable annual 
membership fee to cover the administrative costs which the Department of 
Administrative Services incurs as a result of City of Delaware participation in the 
contract. Further, that the Finance Director does hereby agree to be bound by 
all such terms and conditions and to not cause or assist in any way the misuse 
of such contracts or make contract disclosures to non-members of the Coop for 
the purpose of avoiding the requirements established by ORC 125.04. 
 

SECTION 3. That the Finance Director is hereby authorized to agree in the 
name of the City of Delaware to directly pay the vendor, under each such state 
contract in which it participates for items it receives pursuant to the contract, 
and the City of Delaware does hereby agree to directly pay the vendor. 

 
 
 



SECTION 4.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 
upon its passage.   

 
 

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  8    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-63    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: SEVENTH    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 43.847± ACRES OF LAND 
MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE EVANS FARM 
DELAWARE, LLC ANNEXATION BY ANDREW WECKER, AGENT FOR THE 
PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
03/09/2020 UPDATE: Finance Director, Justin Nahvi performed some analysis 
assuming three different scenarios (attached) of increases in community 
authority fees and their impact on property tax millage: 
 

1. Under a 1% annual increase in Community Authority fees, the millage 
could be reduced to 7 mills in 2026.  

2. Under a 10% annual increase in Community Authority fees, the millage 
could immediately be reduced to 4.75 mills, with a secondary reduction in 
2021 to 4.5 mills.  There would be marginal reductions to the millage in 
years 2027 and 2028. 

3. Under a 25% annual increase in Community Authority fees, the millage 
could immediately be reduced to 4.5 mills, with 0.5 mill reductions each 
year through 2026, down to 1.5 mills. 



While this work is preliminary and Staff is not yet prepared to recommend 
changes to millage, it should provide Council with an idea of the possible 
adjustments that would come with growth in the area.  Staff has also included 
language stating that the property must join the Delaware South NCA if it leaves 
the Evans Farm NCA, per Council’s request at the last Council meeting. 
 
02/24/2020 UPDATE:  The draft included in this packet has proposed language 
to resolve the NCA issue discussed at prior meetings.  Under this language, 
instead of the annexed property being placed in the NCA, the developer would 
make a one-time payment of $250,000 on or before December 1, 2023.  This 
payment would be backed by a surety (letter of credit or bond) to ensure the 
payment is made.  The surety would be provided within seven days of Council 
approval of the Final Subdivision Plat and approval of engineering plans for the 
first phase of the development.  No on-site improvements would be permitted 
until the surety is provided.   
 
Staff recommends this resolution to facilitate the property becoming part of the 
city, because it has been within Delaware’s utility planning boundary for 
decades, including sizing the Southeast Highland sewer and new/upgraded 
utility plants to accommodate this growth area.  Annexation will allow logical 
connection of infrastructure such as the roadway, sewer, water, and stormwater 
networks.  Though a relatively small piece of ground by the city standards, it 
would complete the overall development ‘picture’ in the far southeast portion of 
our community.  The Evans Farms development standards are high quality and 
will complement the overall growth and development of the southeast area while 
fulfilling many aspects of the current Comprehensive Plan.  Having it developed 
outside the community would not only create potential complications with our 
annexation and utility provision policies and practices but it would likely create 
a different development pattern which would be directly connected to existing 
and planned city development thereby potentially creating awkward transitions 
between what, in the real world, will be direct neighbors (not separated by 
roadways, rail road tracks, and the like).  Finally, our current Comprehensive 
Plan contemplated this property becoming part of the city of Delaware in many 
ways.  Among these are, in the Growth Management section of the Plan, it is on 
the Potential Annexation Area map and it is part of the Cheshire Sub Area which 
calls for residential housing and notes that it is the southern gateway to the 
larger city where infrastructure and neighborhoods should be connected as 
much as possible – this is a refrain expressed by the public and Steering 
Committee for the current update of the Comprehensive Plan as well for this 
particular area.   
 
02/10/2020 UPDATE:  Negotiations continue, but no substantive update since 
Council’s last meeting.  Staff recommends continuing to a sixth reading.  
 
01/27/2020 UPDATE:  Please see attached memo dated January 23, 2020.  
 



01/13/2020 UPDATE: On December 27, 2019, the Applicant shared a 
projection of possible revenues should Evans Farm be a part of the Delaware 
South NCA. The intent behind this projection would be an equivalent financial 
contribution made by the Applicant.  Staff is currently reviewing these 
projections. 
 
11/18/2019 UPDATE: In consultation with the applicant’s attorney, staff has 
determined that the date the annexation must be voted on is March 9, 2020, 
which is a significant extension from the previously calculated date.  The City 
continues to work with the applicant on a resolution to the overlapping of New 
Community Authorities.  
 
This process involves several steps and actions by the County and City in order 
for an annexation to ultimately be accepted by the City.  The City took the first 
city step in the process which required determination of services the City could 
provide – the Resolution of Services passed August 12, 2019 via Resolution 19-
37.  The legislation before City Council currently is the final acceptance of 
annexation which would bring the property into the City.  City Council must 
decide to accept, accept with conditions, or deny the annexation.  If no action is 
taken by the ORC dictated time frame ending on March 9, 2020, ORC dictates 
that the annexation will be automatically denied.   The Applicant has brought a 
concept plan forward to Planning Commission for initial feedback which was 
generally well received by the Commission.  The Applicant has previously stated 
they wished to begin their zoning, preliminary plan, and preliminary plat process 
prior to annexation acceptance though Staff has not received applicants as of 
the date of writing.  At this time the earliest hearing date for these if applied for 
today would be the January 6, 2020 Planning Commission meeting.   
Perhaps the most important issue remaining to be agreed upon with the 
annexation is related to the inclusion of the property into the Delaware South 
New Community Authority as other properties are within this southeast area of 
the community.  Evans Farm is already included within its own NCA which is a 
complicating factor in this discussion.  City administration has offered the 
Applicant several alternatives that would address the issue but no conclusion 
has been reached as of the time of writing.  The options presented include:  (1) 
Pay the present value of the expected Delaware South NCA revenue that would 
have been collected if they joined the Delaware South NCA; (2) Direct the existing 
Evans Farm NCA to pay the City what the Delaware South NCA charge would 
collect until the Delaware South NCA debt is paid.  
 
Multiple readings of this annexation are anticipated as a result.  Because the 
final ORC required deadline is March 9, 2020, Council’s 3/19/20 is the final 
meeting date at which a decision would need to be made to avoid an automatic 
ORC denial of the annexation. 
 



Finally, as was noted in the Fact Sheet for the Resolution of Services for this 
annexation, Staff suggests several conditions of annexation that will provide 
certainty and clarity to the City as well as the Applicant: 
 

1. The applicant shall include the property in the Delaware South New 
Community Authority or make an equivalent financial contribution as 
determined by the City. 

2. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

3. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit 
in addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in effect 
at the time of permitting. 

4. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

5. Transportation considerations to be determined in final form through the 
zoning and development review process: 

a. Road connectivity shall be required to adjacent property. 
b. Any roadway connections to Peachblow Rd. shall be coordinated 

with the Delaware County Engineer as well as the city. 

 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This legislation is the final City step in the process to formally 
accept the annexation of the property.  The City has until March 9, 2020 to pass 
this acceptance of annexation Ordinance or it is considered by ORC to be denied.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
NCA Growth Scenario 
Memo 
County Resolution  



Petition 
Map 
City Resolution  



ORDINANCE NO. 19-63 
 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 
43.847± ACRES OF LAND MORE OR LESS, 
DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN 
AS THE EVANS FARM DELAWARE, LLC ANNEXATION 
BY ANDREW WECKER, AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Andrew Wecker, agent for the petitioners, has filed with the 

Delaware County Commissioners for annexation of 43.847 acres of land, more or 
less, the description and map are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B; and 
 

WHEREAS, Andrew Wecker, as agent for the petitioners on August 5, 2019 
delivered to the Clerk of the Delaware City Council the notice of his filing of the 
annexation petition with the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County 
and its clerk on August 5, 2019; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Revised Code requires that within 20 days following 
the date the petition is filed, the City Council shall, by resolution, adopt a 
statement as to what services, if any, the City will provide and an approximate 
date by which it will provide them to the territory proposed for annexation, upon 
annexation, which was completed when City Council passed a Resolution of 
Services on August 12, 2019 via Resolution 19-37; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed annexation applied for in the petition to the 

Delaware County Commissioners has been approved, by them for annexation to 
the City of Delaware on September 5, 2019 (See attached).  The territory to be 
annexed is described in the attached Exhibits “A” and “B”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the certified transcript of the proceedings for annexation, with 
an accurate map of the territory, together with the petition of annexation and 
other papers relating to the proceedings of the County Commissioners, are on file 
with the Clerk of Council, and have been for more than sixty days. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Council hereby accepts the annexation of 43.847 acres of 
land, description and plat of which are hereby attached as Exhibits “A” and “B” on 
the annexation known as the Evans Farm Delaware, LLC by Andrew Wecker, 
agent for the petitioners with the following conditions that: 
 

 



1. Since the property is already encumbered with a pre-existing NCA and as a 
replacement for the annexed property also joining the Delaware South NCA, 
the developer shall make a one-time payment of $250,000 on or before 
December 1, 2023.  This payment may be made in cash, check, or 
EFT.  This payment shall be secured by a letter of credit or bond (the 
‘surety’) from an issuer selected by Developer but acceptable both as to form 
and issuer to the City.  Surety (or payment should Developer elect to submit 
cash) shall be submitted to the City within seven days of approval by City 
Council of a Final Subdivision Plat and Approval of Engineering Plans for 
the first phase of development.  No on-site improvements on the annexed 
property shall be granted until the acceptable surety or payment (should 
Developer elect to submit cash) is provided. SHOULD THE ANNEXED 
PROPERTY BE REMOVED FROM THE PRE-EXISTING EVAN’S FARM 
NCA, THE PROPERTY WILL BE REQUIRED TO JOIN THE DELAWARE 
SOUTH NCA.  

2. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

3. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit in 
addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in effect at 
the time of permitting. 

4. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

5. Transportation considerations to be determined in final form through the 
zoning and development review process: 

a. Road connectivity shall be required to adjacent property. 
b. Any roadway connections to Peachblow Rd. shall be coordinated with 

the Delaware County Engineer as well as the city. 

SECTION 2.  That the Clerk of Council is directed to make five copies of this 
ordinance, to each of which shall be attached a copy of the map accompanying the 
petition for annexation, a copy of the transcript of proceedings of the Board of 
County Commissioners relating thereto, and a certificate as to the correctness 
thereof. The Clerk shall then forthwith deliver one copy to the Secretary of State, 
and shall file notice of annexation with the Board of Elections, the County Auditor, 
the County Recorder, and the County Engineer within thirty days after it becomes 
effective, and the Clerk shall do all other things required by law. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



SECTION 3.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



2020 BUDGET DETAIL   1% NCA Development Growth Scenario
FUND: GLENN ROAD SOUTH CONSTRUCTION FUND

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Description Actual Actual Budget Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Fund Balance - January 1st 3,086,736     2,870,049     2,749,561     2,749,561     926,595                 1,068,341              1,069,015              1,012,692              1,153,946              982,353                 793,239                 540,167                 280,053                 

496- 4010 Note Proceeds 10,565,000   9,815,000     8,965,000     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4011 Note Premium 69,412           118,663         0                     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4020 Bond Proceeds 0                     0                     0                     7,150,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4021 Bond Premium 0                     0                     0                     389,825         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4115 Community Authority Fees 439,746         607,335         750,000         735,442         742,796                 750,224                 757,727                 765,304                 772,957                 780,687                 735,927                 743,286                 750,719                 
4262 County Intersection Funds 0                     0                     50,000           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4263 DACC Intersection Funds 0                     0                     52,500           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4650 Transportation Impact Fees 105,423         140,156         100,000         123,306         100,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4660 Developer Payments 0                     0                     0                     172,834         0                              0                              0                              250,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4710 Land Sale 0                     0                     583,471         583,471         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              

Total Revenue 11,179,581   10,681,154   10,500,971   9,154,878     842,796                 750,224                 757,727                 1,015,304              772,957                 780,687                 735,927                 743,286                 750,719                 

496-4960- 5230 Professional Services 24,147           22,342           25,000           116,321         25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    
5551 Construction Glenn Road Phase 1B 0                     0                     0                     138,592         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5601 Transportation Fee Refunds 45,282           3,000             5,000             8,000             10,000                    0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5801 Note Principal 11,215,000   10,565,000   9,815,000     9,815,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5802 Bond Principal 0                     0                     0                     440,000         430,000                 510,000                 600,000                 690,000                 795,000                 860,000                 905,000                 940,000                 980,000                 
5811 Note Interest 111,839         211,300         293,632         293,633         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5812 Bond Interest 0                     0                     0                     166,299         236,050                 214,550                 189,050                 159,050                 124,550                 84,800                    59,000                    38,400                    19,600                    

Total Expenditures 11,396,268   10,801,642   10,138,632   10,977,845   701,050                 749,550                 814,050                 874,050                 944,550                 969,800                 989,000                 1,003,400              1,024,600              
  Carryover PO's

Fund Balance - December 31st 2,870,049     2,749,561     3,111,900     926,595        1,068,341              1,069,015              1,012,692              1,153,946              982,353                 793,239                 540,167                 280,053                 6,172                      

Valuation Based on Revenue 99,039,522.67      100,029,917.89    101,030,217.07    102,040,519.24    103,060,924.44    104,091,533.68    105,132,449.02    106,183,773.51    107,245,611.24    
Annual Revenue Surplus 141,746                 674                         (56,323)                  141,254                 (171,593)                (189,113)                (253,073)                (260,114)                (273,881)                
Amortization of Cash Surplus 118,705                 118,779                 112,521                 128,216                 109,150                 88,138                    60,019                    31,117                    686                         
Millage Reduction % 30.90% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 14.12% 11.29% 8.16% 4.19% 0.09%
Reduced Millage Amount -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          0.50                        -                          -                          
Revised Millage 7.50                        7.50                        7.50                        7.50                        7.50                        7.50                        7.00                        7.00                        7.00                        

Account #

The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.
The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.
The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.



2020 BUDGET DETAIL   10% NCA Development Growth Scenario
FUND: GLENN ROAD SOUTH CONSTRUCTION FUND

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Description Actual Actual Budget Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Fund Balance - January 1st 3,086,736     2,870,049     2,749,561     2,749,561     926,595                 1,134,531              948,575                 721,849                 743,855                 509,967                 321,895                 192,796                 82,738                    

496- 4010 Note Proceeds 10,565,000   9,815,000     8,965,000     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4011 Note Premium 69,412           118,663         0                     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4020 Bond Proceeds 0                     0                     0                     7,150,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4021 Bond Premium 0                     0                     0                     389,825         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4115 Community Authority Fees 439,746         607,335         750,000         735,442         808,986                 563,594                 587,324                 646,056                 710,662                 781,728                 859,901                 893,342                 959,554                 
4262 County Intersection Funds 0                     0                     50,000           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4263 DACC Intersection Funds 0                     0                     52,500           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4650 Transportation Impact Fees 105,423         140,156         100,000         123,306         100,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4660 Developer Payments 0                     0                     0                     172,834         0                              0                              0                              250,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4710 Land Sale 0                     0                     583,471         583,471         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              

Total Revenue 11,179,581   10,681,154   10,500,971   9,154,878     908,986                 563,594                 587,324                 896,056                 710,662                 781,728                 859,901                 893,342                 959,554                 

496-4960- 5230 Professional Services 24,147           22,342           25,000           116,321         25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    
5551 Construction Glenn Road Phase 1B 0                     0                     0                     138,592         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5601 Transportation Fee Refunds 45,282           3,000             5,000             8,000             10,000                    0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5801 Note Principal 11,215,000   10,565,000   9,815,000     9,815,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5802 Bond Principal 0                     0                     0                     440,000         430,000                 510,000                 600,000                 690,000                 795,000                 860,000                 905,000                 940,000                 980,000                 
5811 Note Interest 111,839         211,300         293,632         293,633         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5812 Bond Interest 0                     0                     0                     166,299         236,050                 214,550                 189,050                 159,050                 124,550                 84,800                    59,000                    38,400                    19,600                    

Total Expenditures 11,396,268   10,801,642   10,138,632   10,977,845   701,050                 749,550                 814,050                 874,050                 944,550                 969,800                 989,000                 1,003,400              1,024,600              
  Carryover PO's

Fund Balance - December 31st 2,870,049     2,749,561     3,111,900     926,595        1,134,531              948,575                 721,849                 743,855                 509,967                 321,895                 192,796                 82,738                    17,692                    

Valuation Based on Revenue 107,864,826.67    118,651,309.33    130,516,440.27    143,568,084.29    157,924,892.72    173,717,381.99    191,089,120.19    210,198,032.21    231,217,835.44    
Annual Revenue Surplus 207,936                 (185,956)                (226,726)                22,006                    (233,888)                (188,072)                (129,099)                (110,058)                (65,046)                  
Amortization of Cash Surplus 126,059                 118,572                 103,121                 123,976                 101,993                 80,474                    64,265                    41,369                    17,692                    
Millage Reduction % 36.74% 5.26% 0.00% 0.00% 14.35% 10.29% 7.47% 4.63% 1.84%
Reduced Millage Amount 2.75                        0.25                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          0.25                        0.10                        
Revised Millage 4.75                        4.50                        4.50                        4.50                        4.50                        4.50                        4.50                        4.25                        4.15                        

Account #

The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.



2020 BUDGET DETAIL   25% NCA Development Growth Scenario
FUND: GLENN ROAD SOUTH CONSTRUCTION FUND

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Description Actual Actual Budget Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Fund Balance - January 1st 3,086,736     2,870,049     2,749,561     2,749,561     926,595                 1,244,847              1,108,165              964,440                 1,058,595              862,176                 640,506                 352,878                 226,193                 

496- 4010 Note Proceeds 10,565,000   9,815,000     8,965,000     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4011 Note Premium 69,412           118,663         0                     0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4020 Bond Proceeds 0                     0                     0                     7,150,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4021 Bond Premium 0                     0                     0                     389,825         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4115 Community Authority Fees 439,746         607,335         750,000         735,442         919,303                 612,868                 670,325                 718,205                 748,130                 748,130                 701,372                 876,715                 840,185                 
4262 County Intersection Funds 0                     0                     50,000           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4263 DACC Intersection Funds 0                     0                     52,500           0                     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4650 Transportation Impact Fees 105,423         140,156         100,000         123,306         100,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4660 Developer Payments 0                     0                     0                     172,834         0                              0                              0                              250,000                 0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
4710 Land Sale 0                     0                     583,471         583,471         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              

Total Revenue 11,179,581   10,681,154   10,500,971   9,154,878     1,019,303              612,868                 670,325                 968,205                 748,130                 748,130                 701,372                 876,715                 840,185                 

496-4960- 5230 Professional Services 24,147           22,342           25,000           116,321         25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    
5551 Construction Glenn Road Phase 1B 0                     0                     0                     138,592         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5601 Transportation Fee Refunds 45,282           3,000             5,000             8,000             10,000                    0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5801 Note Principal 11,215,000   10,565,000   9,815,000     9,815,000     0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5802 Bond Principal 0                     0                     0                     440,000         430,000                 510,000                 600,000                 690,000                 795,000                 860,000                 905,000                 940,000                 980,000                 
5811 Note Interest 111,839         211,300         293,632         293,633         0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              0                              
5812 Bond Interest 0                     0                     0                     166,299         236,050                 214,550                 189,050                 159,050                 124,550                 84,800                    59,000                    38,400                    19,600                    

Total Expenditures 11,396,268   10,801,642   10,138,632   10,977,845   701,050                 749,550                 814,050                 874,050                 944,550                 969,800                 989,000                 1,003,400              1,024,600              
  Carryover PO's

Fund Balance - December 31st 2,870,049     2,749,561     3,111,900     926,595        1,244,847              1,108,165              964,440                 1,058,595              862,176                 640,506                 352,878                 226,193                 41,779                    

Valuation Based on Revenue 122,573,666.67    153,217,083.33    191,521,354.17    239,401,692.71    299,252,115.89    374,065,144.86    467,581,431.07    584,476,788.84    730,595,986.05    
Annual Revenue Surplus 318,253                 (136,682)                (143,725)                94,155                    (196,420)                (221,670)                (287,628)                (126,685)                (184,415)                
Amortization of Cash Surplus 138,316                 123,129                 107,160                 117,622                 95,797                    71,167                    39,209                    25,133                    4,642                      
Millage Reduction % 44.79% 11.11% 12.50% 14.29% 12.80% 9.51% 5.59% 2.87% 0.55%
Reduced Millage Amount 3.00                        0.50                        0.50                        0.50                        0.50                        0.50                        0.50                        -                          0.35                        
Revised Millage 4.50                        4.00                        3.50                        3.00                        2.50                        2.00                        1.50                        1.50                        1.15                        

Account #

The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.
The Glenn Road South Construction Fund accounts for costs incurred with the construction of Glenn Road from the northern point of the
Glenn Ross development south 8,700 feet to the intersection with US Route 23.



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
VIA: Alycia Ballone, Budget and Management Analyst 
DATE:  January 23, 2020 
RE: Ordinance No 19-63 - Evans Farm Annexation Update 

Background Summary: 
The main issue requiring resolution is that of the inclusion of the proposed annexation into 
the Delaware South New Community Authority.  Evans Farm currently is included within 
its own NCA at a rate of 10 mills.  The land proposed to be annexed was identified by the 
City to be included in the South NCA, which has a rate of 7.5 mills.  Rather than pass the full 
17.5 mills burden onto the future homeowner, the City and the Applicant are working to 
find a solution beneficial to all parties and equitable to those already in the South NCA. 

Update: 
In late December 2019, the Applicant shared a proposed payment (attached) based on their 
projections of the South NCA revenues.  The proposal assumed a 2 percent inflation rate, a 
home market value of $400,000, and a rate of completion of 10 homes in 2021 and 25 
homes annually in 2022 through 2024. The revenues were calculated at 7 mills and 
resulted in a total proposed payment of $194,360. 

Staff reviewed this projection in early January and countered the Applicant’s proposal with 
an alternate version (attached) making the following modifications: updating the millage to 
the current South NCA rate of 7.5 mills, revising the first year of collection to be 2022 which 
is more consistent with the construction realities likely for this site, and extending the length 
of the NCA to 2027 consistent with City projections.  Using the Applicant’s rate of 
construction, a market value of $400,000 and inflation rate of 2 percent, Staff’s projected 
NCA revenues were $403,389.   

Staff further broke the calculation down into a per house rate based on the year built to allow 
the developer to better align the payment required with when a building permit might be 
issued: $6,624 for a 2021 build, $5,574 for a 2022 build, $4,503 for a 2023 build, $3,410 for 
a 2024 build, $2,296 for a 2025 build and $1,159 for a 2026 build.  Each payment would be 
made on a per house basis and collected with the building permit.  At the rate of construction 
the Applicant provided, the per house rates sum to the $403,389 in projected South NCA 



 
 

 

revenues.  Increasing the rate of construction or building the remaining 24 lots would 
increase the overall sum. 

Staff’s proposal was given to the Applicant.  The Applicant has since countered the proposal 
with a one-time payment of $250,000 to be made in 2023.  While Staff has not had the 
opportunity to review this one-time payment in detail, a one-time guaranteed payment could 
potentially be beneficial while giving more certainty to receiving funds in the event that 
construction slows or stops for some unforeseen reason. 

Mr. Eyerman will be attending Monday night’s meeting and will be available to answer any 
questions. 

The included attachments show both the Applicant’s projections and City Staff’s projections. 



$400,000 24
2%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
10 25 25 25 0 0

MV of 2021 Lots
MV of 2022 

Lots
MV of 2023 

Lots
MV of 2024 

Lots
MV of 2025 

Lots
MV of 2026 

Lots Total MV
NCA Revenues @ 7.5 

mills 
2022 4,000,000$       -$    -$  -$  -$  -$  4,000,000$    10,500$   
2023 4,080,000$       10,200,000$  -$    -$  -$  -$  14,280,000$  37,485$   
2024 4,161,600$       10,404,000$  10,404,000$  -$    -$  -$  24,969,600$  65,545$   
2025 4,244,832$       10,612,080$  10,612,080$  10,612,080$  -$    -$  36,081,072$  94,713$   
2026 4,329,729$       10,824,322$  10,824,322$  10,824,322$  -$    -$  36,802,693$  96,607$   
2027 4,416,323$       11,040,808$  11,040,808$  11,040,808$  -$    -$  37,538,747$  98,539$   

Total 403,389$    

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Total Paid
per Lot Rate 6,624$       5,574$       4,503$       3,410$       2,296$       1,159$     
Total 66,235$     139,338$        112,563$        85,253$     -$    -$  403,389$        

Number of Lots Built by Year

Market Value:
Inflation:

Remaining Lots:

Projected Rate per Lot by Year Built

City of Delaware Staff Projections 



Evans Farm Project (Peachblow Site) DRAFT

Projected NCA Revenues

Projected Taxable Market Values (1)
NCA Total

Revenue 10 Lots - Built 2021 25 Lots - Built 2022 25 Lots - Built 2023 25 Lots - Built 2024 Total NCA Revenues
Received Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (7 Mills)

2023 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,000,000 9,800
2024 4,080,000 10,200,000 0 0 14,280,000 34,986
2025 4,161,600 10,404,000 10,404,000 0 24,969,600 61,176
2026 4,244,832 10,612,080 10,612,080 10,612,080 36,081,072 88,399

Total $194,360

(1) Assumes 2% inflation during build out (2021 - 2024) and 1% thereafter.
(2) Assumes Single Family market value of $400,000 with 10 lots completed in 2021 and 25 completed annually from 2022 to 2024.

Long Economic Development Advisors, LLC 12/12/19

Applicant Projections

































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  9    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-05    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       February 24, 2020 @ 7:30 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 901 OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE 
CODIFIED ORDINANCES TO BRING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS INTO 
CONFORMANCE WITH THE CURRENT RIGHT OF WAY BEST MANAGEMENT 
PRACTICES. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
UPDATE 3/09/2020: Section 901.05 was subsequently modified following 
public comment to expand the definition of emergency repairs to include the 
immediate re-establishment of critical utility services.       
 
2/24/2020: The revision amends the language of Chapter 901 (Excavations in 
the city’s right of way) of the City Codified Ordinances to bring the Rules & 
Regulations into conformance with the current best management practices 
employed by the city in managing the various construction activities taking place 
within the public right of way.   Modifications serve to revise the permitting 
process to be in conformance with current administrative responsibilities and 
assignments within the Public Works Department.  Amendments to language is 
included in regard to improving the requirements associated with the provision 
of acceptable maintenance of traffic plans and implementation during 
construction operations within the public right of way, and the associated public 



notification process requirements.   Adjustments to right of way permitting and 
inspection fees are proposed under separate ordinance.       
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To allow for appropriate and efficient right of way permit administration, 
construction inspection, maintenance of traffic, and public notification for all 
activities within the public right of way. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommendation for approval by the Public Works Committee by 3-0 vote on 
2/4/20 meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Includes more stringent regulation concerning the planning and implementation 
of adequate maintenance of traffic operations, and public notification process for 
private construction activities occurring within the public right of way. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval following public hearing 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Revised Section 901 per public comments received 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 20-05 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 901 OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE CODIFIED ORDINANCES TO 
BRING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS INTO 
CONFORMANCE WITH THE CURRENT RIGHT OF 
WAY BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware regulates excavation, construction and 

utility maintenance work occurring within dedicated public right of way; and 
 
WHEREAS, changes in personnel, division of responsibilities between 

departments within the city, and a need for more stringent regulation of work 
performed within the public right of way necessitate adjustments to the 
procedures employed in managing right of way activities; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 901 of the STREETS, UTILITIES AND PUBLIC 

SERVICES CODE shall be modified to account for the current best 
management practices in place. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
SECTION 1.  That Chapter 901 is hereby amended to read as follows:  

(See Sections 901 attached hereto) 
 

 SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________ ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

 

CHAPTER 901. - EXCAVATIONS[1]  

 

Footnotes:  

--- (1) ---  

Editor's note— Ord. 12-71, passed Oct. 29, 2012 , repealed the former Ch. 901, §§ 901.01—901.16, 
901.99, and enacted a new Ch. 901 as set out herein. The former Ch. 901 pertained to similar subject 
matter and derived from Ord. 04-195, passed Dec. 13, 2004.  

Cross reference— Barricades and warning lights - see GEN. OFF. 521.03  

State Law reference— Power to establish and care for streets - see Ohio R.C. 715.19, 717.01, 723.01; 
Openings by the Municipality - see Ohio R.C. 723.02; Excavation liability - see Ohio R.C. 723.49 et seq.; 
Changing established grade - see Ohio R.C. 727.07; Compulsory service connections - see Ohio R.C. 
729.06, 743.23, 743.37; Digging, excavating and piling earth on streets - see Ohio R.C. 5589.10  

901.01. - General provisions.  

(a)  Authority. Any person or agency desiring to excavate within or to occupy public right of way for the 
purpose of constructing, servicing, or maintaining public or private infrastructure or property must first 
obtain a RIGHT OF WAY public way permit.  

(b)  Permit Activities. There are three types of activities covered by this permit:  

(1)  Excavation: For excavations within a roadway, alley, sidewalk or driveway, or the non-paved 
area within the right of way for any purpose whatsoever. A separate permit is required for each 
project submission.  

(2)  Occupancy: For partial or complete closure of any public street, alley or sidewalk with vehicles, 
equipment or materials for the purpose of providing maintenance, repair, or replacement to any 
privately owned utility, building or property at or above grade. A separate permit is required for 
each project submission.  

(3)  Blanket: At the sole discretion of the City, an approved RIGHT OF WAY public way permit may 
be designated as a blanket permit and be available to applicants that routinely occupy the public 
right-of-way for the maintenance or repair to privately owned aerial utilities, installation of aerial 
service connections, or for tree trimming services, and that are able to perform such work with 
minimal disruption to traffic and without any excavation within the right-of-way. Blanket permits 
are issued for a period of one year, beginning January 1st, and require the submission of a ten-
thousand-dollar bond ($10,000.00), letter of credit, or other surety acceptable to the City 
Manager. In all cases, recipients of blanket permits are subject to the requirements of the Ohio 
Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices and are responsible for notifying the City of the 
schedule and location of all proposed activities. ALL ROAD AND LANE CLOSURES 
SHALL BE DONE IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE CITY’S MAINTENANCE OF 
TRAFFIC AND PUBLIC NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS POLICY. 

(c)  Exemptions: RIGHT OF WAY Public way permits as defined by this chapter, are not issued for the 
routine distribution or delivery of mail, newspapers, or services to businesses and residences such 
as landscaping service, furniture delivery, moving services; nor for construction activities associated 
with a new residential or commercial development project site, provided such activities are covered 
under a separately approved building permit or engineering plan; or for activities performed by the 
City, its contractors and agents.  

(d)  Permit Application, Review and Approval: Permit applications shall be made to the City on approved 
forms and shall be subject to approval, approval with conditions, denial, or returned with a request 
for additional information and/or correction. No work may begin until a permit has been approved, 

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

except for emergency repairs as defined in Section 901.05. Activities requiring the partial or 
complete closure of a public roadway or alley are subject to the additional maintenance of traffic 
requirements established in this chapter AND SHALL NOT BE CONSIDERED APPROVED UNTIL 
ALL SUCH REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN SATISFIED.  

(e)  Permit Issuance: With the exception of a permit with blanket designation, permits shall be issued for 
a maximum period of 180 days. At the sole discretion of the City and upon request by the applicant, 
a permit may be extended beyond the 180-day period as may be required to complete the work.  

(f)  Advance Notification Requirements: The following advanced notification requirements regarding the 
commencement of certain permit activities shall apply to all work requiring excavation within the 
public right-of-way, or any work that requires the partial of full closure of the travel lane of any public 
street. Notification shall be made only after receipt of an approved permit, and by either direct 
communication with the City Inspector, or by submitting written notification directly to the City. 
Notifications must include the approved permit number, contractor name and telephone number and 
the proposed work schedule. Work commencing without appropriate notification may be subject to 
the City ordering the work to cease.  

(1)  Minimum notification. A minimum 24-hour advance notification shall be made to the City for all 
projects requiring any excavation work whatsoever within the public right-of-way except for 
sidewalk and driveway approach work meeting the requirements of Section 901.06(a).  

(2)  Lane closures. Prior to establishing a lane closure of any public roadway, a minimum of (3) 
working days advance notice shall be provided by contacting the City as indicated on the 
permit.  

(3)  Full road closure. Prior to establishing implementing the complete closure of a street, a 
minimum of (5) working days advance notice shall be provided to the City to allow for proper 
notification of Safety and Emergency Forces, local industry and businesses and media as 
deemed necessary by the City.  

(g)  Liability. The issuance of a Public Way Permit does not relieve the applicant from liability for any 
damage that might occur to the roadway, the public, or personal property while performing work 
authorized by the permit. The permit applicant is further responsible for making any and all repairs, 
deemed necessary by the City, to work performed that has failed within a period of one (1) year from 
the date the work was completed.  

(h)  High Impact Areas. For purposes of this regulation, High Impact Areas are generally defined below 
and described as areas that may require the additional approval of other government agencies as 
well as special construction and restoration materials, specifications and procedures. Areas 
considered high impact generally include, but are not necessarily limited to US23, US36, US42, 
SR37, SR521 and the Downtown Streetscape Improvement Areas.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.02. - Form of permit application.  

The RIGHT OF WAY Public Way Permit application shall include sufficient detail to adequately 
describe the nature of work to be performed within the public right of way, project schedule, contractors 
involved, impacts to surrounding properties, and any other information necessary to fully describe the 
proposed activities. The permit application is subject to periodic modifications at the discretion of the City.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.03. - Permit plans.  

Whenever an excavation activity is to be performed within the right of way, the permit application 
shall be accompanied by detailed work plans. The plans shall be of suitable size, clarity and scale to 

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

show the nature of the work to be performed. All existing public and private utilities within the proposed 
work area shall be shown on the plans, in as much as information is available from searching City and 
private utility records. All conflicts with any City facility shall be resolved to the satisfaction of the City.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.04. - Restoration.  

Whenever an applicant has been granted authority to excavate in the public right of way the 
applicant shall be required to return the right of way to essentially the same condition it was prior to the 
work and by such time as indicated in the approved permit for the work. The permanent restoration of any 
sidewalk, tree lawn, curb, street pavement, etc. shall occur no later than thirty (30) days after the 
completion of any utility repair or installation activity within the public right of way except in high impact 
areas as defined in Section 901.01(h), which requires pavement restoration be completed within seven 
(7) days. Construction activity completed November through April shall have all grading and seeding 
issues resolved no later than May 31st.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.05. - Emergency repairs.  

When a private utility owner or its contractor must PARTIALLY OR FULLY BLOCK TRAVEL 
LANE(S) OF occupy any street or public right of way in order to complete emergency repairs as further 
defined below, the same shall complete the work as deemed necessary and submit a RIGHT OF WAY 
public way permit and the associated fees, no later than the following working day. For the purpose of this 
section, emergency repairs shall be considered those activities which require immediate action to address 
imminent danger and risk to the public and/or surrounding properties, OR WHERE THE IMMEDIATE 
RESTORATION OF CRITICAL UTILITY SERVICES IS NECESSARY. i.e. natural gas line leaks, water 
main breaks, downed power lines REQUIRING IMMEDIATE RESPONSE. The owner or contractor 
making emergency repairs shall notify the City of Delaware Police Department at the commencement of 
repair activity regarding the schedule of work AND impact to traffic, AND IS and to request City 
assistance in managing traffic issues. The owner or contactor is responsible for furnishing, erecting and 
maintaining all required traffic signage, barricades, detours etc. as required by the Ohio Manual of 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices.  IF THE OWNER/CONTRACTOR IS UNABLE TO FURNISH 
REQUIRED TRAFFIC MAINTENANCE, THE CITY SHALL FURNISH AS DEEMED NECESSARY AND 
INVOICE THE ASSOCIATED COST TO THE UTILITY OWNER. 

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.06. - Inspections.  

Inspection of work performed under all RIGHT OF WAY public way permits shall be completed by 
the City or an assigned agent. All excavation and paving activities within the public right-of-way, excluding 
sidewalk and driveway approach repairs, require a minimum 24-hour advance notification. Required 
inspections include:  

(a)  Sidewalk, Driveway or Curb. Concrete forms inspection required before placement of concrete. 
The permittee APPLICANT shall call the Planning and Community Development PUBLIC 
WORKS Department by 9:00 a.m. to schedule a required inspection for that day. Specific 
DATES AND times are not guaranteed.  

(b)  Utility Connections. Connections or repair to any public water line, sanitary or storm sewer 
requires inspection before backfill operation begins.  

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

(c)  Backfill Compaction. Backfill installation shall be performed in accordance with City 
specifications and is subject to inspection and testing as directed by the City.  

(d)  Final Inspection. A final inspection is required to verify conformance with permit requirements, 
including final grading and seeding.  

(e)  It is the applicant's responsibility to schedule inspections. Failure to obtain an inspection may 
result in the required re-excavation and installation of the work area in the presence of proper 
inspection personnel. In addition, the failure of a contractor to properly notify the City of his work 
and to schedule inspections may result in the denial by the City of any future permit 
applications.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.07. - Maintenance of traffic.  

 A MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC (MOT) PLAN SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH THE RIGHT 
OF WAY APPLICATION FOR ALL PARTIAL OR FULL CLOSURES OF A PUBLIC ROAD.  
ALL ROAD AND LANE CLOSURES SHALL BE DONE IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE 
CITY’S MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC AND PUBLIC NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 
POLICY.  A RIGHT OF WAY PERMIT REQUIRING AN APPROVED MOT PLAN IS NOT 
CONSIDERED APPROVED UNTIL THE ASSOCIATED MOT PLAN HAS BEEN SUBMITTED, 
REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY. WHERE APPROVED BY THE CITY, A 
STANDARD OHIO MANUAL OF UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES (OMUTCD) 
TRAFFIC CONTROL CASE, OR AN OHIO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (ODOT) 
MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC STANDARD DRAWING MAY BE UTILIZED IF APPLICABLE 
TO THE PROJECT. HOWEVER, ALL ARTERIAL STREETS SHALL PROVIDE A CUSTOM 
MOT PLAN SPECIFIC TO THE PROJECT IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMUTCD 
REQUIREMENTS. FOR ALL FULL STREET CLOSURES, A SIGNED DETOUR MUST BE 
INCLUDED IN THE APPROVED MOT PLAN. WHERE THE TERM “ROAD CLOSURE” OR 
“CLOSURE” IS USED, IT SHALL REFER TO BOTH FULL ROAD CLOSURES AND 
PARTIAL ROAD CLOSURES. PARTIAL ROAD CLOSURES INCLUDE LANE CLOSURE 
AND SHOULDER CLOSURES. 
 

For work that requires partial or complete closure of a public street, the applicant shall submit a 
maintenance of traffic application and associated traffic control/detour plan with the permit application, 
permits identifying partial or full road closure require up to ten (10) working days to review. Work requiring 
lane restrictions or a road closures is subject to the additional advance notification requirements of 
Section 901.01(f). Maintenance of traffic applications and plans shall be reviewed by the Engineering, 
Public Works, Police, and Fire Departments. Traffic control devices shall be furnished, erected, 
maintained, and removed by the applicant, or designated representative, in accordance with guidelines 
published in the Ohio Department of Transportation Temporary Traffic Control Manual. Any specific 
condition attached to the approved permit by the City shall take precedence over both the manual and 
plan notes. All traffic control devices used for night work including barrels, cones, barricades etc., must be 
equipped with high intensity reflective film and amber flashing beacons.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.08. - Excavation in new pavement.  

Excavating within pavement less than two years old shall not be permitted if alternate utility 
installation methods are available i.e. directional boring. In the event excavation in pavement is 

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

necessary, the applicant may be subject to additional pavement repair requirements including but not 
limited to full width pavement replacement, heat welding, sealing, and restriping.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.09. - Failure to perform.  

Failure of applicant to complete any of the required work specified on an approved permit, or within 
the allotted time frame or to City specification may result in the City revoking the permit, issuing a stop 
work order, and contracting out the remaining construction activities and repairs as required. The 
applicant will be responsible for all administrative, material and labor costs associated with the repair in 
addition to any fines as identified in Section 901.99.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.10. - Parking meters.  

Whenever the permitted activities being performed restrict the use of City Parking Meters, the 
applicant requesting the permit shall be responsible for contacting the City Police Department and making 
appropriate arrangements for specified meters to be temporarily bagged or removed as necessary for the 
work.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.11. - Steel roadway plates.  

The City requires that all applicants/contractors placing steel roadway plates on any public street or 
alley to notify the City Public Works Department upon placement. The contractor shall supply the name 
and telephone contact information of a designated 24-hour emergency contact person along with the 
location of each plate and the approximate number of days each plate shall be in place. All plates placed 
over excavations are to be held in place by the use of a minimum of four pins or by the placement of 
bituminous asphalt continuously or all four edges and must be marked with an orange construction 
barrels or safety cones at the adjacent edge of pavement.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.12. - Emergency contact.  

Prior to the commencement of any activity within the public right of way, the applicant shall provide 
the City with the name and phone number of a designated 24-hour emergency contact. The contact shall 
be authorized and capable of addressing situations that develop involving the applicants work after 
normal working hours or on weekends.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.13. - Dumpsters/storage containers.  

A public way permit is required for all dumpsters, large waste receptacles and storage containers 
placed within the public right of way. Permits may be issued to a property owner, contractor of the vendor 
who supplies the units. The vendor shall be responsible for providing a dumpster or container in 
compliance with current City regulations. When placed on a public street, each unit shall be protected by 
placement of orange reflectorized barrels or safety cones to alert motorists of the presence of the unit. 

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

The name and contact information of the unit owner shall be visible on the side of each unit. This 
regulation does not apply to waste containers placed on private property for routine waste collection 
service.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.14. - Special duty LAW ENFORCEMENT police officers.  

The applicant shall be responsible for requesting, scheduling, and paying for the cost of the services 
of A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER (LEO) UNIFORMED Special Duty Police Officers as REQUIRED 
BY THE MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC AND PUBLIC NOTIFICATION POLICY AND AS determined 
necessary by the City. Applicants shall be notified prior to permit approval to discuss the requirement of 
special duty officers. Special duty officers shall be required at all times when working within signalized 
street intersections. The City will determine the number of officers required. City of Delaware Officers are 
to be utilized when available and may be requested by contacting the Delaware Police Department. 
LEO’S FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS SHALL BE USED ONLY AFTER THE DELAWARE CITY 
POLICE DEPARTMENT DETERMINES THAT IT CANNOT PROVIDE THE OFFICER(S) AND 
APPROVES THE USE OF AN LEO FROM ANOTHER JURISDICTION. 

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.15. - Fees and deposits. PERMIT AND INSPECTION FEES 

ALL PERMIT APPLICANTS SHALL BE REQUIRED TO PAY REVIEW AND INSPECTION FEES 
AS ESTABLISHED IN 197.02 OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE.   

All permit applicants shall be required to pay certain fees as set forth in this section to cover the 
administrative costs of issuing permits and performing inspections. The fees are listed on the current 
Public Way Permit and Inspection Fees Schedule.  

(a)  Permit Fees: Permit fees shall be charged for the following permit activities and are due at the 
time an approved permit is picked up.  

• Excavation within the public right-of-way.  

• Occupancy of a public street, alley or any part of the public right-of-way.  

• Dumpsters/storage containers placed on a public street or within the right-of-way.  

• Sidewalk/driveway: No fees charged for individual sidewalk or driveway permits.  

• Blanket permit designation for work meeting the criteria of Section 901.01(b)(3).  

(b)  Inspection Fees: Applicants are responsible for paying inspection fees for the following 
activities at the time an approved permit is picked up.  

• Excavation within a paved roadway in which more extensive inspection coverage may be 
deemed necessary depending on the severity of the excavation size, depth and location.  

• Excavation outside pavement limits but within the public right-of-way.  

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


 

 

(c)  Additional Inspection Fees: If, in the opinion of the City, additional inspections are necessary in 
the form of a stand-by construction inspector being assigned to monitor the associated 
construction activity, the applicant shall be notified prior to approval of the permit application to 
discuss the inspection requirements. The applicant shall be responsible to pay for the cost of 
such stand-by inspection services at the current City hourly rate for construction inspection 
services and shall be invoiced for the total stand-by construction inspection fees once it has 
been determined that the work has been completed in a satisfactory manner.  

(d)  Pavement Repair Deposit: A pavement repair deposit, separate from other required permit and 
inspection fees, may be required at the discretion of the City. These funds are utilized to cover 
any cost incurred by the City to modify a pavement repair that was improperly installed or 
otherwise constructed.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 )  

Cross reference— Fee Schedule, § 197.02. 

901.16. - Right to decline.  

The City of Delaware reserves the right to decline additional permit requests by applicants that are in 
violation of the requirements of any provision of this chapter. No permit shall be issued until the violations 
are corrected to the satisfaction of the City.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 ) 

901.99. - Penalty.  

Whoever violates any provision of this section shall be deemed guilty of a minor misdemeanor and 
fined one hundred dollars ($100.00). Any such violation shall be considered a separate offense for each 
successive day continued, in accordance with this section.  

( Ord. 12-71. Passed 10-29-12 )  

http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank
http://newords.municode.com/readordinance.aspx?ordinanceid=670474&datasource=ordbank


  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 10    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-06    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       February 24, 2020 @ 7:35 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE REVISING SECTION 909 OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE CODE 
OF ORDINANCES ESTABLISHING GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR 
THE MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR OF SIDEWALK WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHT OF 
WAY. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
UPDATE 03/09/2020:  Staff recommends tabling this item pending additional 
research.   
 
Changes to how the city manages sidewalk permitting and inspection services 
have occurred over the past several years necessitating updates to current 
regulations governing sidewalk work.  With the completion of the ten-year Safe 
Walks initiative where over ten-thousand sections of sidewalk were repaired or 
replaced throughout the community, revisions to how future maintenance 
activity on public sidewalks are managed are included in the code update.  It is 
important to periodically update regulations that allow for the continued repair 
of deficient sidewalk sections across the city as they are reported or identified 
through evaluation. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 



To allow for the continued maintenance of deficient public sidewalk throughout 
the community. 
 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommendation for approval by the Public Works Committee by 3-0 vote on 
2/4/20 meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Continued maintenance of public sidewlaks in accordance with available funding 
established in the current 5-year CIP. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Replaces former Safe Walks maintenance initiative with simplified annual 
approach to sidewalk maintenance.   
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Table to allow for additional research 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Revise Section 909 



ORDINANCE NO. 20-06 
 

AN ORDINANCE REVISING SECTION 909 OF THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
ESTABLISHING GENERAL RULES AND 
REGULATIONS FOR THE MAINTENANCE AND 
REPAIR OF SIDEWALK WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHT OF 
WAY. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware has over one-hundred and seventy-one 

miles of public street, the majority of which includes public sidewalks along 
both sides; and 

 
WHEREAS, the sidewalks deteriorate over time such that repairs are 

required to maintain a safe pedestrian access network throughout the 
community; and  

 
WHEREAS, Section 729.01 of the Ohio Revised Code specifies that 

property owners with sidewalks and curbing abutting their property are 
responsible for the maintenance and repair thereof; and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 909 of the City of Delaware STREETS, UTILITIES 

AND PUBLIC SERVICES CODE shall be modified to include updated language 
pertaining to the responsibilities of the property owner in the maintenance and 
repair of sidewalk abutting their properties and details of an annual sidewalk 
maintenance program administered by the City.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
SECTION 1.  That Chapter 909 is hereby replaced to read as follows:   

(See Sections 909 attached hereto) 
 

 SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage 
of this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _________________________        ________________________ 

            CITY CLERK          MAYOR 



CHAPTER 909. - SIDEWALKS, CURBS AND GUTTERS[5]  

Footnotes:  

--- (5) ---  

Cross reference— Offenses relative to sidewalks - see GEN. OFF. Ch. 521  

State Law reference— Sidewalks and gutters - see Ohio R.C. 729.01 et seq.; Notice to construct or 
repair sidewalks - see Ohio R.C. 729.03 et seq.; Digging, excavating and piling earth on streets - see 
Ohio R.C. 5589.10  

GENERAL PROVISIONS  

909.01. - Authority.  

Chapter 903 of the Delaware City Code authorizes the City Manager to adopt and update standard 
construction specifications as required. Chapter 909 of the Delaware City Code and the provisions of 
section 729.01 of the Ohio Revised Code, require property owners to be responsible for the maintenance, 
repair, and if necessary, replacement of that portion of sidewalk and curb/gutter abutting their property 
line against any public street or alley in order that publicly accessible sidewalks be maintained in a safe 
condition.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

909.02. – CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE & REPAIR RESPONSIBILITY.  

The construction, maintenance and repair of sidewalks, handicap ramps, and curb/gutter is divided 
into specific responsibility:  

(a)  Existing Sidewalk and Curb. Existing sidewalks and curbing within publicly dedicated right-of-
way for public streets and alleys are the responsibility of the abutting property owner for all 
required maintenance, repair and replacement activities, and all associated costs thereof. 
Maintenance activities shall include, but not be limited to sweeping and the removal of leaves, 
snow, and ice as may be required to maintain a safe access for pedestrian movement.  

(b)  Existing Handicap Ramps. Existing handicap ramps constructed within publicly dedicated right-
of-way are the responsibility of the City to repair and replace as required, including the inclined 
ramp, landing area, and transition section of sidewalk. Such repairs shall be performed by the 
City. The daily maintenance of the handicap ramps remains the responsibility of the abutting 
property owner as described in subsection (a) hereof.  

(c)  New Development. All new developments within the City are required to include the 
construction of sidewalks and handicap ramps within the public right-of-way along all public 
streets, and along private streets and parking areas per City specifications and as further 
required and defined within Section 1111.10 of the City Code.  

(1)  Single-family residential development. Residential subdivisions must include the 
construction of all required handicap ramps per plan as part of the initial infrastructure 
construction, prior to the acceptance of the public improvements by the City. The City will 
only inspect and approve completed handicap ramps and will not inspect forms for 
handicap ramps prior to the placement of concrete. The construction of sidewalk fronting 
residential lots may be deferred until the construction of the associated residence on any 
particular lot; however, in no circumstance shall the construction of the walk be deferred for 
a period exceeding thirty months from the date of acceptance of public improvements for 
that development section.  

(2)  Multi-family residential development. Multi-family developments shall include the design 
and construction of sidewalks that meet the current Americans with Disabilities Act 
Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) AND PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY ACCESS GUIDELINES 



(PROWAG),  and conform to City requirements. Sidewalks shown on approved plans may 
be constructed in phases in association with the construction of specific buildings, and are 
to be completed, inspected, and approved by the City prior to the occupancy of any 
adjacent building. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROPERTY OWNER, 
PROPERTY MANAGER OR OTHER ENTITY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CONDITION OF 
THE PROPERTY TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALKS INCLUDING BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO 
SWEEPING, REMOVAL OF LEAVES, SNOW AND ICE, AND ALL REPAIRS AS MAY 
BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A SAFE ACCESS FOR PEDESTRIAN MOVEMENT. 

(3)  Commercial developments. Commercial developments shall include the design and 
construction of sidewalks that meet the current Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility 
Guidelines (ADAAG) AND PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY ACCESS GUIDELINES (PROWAG) 
and conform to City requirements. Sidewalks shown on approved plans are to be 
constructed, inspected, and approved by the City prior to the occupancy of any new facility 
associated with the development. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROPERTY 
OWNER, PROPERTY MANAGER OR OTHER ENTITY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 
CONDITION OF THE PROPERTY TO MAINTAIN SIDEWALKS INCLUDING BUT NOT 
BE LIMITED TO SWEEPING, REMOVAL OF LEAVES, SNOW AND ICE, AND ALL 
REPAIRS AS MAY BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A SAFE ACCESS FOR PEDESTRIAN 
MOVEMENT. 

 

(d)  Street Tree Damage. Sidewalk within existing public right-of-way or public access easements 
that has been damaged by the root system of a City street tree existing within the street tree 
planting area between the sidewalks and pavement edge shall be the responsibility of the City 
for necessary repair and replacement. In the event that the repair requires significant tree roots 
to be cut away so that in the opinion of the City Arborist, the tree will not survive and must be 
removed, the City shall have the tree removed, and replace the tree with a new tree of 
appropriate species as recommended by the City Street Tree Commission.  

(e)  Enhanced Walkway SURFACES Areas. Property owners whose individual properties abut an 
enhanced walkway SIDEWALK that INCLUDES ENHANCED AREAS CONSTRUCTED AT 
THE REQUEST OF THE CITY, has been constructed by the City as part of an area 
enhancement project, are not responsible for the repair and replacement of the enhanced 
portion of the walkway. Enhanced AREAS walkways include exposed brick and paver 
sidewalks, and ornamental tree gratings and castings.  

(f)  Asphalt Walkways and Bikeways. Property owners, whose individual properties abut an asphalt 
pedestrian path or bikeway that has been constructed as part of the designated City bikeway 
and pedestrian pathway network, are not responsible for repair and replacement of the asphalt 
bikeways.  

(g)  Utility Boxes and Appurtenances. Owners of utility access structures including meter pits, utility 
valve boxes, basement access doors, communication pull boxes, etc. that protrude more than 
½-inch ¼-INCH above the adjacent sidewalk surface are responsible for adjusting such 
appurtenance to be flush with the sidewalk section and if necessary, replacement of the 
sidewalk section.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE SPECIFICATIONS  

909.03. - Design and construction specifications.  

All public and private sidewalk, curbing, and handicap ramps shall be designed and constructed in 
conformance with the current City Design and Construction Specifications as authorized under Section 
903.01 of the City Code and be in conformance with current Federal ADAAG requirements AND 
PROWAG GUIDELINES.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

 



909.04. - Maintenance and Repair Criteria.  

The City shall apply the following criteria singly, or in combination, in the determination of whether 
sidewalk shall be repaired or replaced TO RESTORE A SAFE WALKING SURFACE.  

(a)  Adjoining sections or parts thereof whose edges differ vertically by more than ¼-INCH one-half 
inch.  

(b)  Adjoining SECTIONS WITH OPEN JOINTS OR GAPS GREATER THAN ½-INCH five-eighths 
of an inch in width.  

(c)  Sections WITH LOOSE OR MISSING PIECES. that are cracked so that pieces are missing or 
loose.  

(d)  Sections sloping away from the street unless so constructed by design.  

(e)  Sections with cross-slopes exceeding 2.08% three-fourths inches vertical per one foot 
horizontal.  

(f)   Sections that cause an abrupt change in the longitudinal grade of the sidewalk.  

(g)  Sections with deteriorating surfaces presenting loose aggregate.  

(h)  Sections containing structures such as cellar doors, grates, water boxes, meter pits, which   
protrude above the sidewalk more than one-half inch so that they present a tripping hazard.  

(i)  Sidewalk constructed without approval of the City.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

INSPECTION AND REPAIR  

909.05. – INSPECTIONS General purpose.  

The City shall conduct annual evaluations of the condition of existing sidewalks within public right of 
way for the purpose of determining the presence of specific sidewalk deficiencies requiring repair per the 
criteria established in Section 909.04 of these regulations. The community shall be sub-divided into 
sidewalk evaluation zones which are inspected over a ten-year cycle; however any property in the City 
may be inspected for sidewalk deficiencies at any given time. A deficiency report shall be generated in 
association with the sidewalk inspections that identifies deficient sections of sidewalk on specific 
properties, and AN ESTIMATED COST the costs associated with making repairs. City Council shall 
consider passage of a resolution of necessity requiring property owners identified in the report to 
complete the required repairs within a specified time-frame. Notification shall be sent to the associated 
property owner requiring the repairs be completed.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

909.06. – PROPERTY OWNER NOTIFICATION TO COMPLETE REPAIRS 

THE PROPERTY OWNER SHALL BE NOTIFIED IN WRITING OF AN IDENTIFIED SIDEWALK 
DEFICIENCY WITHIN A SECTION OF SIDEWALK ABUTTING THEIR RESPECTIVE PROPERTY AND 
BE PROVIDED A TIMEFRAME BY WHICH THE DEFICIENCY SHALL BE CORRECTED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH ACCEPTABLE REPAIR STANDARDS. 

909.07. - REPAIRS BY PROPERTY OWNER.  

PROPERTY OWNERS, OR THEIR CONTRACTOR, ARE RESPONSIBLE TO SUBMIT A 
COMPLETED PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY PERMIT FOR ALL REPAIR ACTIVITY, TO SCHEDULE 



REQUIRED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL CONSTRUCTION INSPECTIONS, AND TO COMPLETE ALL 
SIDEWALK REPAIRS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT CITY CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS.   

Property owners electing to complete the required repair of sidewalks identified in the notice from the 
City are responsible for following all current City right-of-way and construction policy, criteria, and 
specifications as follows:  

(a)  Time-Frame. A property owner must have the required repairs completed by the date 
established in the Resolution of Necessity.  

(b)  Permits. The property owner, or their contractor, is responsible for completing and submitting 
the required public way permits to work within the right-of-way. Permit and inspection fees are 
waived for property owners making repairs to existing sidewalk. under the City safe walks 
program or on their own.  

(c)  Inspections. The property owner, or their contractor, is responsible for scheduling the required 
construction inspections for the necessary sidewalk repair work, including the initial sidewalk 
forms inspection and final finished inspection.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

909.08. - FAILURE TO COMPLETE REPAIRS/RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY 

IN THE EVENT THAT A PROPERTY OWNER FAILS TO COMPLETE THE REQUIRED REPAIRS 
AS SPECIFIED IN THE INITIAL NOTIFICATION TO COMPLETE REPAIRS, THE CITY WILL 
CONSIDER PASSAGE OF A RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY REQUIRING THE WORK TO BE 
COMPLETED BY THE PROPERTY OWNER, AND  IF NECESSARY, CAUSING THE WORK TO BE 
COMPLETED SHOULD THE PROPERTY OWNER FAIL TO COMPLETE THE WORK.  PROPERTY 
OWNERS SHALL BE NOTIFIED BY CERTIFIED LETTER OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY INCLUDING ESTIMATED COST OF REPAIRS, TIMEFRAME TO 
COMPLETE THE WORK AND THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE REQUIREMENTS.  SHOULD THE CITY 
MAKE REPAIRS, THE ENTIRE COST OF THE REPAIRS SHALL BE INVOICED TO THE PROPERTY 
OWNER, AND UPON FAILURE TO MAKE PAYMENT, ASSESS THE COSTS AGAINST THE 
PROPERTY OVER A FIVE (5) YEAR PERIOD AND INCLUDE INTEREST AT THE RATE OF 7%.  

  

In the event that a property owner fails to complete the required repair of deficient sections of 
sidewalk which abut his or her property in accordance with the time-frame prescribed by the Resolution of 
Necessity passed by City Council, the City shall cause the work to be completed. The entire cost of the 
repairs shall be invoiced to the property owner and upon failure to make payment, assessed against the 
property based on the actual unit costs associated with the various improvements over five (5) years at 
the rate of 7%.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

909.09. - APPEAL PROCESS.  

The property owner may appeal the City's notice requiring the identified repairs to be made to 
sidewalk abutting their property by submitting a written request for further evaluation to the City.  

(a)  Re-evaluation by Engineer. Upon receipt of a written appeal, a meeting will be established 
between the property owner and City representatives at the identified property to review the 
findings of the initial inspection, explain the evaluation criteria with the property owner, and 
answer any questions regarding the required work.  

(b)  Review by Public Works Committee. If the property owner is not satisfied with the information 
presented during the meeting with the City representative, the property owner can request to be 
placed on the agenda of the next scheduled Public Works Committee meeting for additional 
consideration. The decision by the Public Works Committee shall be final.  



(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10)  

 

 

909.10. - SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE PROGRAM.  

City Council may elect to instruct the PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR Director of Engineering Services 
to initiate and administer an annual CITY WIDE sidewalk maintenance and repair program, and to permit 
all property owners with identified sidewalk deficiencies requiring such repair, to electively be included 
and subsequently invoiced for the costs associated with completing repairs on their respective properties.  

(Ord. 10-39. Passed 6-28-10) 

 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  11    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-20 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY FOR CONSTRUCTION OR REPAIR OF 
SIDEWALKS FOR THE 2020 DOWNTOWN SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE 
PROGRAM. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This resolution requires property owners to make repairs to sidewalks abutting 
their respective properties in accordance with City Codified Ordinance Section 
909 and Ohio Revised Code (ORC) Section 729.  It further authorizes the City to 
make repairs if property owners fail to make the repairs by the stated deadline 
and to invoice and/or assess the property owners for the cost of the repairs. 
Deficient sidewalk sections were identified.  See the Fiscal Impacts and Policy 
Changes sections below for additional background information. 
 
For the downtown streetscape areas, the City is responsible for all streetscape 
areas, including tree wells and brick paver areas.  The City is making additional 
repairs during early 2020 to tree wells and other streetscape deficiencies.   
 
  



REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
City Codified Ordinance Section 909 and ORC Section 729 requires that a 
Resolution of Necessity be adopted to require property owners to make repairs 
to abutting sidewalks, establish a date to complete the repairs, and authorize 
the City to make the repairs and to invoice and/or assess property owners for 
the cost of the repairs. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The Public Works Committee considered the Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance 
Program report by staff at the February 3rd meeting and voted to recommend 
the Resolution be presented to City Council for further consideration and action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Sufficient funding is required to cover the cost of completing repairs that are City 
responsibility, as well as the full cost associated with repairs that are private 
property owners’ responsibility.  Sidewalk deficiencies that are corrected by the 
private property owners will decrease the cost to the City.  However, it is prudent 
to assume that the City must cover the full cost of repairs that are private 
property owner responsibility, after which time the property owners will be 
invoiced and/or assessed for the city’s cost in completing repairs on their behalf.  
 
The approved 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) includes a $150,000 
allocation for this program.  The adopted 2021 City Budget includes a $355,000 
appropriation in the Capital Improvement Fund account 410-4109-5530, from 
which this program will be funded. 
 
The cost estimate for this program is as follows: 
 

Responsibility Area (s.f.) Cost Estimate 
Private Property Owners 7,841 $115,700 
City 2,622 $37,600 
Total 10,331 $153,300 

 
The cost estimate is an approximate cost.  Actual costs will be determined after 
the City advertises a construct contract, obtains bids, and awards a contract.  
When property owners are invoiced for the cost of repairs to sidewalks that are 
their responsibility, the invoice will be based on actual costs from the 
construction contract. 
 
  



SCHEDULE: 
The following schedule provides property owners a period of 138 days 
(approximately 4.5 months) from the time of notification to make the required 
repairs to sidewalk deficiencies.  The schedule also provides for an appeals 
process in accordance with city code.  After the deadline for property owners to 
make repairs passes, the City will commence making repairs to deficiencies that 
are City-responsibility as well as all deficiencies that property owners do not 
make by the deadline.  Property owners will be invoiced for the cost of City-
funded repairs that are their responsibility.  In the event that the property owner 
does not pay an invoice, they will be assessed in accordance with city code. 
 
When a property owner is notified that a sidewalk deficiency required repair, they 
will be provided background information including the project schedule and 
appeals process. 
 

Schedule Item Date 
Resolution of Necessity – recommendation by Public Works Cmte. 2/4/2020 
Resolution of Necessity – passage by City Council 2/24/2020 
Letter notifications sent to property owners 3/2/2020 
Deadline – property owner appeals to City Engineer 4/3/2020 
Deadline – property owner appeals to Public Works Cmte. 4/24/2020 
Property owner appeals appear before Public Works Cmte. 5/5/2020 
Deadline for repairs to be made by property owners 7/18/2020 

 
POLICY CHANGES: 
The former Safe Walks Program evaluated the condition of all sidewalks 
throughout the City and made repairs to deficiencies identified each year during 
the program which ran from 2006 through 2017.  To continue making repairs to 
sidewalk deficiencies that develop over time, an annual sidewalk maintenance 
program is commencing in 2020.  It is the expectation that this annual program 
will focus on identifying sidewalk deficiencies along city streets being resurfaced 
each year.  Repairs to sidewalks along these streets will be made the year after 
the street is resurfaced.  In addition, Public Works staff will maintain a record of 
other sidewalk deficiencies reported by the public or otherwise identified by City 
staff for inclusion in the annual sidewalk maintenance program. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Resolution of Necessity  
Sidewalk Deficiency List & Cost Estimate 
Specifications  



RESOLUTION NO. 20-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY FOR CONSTRUCTION 
OR REPAIR OF SIDEWALKS FOR THE 2020 
DOWNTOWN SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE PROGRAM. 

 
WHEREAS, sidewalk evaluations were performed as set forth in Codified 

Ordinance Section 909 on properties in the downtown streetscape areas; and 
 
WHEREAS, written records have been prepared identifying property 

locations where deficient sections of sidewalk requiring repair by abutting 
property owners exist; and  

 
WHEREAS, a list of the properties, estimated costs of repairs, and 

specifications work has been submitted to the City Clerk. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Delaware hereby requires the property 
owners of properties with identified sidewalk deficiencies to complete the 
necessary sidewalk repairs work by July 18, 2020 in accordance with the 
construction specifications on file at the Public Works Department and with 
the City Clerk. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the specifications and estimate of costs for the repair 

work on file with the City Clerk are approved.  
 
SECTION 3.   In the event property owners fail to complete the required 

repairs, the City of Delaware is authorized to make all necessary repairs, with 
the associated costs thereof to be invoiced and/or assessed to the property 
owners in accordance with Codified Ordinances Section 909. 

 
SECTION 4.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 

upon its passage. 
 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

1 
 

2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program  
Delaware, Ohio 

Bid Number 20-XX 
 

Specifications 
 
The price BID shall include the following: 
 

1. All labor, materials, tools, equipment, and transportation necessary for the proper execution of the 
WORK in accordance with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

 
2. All items shall be performed as described in these SPECIFICATIONS in entirety except as herein 

modified. Work locations are as indicated in the WORK SCHEDULE. 
 

3. The City of Columbus (COC) Construction and Material Specifications (CMS), including all 
supplements thereto, most recent edition, along with these specifications and the City of 
Delaware Standard Drawings RDWD-19.1, 19.2, 19.3, 19.4, and 19.5 shall govern all material 
and workmanship involved in the improvements shown unless otherwise noted. 

 
4. The CONTRACTOR shall have 48 hours from the beginning of the removal of any section of walk 

to have it replaced and open to pedestrian traffic.  Commercial driveway areas shall be restored 
and open to vehicle traffic in no more than 48 hours from start of construction.  The Contractor 
shall not begin to remove any sections of sidewalk that cannot be replaced within the specified 
time limit.  This will be strictly enforced and liquidated damages of $300 per day will be assed for 
any location that exceeds the repair time specified.   

 
5. The CONTRACTOR is responsible to ensure that all new sidewalk sections and the adjacent 

surrounding areas are left clear and free of all construction debris including excess concrete, form 
boards, excavation spoils, and any tree roots that have been removed.   

 
6. CONTRACTOR is responsible for protecting all open excavations from pedestrians by use of 

proper barricades and caution tape around any work area.   
 

7. CONTRACTOR is responsible to remove all tree roots that exist within eight inches (8”) below the 
final proposed top of walk, including those roots within the gravel sub base.  All roots to be 
trimmed shall be cut with a saw or other appropriate means to establish clean vertical cuts, and 
be trimmed back no less than six inches (6”) from the edge of any sidewalk section. This work 
shall be considered incidental to Item 608.  In the event it is determined by the CITY that the 
amount of required tree root trimming will be detrimental to the health of the tree, the CITY will 
incur the added responsibility for the tree removal, replacement, and associated stump grinding, 
aside and separate from the contractor’s root trimming responsibility. 

 
8. CONTRACTOR is responsible for protecting all new concrete from vandalism, footprints and the 

weather to assure an acceptable finish is maintained.  If the finish is not to the satisfaction of the 
CITY, the walk shall be replaced at the CONTRACTOR’S expense.  Removal and replacement 
specifications set forth in provision (4) shall also apply to concrete sidewalk that is to be replaced 
due to vandalism.   

 
9. It is contractor’s responsibility to provide a place for the washout of concrete trucks.  Washout 

may not occur into public storm drains, pavement or tree lawns areas. 
  

10. CONTRACTOR shall restore all disturbed areas to original condition within 7 days from pouring 
the adjacent sidewalk section(s), unless otherwise noted on the plans.  Placement of topsoil, 
seeding and mulching shall be in accordance with Item 659.  The cost for this item shall be 
incidental to Item 608. 

 
11. The CONTRACTOR is responsible to notify all property owners in writing a minimum of seven (7) 

days prior to the start of work on sidewalk immediately adjacent to their property.  The CITY shall 



 

2 
 

be provided a copy of all written correspondence to the property owners seven (7) days in 
advance of distribution for review and approval. 
 

12. Upon notification from the CONTRACTOR, property owners shall have two working days to 
remove any personal property that is in the way of the section of walk to be repaired.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall include this information in the notification to the property owners. 

 
13. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for posting "No Parking" signs on all streets 72 business 

hours prior to any operation requiring a ban on parking. The CONTRACTOR shall obtain approval 
from the City before placing any “No Parking” within the Downtown area.  Signs shall identify no 
more than three consecutive days of work and be provided by CONTRACTOR to the satisfaction 
of the CITY. Signs must be weather resistant meeting City standard, and shall be posted every 
twenty feet (20'). Signs shall be affixed by heavy-duty staples to 2" wood lathe, four foot (4') long, 
and not to utility poles, parking meter posts, trees, existing signposts, etc. The cost for this item 
shall be incidental to Item 608. 

 
14. CONTRACTOR shall maintain all lanes of traffic with appropriate maintenance of traffic 

operations.  Lane restrictions shall only be permitted with the written approval from the CITY.  
Streets and drives shall remain fully accessible to emergency vehicles at all times.   Streets, 
drives, and parking stalls shall be open to vehicular traffic between the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 
9:00 a.m., Monday through Friday and all day Sunday and Sunday.  The Contractor is 
responsible to keep all commercial driveways open at all times unless otherwise specified on the 
plans.  All such work shall be coordinated with the business owner to minimize disruption (i.e. 
evening or weekend work may be required). 
 

15. Expansion Material:  All expansion material shall be 1/2” REFLEX rubber expansion joint material 
or equivalent, conforming to the attached specifications.  FOAMTECH concrete expansion joint 
filler or equivalent shall be used around radii.  The installation of all expansion joint material shall 
be considered incidental to this item.   

 
16. 608, 4”, 6”or 8” Concrete Walk, as per plan: All concrete shall have a minimum 28-day 

compressive strength of 4000 psi.  All sidewalks shall have a broom finish that matches the 
existing 90 degree alternating broom finish.  Any slabs being replaced adjacent to existing 
expansion joints shall include the replacement of the expansion joint material per City Standard 
Drawing RDWD 19.1.  Where new concrete walk ties to existing concrete walk or concrete 
driveway, the existing concrete shall be removed to the nearest joint and replaced with new 
concrete as directed by the Engineer. Excavation and material to provide a minimum of 4” of #57 
limestone bedding will be considered incidental to this item.  Curing compound shall be per 
705.07, Type 2 (white opaque) and considered incidental to this item.  Use of fly ash is restricted 
between April 1 and November 1, in additional to restriction between November 1 and April 1 per 
COC CMS 499.02.  
 

17. 608, 4”, 6”or 8” Reinforced Concrete Walk, as per plan:  Where specified in bid documents, new 
sections of concrete walk shall be constructed with reinforcing dowels placed at each transverse 
joint, a minimum of 6” into adjacent sections, using four (4), 1’-0 long #4 rebar dowels, including 
into existing sections of walk where dowels shall be drilled into existing concrete.  The installation 
of the reinforcing dowels shall be considered incidental to this item. 
 

18. 608, 4” Concrete Walk (Class MS or FS), As Per Plan:  In addition to the provisions set for in The 
ODOT  Supplemental Specification 1126 the CONTRACTOR shall place 4” of Class MS 
(moderate set) Portland Cement Concrete as specified in the plans. All sidewalks shall have a 
broom finish that matches the existing 90 degree alternating broom finish.  Any slabs being 
replaced adjacent to existing expansion joints shall include the replacement of the expansion joint 
material per City Standard Drawing RDWD 19.1.  Where new concrete walk ties to existing 
concrete walk or concrete driveway, the existing concrete shall be removed to the nearest joint 
and replaced with new concrete as directed by the Engineer. Excavation and material to provide 
a minimum of 4” of #57 limestone bedding will be considered incidental to this item.  Curing 
compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 (white opaque) and considered incidental to this item.  
Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 and November 1, in additional to restriction between 



 

3 
 

November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 499.02.  
 
 

19. 608, 6” Concrete Walk (Class MS or FS), As Per Plan:  In addition to the provisions set for in The 
ODOT Supplemental Specification 1126 the CONTRACTOR shall place 6” of Class MS 
(moderate set) Portland Cement Concrete across all residential driveways.  CONTRACTOR shall 
establish full-depth saw cuts to all sidewalk edges prior to removal.  Where a clean vertical edge 
was not maintained after concrete removal, the CONTRACTOR shall saw cut the driveway 
surface 6” further back from the repair area and replace with similar driveway material at the 
direction of the ENGINEER.  Driveways may be closed a maximum of 48-hours for removal and 
replacement of walk.  Contractor shall give 72-hours advanced notice to the residence owner 
prior to the closure.  Repair of driveway area incidental to Item 608.  The finish of all 6” concrete 
walks shall have a broom finish that matches the existing 90 degree alternating broom finish.  
Curing compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 (white opaque) and considered incidental to this 
item.  Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 and November 1, in additional to restriction 
between November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 499.02.  
 

 
20. 608, 8” Concrete Walk (Class MS or FS), As Per Plan:  In addition to the provisions set for in The 

ODOT Supplemental Specification 1126 the CONTRACTOR shall place 8” of Class MS 
(moderate set) Portland Cement Concrete across all commercial driveways and at all proposed 
curb ramps labeled in the plans.  CONTRACTOR shall establish full-depth saw cuts to all 
sidewalk edges prior to removal.  Where a clean vertical edge was not maintained after concrete 
removal, the CONTRACTOR shall saw cut the driveway surface 6” further back from the repair 
area and replace with similar material at the direction of the ENGINEER.  Driveways may be 
closed a maximum of 48-hours for removal and replacement of walk.  Contractor shall give 72-
hours advanced notice to the property owner prior to the closure.  Repair of driveway area 
incidental to Item 608. The finish of all 8” concrete walks shall have a broom finish that matches 
the existing 90 degree alternating broom finish.  Curing compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 
(white opaque) and considered incidental to this item.  Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 
and November 1, in additional to restriction between November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 
499.02.  
 



2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/31/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 2/4/2020

Full Sidewalk 

Replacement

Residential 

Driveway

Replacement

8" Driveway 

Replacement
Total  Area 

4" Sidewalk 

Replacement

8" Sidewalk 

Replacement
Total Area

(s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.)

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

4 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       
8 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       

10 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       
14 / 16 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       

18 / 20 N. Sandusky St. 1 6 150 150 2,025.00$            0 -$                       
26 N. Sandusky St. 1 4 100 100 1,350.00$            0 -$                       
28 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       

40 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 98 98 1,323.00$            0 -$                       
46 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       
60 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 50 50 837.50$                0 -$                       

61 N. Sandusky St. 0 -$                       1 125 125 2,093.75$            
101 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 80 80 1,080.00$            0 -$                       

33 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 170 170 2,295.00$            0 -$                       

3 W. Winter St. 1 5 140 140 1,890.00$            0 -$                       

9 W. Winter St. 1 3 60 60 810.00$                0 -$                       
17 W. Winter St. 1 2 40 40 540.00$                0 -$                       
19 W. Winter St. 1 10 200 200 2,700.00$            0 -$                       

23 W. Winter St. 1 55 55 742.50$                0 -$                       

4 W. Winter St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       

41 N. Sandusky St. 1 6 120 120 1,620.00$            0 -$                       

43 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       

51 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       

53 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       

59 N. Sandusky St. 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$            0 -$                       
1 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 75 75 1,012.50$            0 -$                       
5 N. Sandusky St. 1 6 150 150 2,025.00$            0 -$                       

11 N. Sandusky St. 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$            0 -$                       
13 N. Sandusky St. 1 3 125 125 1,687.50$            0 -$                       
15 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 55 55 742.50$                0 -$                       

23 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       
27 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 100 100 1,350.00$            0 -$                       
29 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 60 60 810.00$                0 -$                       

31 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 60 60 810.00$                0 -$                       
33 N. Sandusky St. 6 6 0 0 -$                       0 -$                       

13 W. William St. 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$            0 -$                       

Property Information

DRAFT

City Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Private Property Owner Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

 Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost

No. of City 

Locations

No. of City  

Sections
STREET NO. STREET NAME

  Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost 

No. of 

Properties

No. of 

Private 

Sections

2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 1 of 3



2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/31/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 2/4/2020

Full Sidewalk 

Replacement

Residential 

Driveway

Replacement

8" Driveway 

Replacement
Total  Area 

4" Sidewalk 

Replacement

8" Sidewalk 

Replacement
Total Area

(s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.)

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

Property Information

DRAFT

City Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Private Property Owner Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

 Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost

No. of City 

Locations

No. of City  

Sections
STREET NO. STREET NAME

  Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost 

No. of 

Properties

No. of 

Private 

Sections

17 W. William St. 0 -$                       1 4 90 90 1,507.50$            
27 W. William St. 1 1 50 50 675.00$                0 -$                       
1 S. Sandusky St. 1 5 114 114 1,539.00$            0 -$                       

21 S. Sandusky St. 1 20 50 450 500 8,212.50$            0 -$                       
35 S. Sandusky St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       
28 W. William St. 1 5 216 216 2,916.00$            1 1 42 42 567.00$                

Between 18-24 W. William St. 0 -$                       1 6 130 130 2,177.50$            
12 or 14 W. Winter St. 1 6 150 150 2,025.00$            1 5 125 125 2,093.75$            

32 W. Winter St. 1 5 125 125 1,687.50$            0 -$                       

20 W Central Ave. 1 1 20 20 270.00$                1 9 270 270 3,645.00$            
51 W Central Ave. 1 3 90 90 1,215.00$            1 2 72 72 972.00$                

Sandusky St. Bridge 0 -$                       1 4 125 125 1,687.50$            

50 S. Sandusky St. 1 3 75 75 1,256.25$            0 -$                       

40 S. Sandusky St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       

38 S. Sandusky St. 1 4 225 225 3,037.50$            0 -$                       
6 S. Sandusky St. 1 8 200 200 2,700.00$            0 -$                       

70 N. Union St. 0 -$                       1 7 90 110 200 3,057.50$            
123 E. Winter St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       
135 E. Winter St 1 2 70 70 945.00$                0 -$                       

143 E. Winter St. 0 -$                       1 4 120 120 1,620.00$            

145 E. Winter St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                0 -$                       
173 E. Winter St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       

153 E. Winter St. 1 3 80 80 1,080.00$            0 -$                       
165 E. Winter St. 0 -$                       1 1 36 36 486.00$                

45 Lake St. 1 2 50 50 837.50$                1 1 30 30 405.00$                

174 E. Winter St. 1 2 0 -$                       1 2 60 60 810.00$                
168 E. Winter St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                1 1 30 30 405.00$                
164 E. Winter St. 0 -$                       1 1 30 30 405.00$                
158 E. Winter St. 0 -$                       1 2 60 60 810.00$                
137 E. William St. 1 2 60 60 1,005.00$            1 2 60 60 810.00$                
127 E. William St. 1 2 60 60 1,005.00$            1 2 60 60 810.00$                

125 N. Sandusky St. 0 -$                       1 1 30 30 405.00$                

149 N. Sandusky St. 1 3 102 102 1,377.00$            0 -$                       
163 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 72 72 972.00$                1 1 36 36 486.00$                
140 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 36 36 486.00$                0 -$                       

2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 2 of 3



2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/31/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 2/4/2020

Full Sidewalk 

Replacement

Residential 

Driveway

Replacement

8" Driveway 

Replacement
Total  Area 

4" Sidewalk 

Replacement

8" Sidewalk 

Replacement
Total Area

(s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.) (s.f.)

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

Property Information

DRAFT

City Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Private Property Owner Responsibility - Estimated Quantities and Costs

 Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost

No. of City 

Locations

No. of City  

Sections
STREET NO. STREET NAME

  Cost

= Quantity 

x Unit Cost 

No. of 

Properties

No. of 

Private 

Sections

66 N. Sandusky St. 1 5 25 80 105 1,677.50$            0 -$                       
50 N. Sandusky St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       
29 E. Winter St. 1 4 100 75 175 2,606.25$            0 -$                       

53 E. Winter St. 1 5 35 120 155 2,482.50$            0 -$                       
84 E. Winter St. 1 7 50 120 170 2,685.00$            1 1 0 -$                       
46 E. Winter St. 1 2 60 60 810.00$                0 -$                       

42 E. Winter St. 1 2 100 120 220 3,360.00$            0 -$                       
28 E. Winter St. 1 1 30 30 405.00$                0 -$                       

140 N. Sandusky St. 1 2 65 65 877.50$                1 10 250 250 3,375.00$            

City lot beside BP E. William St. 0 -$                       1 18 60 405 465 7,593.75$            
17 E. William St. 1 4 100 100 1,675.00$            0 -$                       
18 E. William St. 0 -$                       1 3 65 65 877.50$                

20 E. William St. 0 -$                       1 5 25 80 105 1,677.50$            

28 E. William St. 1 15 365 365 4,927.50$            0 -$                       

28 parking lot E. William St. 1 2 60 60 810.00$                1 1 30 30 405.00$                
39 E. William St. 1 7 125 125 1,687.50$            -$                       

82 E. William St. 1 1 45 45 607.50$                0 -$                       

79 236 5,353 0 1,360 6,713 95,045.50$           26 94 1,581 1,065 2,646 39,182.25$           

Notes:

1 Total project cost estimate is rounded UP to nearest hundred.

Total1

99,800$                                           

41,200$                                           

141,000.00$                                  

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Summary

1,959$                                              

6,711.39$                                       Totals 134,227.75$                            

Private Property Owner Responsibility

City Responsibility

Estimated 

Cost

95,045.50$                               

39,182.25$                               

Totals

5% Contingency

4,752$                                              

2020 Downtown Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 3 of 3



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 12    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-21 
 
READING: SECOND    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY FOR CONSTRUCTION OR REPAIR OF 
SIDEWALKS FOR THE 2020 SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This resolution requires property owners to make repairs to sidewalks abutting 
their respective properties in accordance with City Codified Ordinance Section 
909 and Ohio Revised Code (ORC) Section 729.  It further authorizes the City to 
make repairs if property owners fail to make the repairs by the stated deadline 
and to invoice and/or assess the property owners for the cost of the repairs. 
Deficient sidewalk sections were identified.  See the Fiscal Impacts and Policy 
Changes sections below for additional background information. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
City Codified Ordinance Section 909 and ORC Section 729 requires that a 
Resolution of Necessity be adopted to require property owners to make repairs 
to abutting sidewalks, establish a date to complete the repairs, and authorize 
the City to make the repairs and to invoice and/or assess property owners for 
the cost of the repairs. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
The Public Works Committee considered the Sidewalk Maintenance Program 
report by staff at the February 3rd meeting and voted to recommend the 
Resolution be presented to City Council for further consideration and action. 



 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
Sufficient funding is required to cover the cost of completing repairs that are City 
responsibility, as well as the full cost associated with repairs that are private 
property owners’ responsibility.  Sidewalk deficiencies that are corrected by the 
private property owners will decrease the cost to the City.  However, it is prudent 
to assume that the City must cover the full cost of repairs that are private 
property owner responsibility, after which time the property owners will be 
invoiced and/or assessed for the city’s cost in completing repairs on their behalf.  
 
The approved 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) includes a $150,000 
allocation for this program.  The adopted 2021 City Budget includes a $355,000 
appropriation in the Capital Improvement Fund account 410-4109-5530, from 
which this program will be funded. 
 
The cost estimate for this program is as follows: 
 

Responsibility Area (s.f.) Cost Estimate 
Private Property Owners 3,655 $53,100 
City 6,676 $82,500 
Total 10,331 $135,600 

 
The cost estimate is an approximate cost.  Actual costs will be determined after 
the City advertises a construct contract, obtains bids, and awards a contract.  
When property owners are invoiced for the cost of repairs to sidewalks that are 
their responsibility, the invoice will be based on actual costs from the 
construction contract. 
 
SCHEDULE: 
The following schedule provides property owners a period of 138 days 
(approximately 4.5 months) from the time of notification to make the required 
repairs to sidewalk deficiencies.  The schedule also provides for an appeals 
process in accordance with city code.  After the deadline for property owners to 
make repairs passes, the City will commence making repairs to deficiencies that 
are City-responsibility as well as all deficiencies that property owners do not 
make by the deadline.  Property owners will be invoiced for the cost of City-
funded repairs that are their responsibility.  In the event that the property owner 
does not pay an invoice, they will be assessed in accordance with city code. 
 
When a property owner is notified that a sidewalk deficiency required repair, they 
will be provided background information including the project schedule and 
appeals process. 
 
 
 



Schedule Item Date 
Resolution of Necessity – recommendation by Public Works Cmte. 2/4/2020 
Resolution of Necessity – passage by City Council 2/24/2020 
Letter notifications sent to property owners 3/2/2020 
Deadline – property owner appeals to City Engineer 4/3/2020 
Deadline – property owner appeals to Public Works Cmte. 4/24/2020 
Property owner appeals appear before Public Works Cmte. 5/5/2020 
Deadline for repairs to be made by property owners 7/18/2020 

 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
The former Safe Walks Program evaluated the condition of all sidewalks 
throughout the City and made repairs to deficiencies identified each year during 
the program which ran from 2006 through 2017.  To continue making repairs to 
sidewalk deficiencies that develop over time, an annual sidewalk maintenance 
program is commencing in 2020.  It is the expectation that this annual program 
will focus on identifying sidewalk deficiencies along city streets being resurfaced 
each year.  Repairs to sidewalks along these streets will be made the year after 
the street is resurfaced.  In addition, Public Works staff will maintain a record of 
other sidewalk deficiencies reported by the public or otherwise identified by City 
staff for inclusion in the annual sidewalk maintenance program. 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Resolution of Necessity  
Sidewalk Deficiency List & Cost Estimate 
Specifications  



RESOLUTION NO. 20-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF NECESSITY FOR CONSTRUCTION 
OR REPAIR OF SIDEWALKS FOR THE 2020 
SIDEWALK MAINTENANCE PROGRAM. 

 
WHEREAS, sidewalk evaluations were performed as set forth in Codified 

Ordinance Section 909 on properties adjacent to streets resurfaced in 2019 
and at citywide locations with deficiencies reported by the public; and 

 
WHEREAS, written records have been prepared identifying property 

locations where deficient sections of sidewalk requiring repair by abutting 
property owners exist; and  

 
WHEREAS, a list of the properties, estimated costs of repairs, and 

specifications work has been submitted to the City Clerk. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the City of Delaware hereby requires the property 
owners of properties with identified sidewalk deficiencies to complete the 
necessary sidewalk repairs work by July 18, 2020 in accordance with the 
construction specifications on file at the Public Works Department and with 
the City Clerk. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the specifications and estimate of costs for the repair 

work on file with the City Clerk are approved.  
 
SECTION 3.   In the event property owners fail to complete the required 

repairs, the City of Delaware is authorized to make all necessary repairs, with 
the associated costs thereof to be invoiced and/or assessed to the property 
owners in accordance with Codified Ordinances Section 909. 

 
SECTION 4.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 

upon its passage. 
 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

1 
 

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program  
Delaware, Ohio 

Bid Number 20-XX 
 

Specifications 
 
The price BID shall include the following: 
 

1. All labor, materials, tools, equipment, and transportation necessary for the proper execution of the 
WORK in accordance with the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 

 
2. All items shall be performed as described in these SPECIFICATIONS in entirety except as herein 

modified. Work locations are as indicated in the WORK SCHEDULE. 
 

3. The City of Columbus (COC) Construction and Material Specifications (CMS), including all 
supplements thereto, most recent edition, along with these specifications and the City of 
Delaware Standard Drawings RDWD-19.1, 19.2, 19.3, 19.4, and 19.5 shall govern all material 
and workmanship involved in the improvements shown unless otherwise noted. 

 
4. The CONTRACTOR shall have 14-days from removal of any section of walk to have it replaced 

and open to pedestrian traffic.  Residential and commercial driveway areas shall be restored and 
open to vehicle traffic in no more than 48 hours from start of construction. 

 
5. The CONTRACTOR is responsible to ensure that all new sidewalk sections and the adjacent 

surrounding areas are left clear and free of all construction debris including excess concrete, form 
boards, excavation spoils, and any tree roots that have been removed.   

 
6. CONTRACTOR is responsible for protecting all open excavations from pedestrians by use of 

proper barricades and caution tape around any work area. 
 

7. CONTRACTOR is responsible to remove all tree roots that exist within eight inches (8”) below the 
final proposed top of walk, including those roots within the gravel sub base.  All roots to be 
trimmed shall be cut with a saw or other appropriate means to establish clean vertical cuts, and 
be trimmed back no less than six inches (6”) from the edge of any sidewalk section. This work 
shall be considered incidental to Item 608.  In the event it is determined by the CITY that the 
amount of required tree root trimming will be detrimental to the health of the tree, the CITY will 
incur the added responsibility for the tree removal, replacement, and associated stump grinding, 
aside and separate from the contractor’s root trimming responsibility. 

 
8. CONTRACTOR is responsible for protecting all new concrete from vandalism, footprints and the 

weather to assure an acceptable finish is maintained.  If the finish is not to the satisfaction of the 
CITY, the walk shall be replaced at the CONTRACTOR’S expense. 

 
9. It is contractor’s responsibility to provide a place for the washout of concrete trucks.  Washout 

may not occur into public storm drains, pavement or tree lawns areas. 
  

10. CONTRACTOR shall restore all disturbed areas to original condition within 7 days from pouring 
the adjacent sidewalk section(s), unless otherwise noted on the plans.  Placement of topsoil, 
seeding and mulching shall be in accordance with Item 659.  The cost for this item shall be 
incidental to Item 608. 

 
11. The CONTRACTOR is responsible to notify all property owners in writing a minimum of seven (7) 

days prior to the start of work on sidewalk immediately adjacent to their property.  The CITY shall 
be provided a copy of all written correspondence to the property owners seven (7) days in 
advance of distribution for review and approval. 

 
 
 



 

2 
 

12. Upon notification from the CONTRACTOR, property owners shall have two working days to 
remove any personal property that is in the way of the section of walk to be repaired.  The 
CONTRACTOR shall include this information in the notification to the property owners. 

 
13. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for posting "No Parking" signs on all streets 72 business 

hours prior to any operation requiring a ban on parking. Signs shall identify no more than three 
consecutive days of work and be provided by CONTRACTOR to the satisfaction of the CITY. 
Signs must be weather resistant meeting City standard, and shall be posted every fifty feet (50') 
on alternating sides of the street. Signs shall be affixed by heavy-duty staples to 2" wood lathe, 
four foot (4') long, and not to utility poles, parking meter posts, trees, existing signposts, etc.  The 
cost for this item shall be incidental to Item 608. 

 
14. CONTRACTOR shall maintain two-way traffic with appropriate maintenance of traffic operations 

in accordance with Exhibit TA-10 “Lane Closure on a Two-Lane Road Using Flaggers” at all 
times.   Streets shall remain fully accessible to emergency vehicles, and streets shall be open to 
vehicular traffic between the hours of 5:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m., Monday through Saturday and all 
day Sunday.  The Contractor is responsible to keep all commercial driveways open at all times 
unless otherwise specified on the plans.  All such work shall be coordinated with the business 
owner to minimize disruption (i.e. evening or weekend work may be required). 
 

15. Expansion Material:  All expansion material shall be 1/2” REFLEX rubber expansion joint material 
or equivalent, conforming to the attached specifications.  FOAMTECH concrete expansion joint 
filler or equivalent shall be used around radii.  The installation of all expansion joint material shall 
be considered incidental to this item.    

 
16. 608, 4”, 6”or 8” Concrete Walk, as per plan: All concrete shall have a minimum 28-day 

compressive strength of 4000 psi.  All sidewalks shall have a broom finish perpendicular to the 
direction travel.  Any slabs being replaced adjacent to existing expansion joints shall include the 
replacement of the expansion joint material per City Standard Drawing RDWD 19.1.  Where new 
concrete walk ties to existing concrete walk or concrete driveway, the existing concrete shall be 
removed to the nearest joint and replaced with new concrete as directed by the Engineer. 
Excavation and material to provide a minimum of 4” of #57 limestone bedding will be considered 
incidental to this item.  Curing compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 (white opaque) and 
considered incidental to this item.  Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 and November 1, in 
additional to restriction between November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 499.02.  
 

17. 608, 4”, 6”or 8” Reinforced Concrete Walk, as per plan:  Where specified in bid documents, new 
sections of concrete walk shall be constructed with reinforcing dowels placed at each transverse 
joint, a minimum of 6” into adjacent sections, using four (4), 1’-0 long #4 rebar dowels, including 
into existing sections of walk where dowels shall be drilled into existing concrete.  The installation 
of the reinforcing dowels shall be considered incidental to this item. 
 

18. 608, 6” Concrete Walk (Class MS or FS), As Per Plan:  In addition to the provisions set for in The 
City of Columbus Supplemental Specification 1126 the CONTRACTOR shall place 6” of Class 
MS (moderate set) Portland Cement Concrete across all residential driveways.  CONTRACTOR 
shall establish full-depth saw cuts to all sidewalk edges prior to removal.  Where a clean vertical 
edge was not maintained after concrete removal, the CONTRACTOR shall saw cut the driveway 
surface 6” further back from the repair area and replace with similar driveway material at the 
direction of the ENGINEER.  Driveways may be closed a maximum of 48-hours for removal and 
replacement of walk.  Contractor shall give 72-hours advanced notice to the residence owner 
prior to the closure.  Repair of driveway area incidental to Item 608.  All sidewalks shall have a 
broom finish perpendicular to the direction travel..  Curing compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 
(white opaque) and considered incidental to this item.  Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 
and November 1, in additional to restriction between November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 
499.02.  

 
19. 608, 8” Concrete Walk (Class MS or FS), As Per Plan:  In addition to the provisions set for in The 

City of Columbus Supplemental Specification 1126 the CONTRACTOR shall place 8” of Class 
MS (moderate set) Portland Cement Concrete across all commercial driveways and at all 



 

3 
 

proposed curb ramps labeled in the plans.  CONTRACTOR shall establish full-depth saw cuts to 
all sidewalk edges prior to removal.  Where a clean vertical edge was not maintained after 
concrete removal, the CONTRACTOR shall saw cut the driveway surface 6” further back from the 
repair area and replace with similar material at the direction of the ENGINEER.  Driveways may 
be closed a maximum of 48-hours for removal and replacement of walk.  Contractor shall give 72-
hours advanced notice to the property owner prior to the closure.  Repair of driveway area 
incidental to Item 608.  All sidewalks shall have a broom finish perpendicular to the direction 
travel..  Curing compound shall be per 705.07, Type 2 (white opaque) and considered incidental 
to this item.  Use of fly ash is restricted between April 1 and November 1, in additional to 
restriction between November 1 and April 1 per COC CMS 499.02.  
 



2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/18/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 1/28/2020

STREET NO. STREET NAME
Number of 

Properties

Number of 

Private 

Squares

Estimated 

Walk Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

 Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost 

City Street 

Tree 

Properties

Number of 

City Tree 

Squares

Estimated 4" 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Area (s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

310 Cottswold Dr 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

317 Cottswold Dr 0 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

322 Cottswold Dr 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

325 Cottswold Dr 1 2 90 90 1,305.00$                 0 -$                           
Willowbrook Cottswold Dr 1 7 175 175 2,362.50$                 0 -$                           

56 E Lincoln Ave 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           

71 E Lincoln Ave 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 0 -$                           
500 (Mingo) E Lincoln Ave 0 -$                           1 7 175 175 2,362.50$                 

500 (Mingo) E Lincoln Ave 0 -$                           1 6 150 150 2,025.00$                 
Pool Overflow Parking E Lincoln Ave 0 -$                           1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 
Pool Overflow Parking 

Entrance E Lincoln Ave
0

-$                           
1 6

150 150 2,512.50$                 

15 E. Heffner 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           
21 E. Heffner 0 -$                           1 2 40 40 540.00$                    

25 E. Heffner 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

35 E. Heffner 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

40 E. Heffner 0 0 -$                           1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 

49 E. Heffner 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

632 Fern Dr 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

212 Freedom Ln. 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

214 Freedom Ln. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

222 Freedom Ln. 0 -$                           1 4 100 100 1,350.00$                 

648 Holly Dr 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

649 Holly Dr 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           

658 Holly Rd 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           
659 Holly Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

664 Holly Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
665 Holly Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

670 Holly Rd 1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 0 -$                           

671 Holly Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

680 Holly Rd 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 0 -$                           

681 Holly Rd 1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 0 -$                           

43 N. Union St. 1 2 50 50 837.50$                    0 -$                           

104 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 4 168 168 2,268.00$                 

145 N. Union St. 1 2 60 60 1,005.00$                 0 -$                           
161 N. Union St. 1 3 75 75 1,087.50$                 0 -$                           

163 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

167 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

176 N. Union St. 1 2 70 70 945.00$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

DRAFT

Private Property Owner ResponsibilityProperty Information City Responsibility

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Sidewalk Deficiencies on 2019 Resurfacing Streets

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 1 of 5



2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/18/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 1/28/2020

STREET NO. STREET NAME
Number of 

Properties

Number of 

Private 

Squares

Estimated 

Walk Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

 Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost 

City Street 

Tree 

Properties

Number of 

City Tree 

Squares

Estimated 4" 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Area (s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

DRAFT

Private Property Owner ResponsibilityProperty Information City Responsibility

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Sidewalk Deficiencies on 2019 Resurfacing Streets177 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

184 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

187 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
195 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

201 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 362.50$                    1 4 110 110 1,485.00$                 

203 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

204 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

210 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

214 N. Union St. 1 1 52.5 52.5 708.75$                    0 -$                           
216 N. Union St. 1 2 55 55 797.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

223 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 6 150 150 2,025.00$                 
224 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 418.75$                    

229 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

244 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

249 N. Union St. 1 3 25 90 115 1,642.50$                 0 -$                           

254 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
261 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

262 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

266 N. Union St. 1 1 15 15 202.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
278 N. Union St. 1 1 20 20 270.00$                    0 -$                           

279 N. Union St. 1 3 25 100 125 1,787.50$                 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    
285 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

293 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 28 28 378.00$                    
303 N. Union St. 1 1 20 20 270.00$                    0 -$                           

310 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

313 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

314 N. Union St. 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

317 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

320 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

330 N. Union St. 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 0 -$                           

343 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

347 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 6 160 160 2,160.00$                 

352 N. Union St. 1 1 50 50 725.00$                    0 -$                           
353 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 4 95 95 1,282.50$                 

356 N. Union St. 1 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

370 N. Union St. 1 7 142.5 67.5 210 2,902.50$                 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

373 N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 4 105 105 1,417.50$                 

380 N. Union St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           

390 N. Union St. 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 2 of 5



2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/18/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 1/28/2020

STREET NO. STREET NAME
Number of 

Properties

Number of 

Private 

Squares

Estimated 

Walk Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

 Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost 

City Street 

Tree 

Properties

Number of 

City Tree 

Squares

Estimated 4" 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Area (s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

DRAFT

Private Property Owner ResponsibilityProperty Information City Responsibility

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Sidewalk Deficiencies on 2019 Resurfacing Streets?? N. Union St. 0 -$                           1 2 55 55 742.50$                    

95-105 N. Union St. 1 2 62.5 62.5 843.75$                    0 -$                           

820 Ravines Ridge 1 3 150 150 2,175.00$                 0 -$                           

Retention Basin 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

11 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 

12 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

21 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

24 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

32 Somerset Rd 1 2 0 -$                           0 -$                           
35 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

38 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
43 Somerset Rd 1 2 100 100 1,450.00$                 0 -$                           

48 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

51 Somerset Rd 1 1 50 50 725.00$                    0 -$                           

61 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

68 Somerset Rd 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           
73 Somerset Rd 1 2 50 50 675.00$                    0 -$                           

76 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

87 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           
94 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

108 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           
114 Somerset Rd 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 0 -$                           

118 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           
122 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

126 Somerset Rd 1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 0 -$                           

137 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

138 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

142 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

154 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

166 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

170 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

179 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

180 Somerset Rd 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
185 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

192 Somerset Rd 1 4 100 100 1,350.00$                 0 -$                           

200 Somerset Rd 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

0 -$                           0 -$                           

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 3 of 5



2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/18/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 1/28/2020

STREET NO. STREET NAME
Number of 

Properties

Number of 

Private 

Squares

Estimated 

Walk Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

 Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost 

City Street 

Tree 

Properties

Number of 

City Tree 

Squares

Estimated 4" 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Area (s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

DRAFT

Private Property Owner ResponsibilityProperty Information City Responsibility

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Sidewalk Deficiencies on 2019 Resurfacing Streets

511 Apple Valley Cir 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

806 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    
810 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

811 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

818 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

834 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

868 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

874 Buehler Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    
342 Cherry Leaf 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

165 Crystal Petal Dr 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    
171 Crystal Petal Dr 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

208 Crystal Petal Dr 0 -$                           1 4 110 110 1,485.00$                 

244 Crystal Petal Dr 0 -$                           1 4 100 100 1,350.00$                 

846 Executive Blvd 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

820 Executive Blvd 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    
890 Executive Blvd 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

23 E. Fountain Ave 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

28 E William St 1 2 60 60 810.00$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
25 Forest Ave 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

278 Lofton Cir 0 -$                           1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 
284 Lofton Cir 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

Pennsylvania & N. Liberty St. 0 -$                           1 7 175 175 2,362.50$                 
137 Pennsylvania Ave 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

145 Pennsylvania Ave 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

227-233 Rutherford Ave 0 -$                           1 5 125 125 1,687.50$                 

236 Rutherford Ave 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

339-345 Orchard Ave 0 -$                           1 6 150 150 2,025.00$                 

266 Sonoma Dr 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

151 W Lincoln Ave 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

181 N. Liberty St (emerg.) 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

101 Ruby Red Ln 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

135 Stockard Loop 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    
106 Sunny Shell Ct 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

201 Tudor Dr 0 -$                           1 ? 240 240 3,240.00$                 

206 Vista Ridge 0 -$                           1 2 50 50 675.00$                    

947 Wallace Dr 0 -$                           1 3 75 75 1,012.50$                 

964 Wallace Dr (at ramp) 0 -$                           1 2 40 40 540.00$                    

983 Wallace Dr 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

Miscellaneous Citywide Sidewalk Deficiencies

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 4 of 5



2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program

Sidewalk Defeciencies List & Cost Estimate Prepared By: M. Stephen Date: 1/18/2020

Checked By: J. Owen Date: 1/28/2020

STREET NO. STREET NAME
Number of 

Properties

Number of 

Private 

Squares

Estimated 

Walk Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Drive Area 

(s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

 Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost 

City Street 

Tree 

Properties

Number of 

City Tree 

Squares

Estimated 4" 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated 8" 

Area (s.f.)

Total 

Estimated 

Area (s.f.)

Estimated Cost

= Area x Unit Cost

$13.50 $14.50 $16.75 $13.50 $16.75 

DRAFT

Private Property Owner ResponsibilityProperty Information City Responsibility

Estimated Unit Cost per s.f.:

Sidewalk Deficiencies on 2019 Resurfacing Streets989 Wallace Dr 0 -$                           1 1 25 25 337.50$                    

79 Winding Valley Cir 1 1 25 25 337.50$                    0 -$                           

0 -$                           0 -$                           

76 132 2,693 853 110 3,655 50,552.50$                92 218 5,601 175 5,776 78,544.75$                

Contingency Total
1

2,527.63$      53,100$          

3,927.24$      82,500$          

6,454.86$      135,600$       

Notes:
1
 Total project cost estimate rounded to nearest hundred.

2 
Belle Avenue to be resurfaced in 2020 and included in 2021 Sidewalk Maintenance Program.  Make repairs in 2020 or defer to 2021.

Totals 129,097.25$                      

Private Property Owner Responsibility

City Responsibility

Estimated Cost

50,552.50$                         

78,544.75$                         

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program  Summary

Totals

2020 Sidewalk Maintenance Program Page 5 of 5



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-25 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION INDICATING WHAT SERVICES THE CITY OF DELAWARE WILL 
PROVIDE TO 1.062± ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND 
MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE 
ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC ANNEXATION BY MICHAEL R. SHADE, AGENT 
FOR THE PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Staff has discussed this potential development and annexation several times 
with the applicant.  The property is within the City’s long established utility 
boundary in this area and thus would need to connect to city sanitary sewer and 
water services.  The landowner is now moving forward with the Ohio Revised 
Code dictated annexation process.  This process involves several steps and 
actions by the County and City for an annexation to ultimately be accepted by 
the City.  This is the first City step in the process that requires the City to express 
its ability and intention to provide services to the property.  This does not mean 
that the City will be paying for or constructing any, ultimately, required services 
or infrastructure, but rather simply that we have the ability to serve it.   
 
City Council will have the opportunity during the next and final city step in the 
process to accept, accept with conditions, or reject the final annexation.  The 
intention of the Applicant is to work with the city during the period between the 
resolution of services and the ORC dictated period of final annexation review to 
bring forward zoning and at least a preliminary plan for the property.  This 



method will allow both the applicant and city to fully understand the parameters 
of the proposal and to review both (essentially) simultaneously.  This is 
particularly important given the corner location of this property which will 
require engineering improvements as well as review by multiple agencies 
ultimately. 
The property is composed of two pre-existing lots of record totaling about 1 acre.  
It is the former Obee’s property which had contained a gas station and 
convenience store and in its most recent condition has been the location of a tire 
store. 
The Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use map indicates this property for 
Commercial uses which is what the Applicant has indicated they wish to pursue 
on the property – a food establishment with drive thru.  There are other 
components of the Comprehensive Plan which would be fulfilled by inclusion of 
this property within the city and which could be consistent with the Northwoods 
Sub Area Component of the Plan. 
 
At this time, there is no objection from Staff as to the Resolution of Services.  
Staff would anticipate conceptually recommending that any final annexation be 
conditioned upon the following: 
 

1. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

a. The City will likely require an easement along the east side of the 
property for utilities to be determined through the development 
review process. 

2. Transportation considerations to be determined in final form through the 
zoning and development review process: 

a. The property will have access restrictions placed upon it for the 
surrounding roadways as determined through the development 
review process.  This could include limited access or potentially no 
access from US23 and a single curb cut from Hills-Miller Rd. (to be 
coordinated with other agencies) 

 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This is the first city step in that process requiring passage of 
a resolution indicating what services the city will provide to the subject site.  
Based on the timelines established in the Ohio Revised Code, this resolution 
must be passed at this meeting, after which it will be sent to the County for the 
next step in the annexation process.  While this resolution moves the annexation 
forward, this is not the final legislation Council will consider in order to accept 
the annexation.  60 days after the County approves the annexation, it will be 
presented at the first regular session of Council and must be approved or rejected 
within 120 days from the date of the annexation being placed on the agenda.  
 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval    
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Petition for Annexation 
Map 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-25 
 

A RESOLUTION INDICATING WHAT SERVICES THE 
CITY OF DELAWARE WILL PROVIDE TO 1.062± ACRES 
OF LAND, MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP 
ARE ATTACHED HERETO FOR THE ANNEXATION 
KNOWN AS THE ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC 
ANNEXATION BY MICHAEL R. SHADE, AGENT FOR 
THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Michael R. Shade, agent for the petitioners, has filed with the 

Delaware County Commissioners for annexation of 1.062 acres of land, more or 
less, the description and map are attached hereto, and 
 

WHEREAS, Michael R. Shade, as agent for the petitioners on March 4, 2020 
delivered to the Clerk of the Delaware City Council the notice of his filing of the 
annexation petition with the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County 
and its clerk on March 4, 2020, and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Revised Code, Section 709.023 (c), requires that within 
20 days following the date the petition is filed, the City Council shall, by 
resolution, adopt a statement as to what services, if any, the City will provide and 
an approximate date by which it will provide them to the territory proposed for 
annexation, upon annexation. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1. That upon annexation to the City of Delaware of 1.062± acres 
more or less as delineated on the attached Exhibits, the City will provide the 
following services by the approximate date indicated as to each, provided all 
necessary lines, hydrants, and other apparatus are installed by the property 
owner as required by the City and said services shall be provided under the same 
conditions and same costs as they are provided to other residents in the City of 
Delaware: 

 
(a) Water - upon acceptance of annexation 
(b) Sanitary Sewer - upon acceptance of annexation  
(c) Refuse – upon acceptance of annexation  
(d) Fire – upon acceptance of annexation 
(e) Police – upon acceptance of annexation 

  (f)  Road maintenance-upon acceptance of annexation 
 
 SECTION 2.  That the Council of the City of Delaware, pursuant to Ohio 
Revised Code Section 709.023(D), hereby consents to the annexation. 
 



 SECTION 3. This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Resolution were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 

SECTION 4. That the Clerk of Council shall prepare and furnish to the agent 
for the petitioners a certified copy of this resolution and file with the Delaware 
County Board of County Commissioners on or before 20 days from the filing of the 
annexation petition. 
 
 SECTION 5.  That if the territory is annexed and becomes subject to zoning 
by the City of Delaware and the City permits uses in the annexed territory that the 
City determines are clearly incompatible with the uses permitted under the 
current county or township zoning regulations in the adjacent land remaining 
within the township from which the territory was annexed, the Council of the City 
of Delaware will require, in the zoning ordinance permitting the incompatible uses, 
the owner of the annexed territory to provide a buffer separating the use of the 
annexed and the adjacent land remaining within the township for purposes of this 
ordinance, buffer includes open space, landscaping, fences, walls, and other 
structured elements; streets and street rights of way; and bicycle and pedestrian 
paths and sidewalks. 
 

SECTION 6. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after this passage. 
 
 
PASSED:                                   , 2020  YEAS       NAYS ___ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST:                                                ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF

DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO

PETITION FOR
ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC

ANNEXATION
TOTHE

CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO
FROM THE

TOWNSHIP OF TROY, DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO
CONSISTING OF 1.062 ACRES

EXPEDITED TYPE 2 ANNEXATION

Petitioners: Agent for Petitioners:

Alshahal Enterprises LLC Michael R. Shade
1818 Calico Ct. Attorney at Law
Powell, OH 43065 Shade and Shade LLC

236 West Central Avenue
Delaware, Ohio 43015
Phone: (740) 363-9232
Fax: (740) 363-0146
Email: mrs@ss-dta.com



PETITION

EXHIBIT A: DESCRIPTION
OF LANDS TO BE ANNEXED

EXHIBIT B: MAP OF PROPOSED
LANDS TO BE ANNEXED

LIST OF ADJOINING
PROPERTY OWNERS

LETTER OF DELAWARE
COUNTY ENGINEER
APPROVING LEGAL
DESCRIPTION AND PLAT
OF ANNEXATION

PROOF OF SERVICES

A) LETTERS TO GOVERNMENT

B) LETTERTOADJOINING
PROPERTY OWNERS

MUNICIPAL RESOLUTIONS

A) RESOLUTION OF SERVICES

B) RESOLUTION DEALING WITH
INCOMPATIBLE LAND USES AND
BUFFERS



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF
DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO

PETITION FOR ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LIC ANNEXATIONTO THE CITY OF
DELAWARE, OHIO FROM THE TOWNSHIP OF TROY, DELAWARE COUNTY, OHIO
CONSISTING OF 1.062 ACRES: EXPEDITED TYPE 2 ANNEXATION

To: The Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio

1. The undersigned petitioner (“the Petitioner” herein), being all of the owners of
real estate in the following described territory consisting of 1.062 acres situated in the
Townships of Troy, County of Delaware, Ohio which area is contiguous with, adjacent to,
and/or surrounded by the City of Delaware in part, to wit: see the legal description
attached hereto as Exhibit A and the attached map, both of which are incorporated by
reference herein (“described territory”), respectfully petition that the described
territory be annexed to the City of Delaware, Ohio.

The description of the described territory (“the description” herein) and map
were prepared by David B. McCoy, P.S.., Professional Surveyor No. 7632, Landmark
Survey Group, for annexation purposes, from information of record in the Delaware
County Courthouse and a new full survey of the subject premises. All record references,
unless otherwise noted, are to public records on file at the Delaware County Recorder’s
Office; all statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the Ohio Revised Code.

2. In support of this Petition, the petitioners state that there are within the
described territory sought to be annexed one (1) owner of the real estate. The real
estate within area to be annexed and included in the description is owned as indicated
on the following table:

Name of Address Acreage Deed Parcel ID No.
Petitioner Information Reference

Aishahal Enterprises LLC Petition — Page 1 of 4



Alshahal Enterprises 2319 US Highway 23 Total Net Official Record Book 519-133-02-003-000
LLC Delaware OH 43015 Acreage is .896 594, Page 1475-1476

ac.
Mailing Address: Land Owned in
1818 Calico Ct. the ROW and
Powell, OH 43065 included is .166

acres.
Total Lands
Annexed is
1.062 acres.

Total Lands to be 1.062
Annexed Acres

All public road rights of way abutting any part of the described territory are not
being annexed into and will not be in the City of Delaware, Ohio except where the
annexation is over lands on both sides of any roadway as set forth above and per the
Map of Territory to Be Annexed.

3. Michael R. Shade is hereby appointed Agent for the undersigned Petitioner
(“the Agent” herein), as required by § 709.02 and the Agent’s address is 236 West
Central Avenue, Delaware, Ohio 43015. The agent is hereby authorized to make any
amendment and/or decision which in his absolute and complete discretion is necessary
or proper under the circumstances then existing and is specifically authorized to make
any such amendment in order to correct any discrepancy or mistake noted by the
Delaware County Engineer in his examination of the Petition and Plat. Any such
amendment shall be made by the presentation of an amended description and map to
the Board of County Commissioners on, before, or after the date set for hearing on this
Petition.

4. An accurate map marked “Map of Territory to be Annexed to the City of
Delaware” is attached hereto and made part of this petition.

5. A list containing the required information concerning all tracts, lots and parcels
adjacent to or across the road from the area sought to be annexed is being filed by the
Agent at the time of the filing of this Petition.

6. No island of unincorporated area is being created by this annexation.

7. This petition is filed as an Expedited II annexation proceeding under the
Guidelines and Procedures adopted by Resolution of the Board of Delaware County
Commissioners for the processing of annexation proceedings and is being submitted
pursuant the provisions of § 709.021 when owners unanimously request annexation and

Aishahal Enterprises LLC Petition — Page 2 of 4



§ 709.023 when the area being annexed is not to be excluded from the township. The
area sought to be annexed shall not upon the annexation be excluded from Troy
Township, Delaware County, Ohio in conformity with the provisions of § 709.023.

8. The City of Delaware, Ohio will pass and submit to the Board of County
Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio a resolution of services within twenty (20)
days of the date of the filing of this petition and file same with the Clerk of the Board of
County Commissioners of Delaware County, Ohio.

9. The current zoning in the Township of Troy, De’aware County, Ohio is
presently Highway Service District (HSD) and is presently used as Used Car Dealership
and Right of Way. The comprehensive plan duly adopted by the City of Delaware, Ohio
did anticipate this area was in its last Comprehensive Plan and is designated as
commercial. This proposed use may somewhat be an incompatible land uses to the
Farm Residential District and other residential districts in the Townships of Troy,
Delaware County, Ohio but may not be incompatible to the long-term use plan for the
area. The land surrounding on three (3) sides of the proposed annexed parcel is
currently zoned B-4 in the City of Delaware, Ohio. The City of Delaware, Ohio will pass a
resolution requiring that any buffering necessary as provided in Section 702.023 of the
Ohio Revised Code shall be complied with and will follow the buffering requirements of
the City of Delaware, Ohio Zoning Ordinances. Said resolution of services and buffering
will be passed and submitted to the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware
County, Ohio by the City of Delaware, Ohio within twenty (20) day of the date of the
filing of this petition and file same with the Clerk of the Board of County Commissioners
of Delaware County, Ohio.

WHOEVER SIGNS THIS PETITION EXPRESSLY WAIVES THEIR RIGHT TO APPEAL IN
LAW OR EQUITY FROM THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ ENTRY OF ANY
RESOLUTION PERTAINING TO THIS SPECIAL ANNEXATION PROCEDURE, ALTHOUGH A
WRIT OF MANDAMUS MAY BE SOUGHT TO COMPEL THE BOARD TO PERFORM ITS
DUTIES REQUIRED BY LAW FOR THIS SPECIAL ANNEXATION PROCEDURE.

Aishahal Enterprises LLC Petition — Page 3 of 4



WHOEVER SIGNS THIS PETITION EXPRESSLY WAIVES THEIR RIGHT TO
APPEAL IN LAW OR EQUITY FROM THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’
ENTRY OF ANY RESOLUTION PERTAINING TO THIS SPECIAL ANNEXATION
PROCEDURE, ALTHOUGH A WRIT OF MANDAMUS MAY BE SOUGHT TO COMPEL THE
BOARD TO PERFORM ITS DUTIES REQUIRED BY LAW FOR THIS SPECIAL
ANNEXATION PROCEDURE.

Signatures of Petitioner:

ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC

_______________________________

Dated: March 4, 2020
Abed Aishahal, Designated Manager

Aishahal Enterprises LLC Petition — Page 4 of 4



PROPOSED ANNEXATION
OF 1.062 ± ACRES

FROM TROY TOWNSHIP
TO THE CITY OF DELAWARE

Situate in the State of Ohio, County of Delaware, Township of Troy, being part of Farm Lot 9,
Section 1, Township 5, Range 19 United States Military lands, and being part of a 1.057 acre tract (A.P.N.
51913302003000) conveyed to Aishahal Enterprises, LLC, by deed of record in Deed Book 594, Page 1475,
being bounded and more particularly described as follows:

Beginning, at a point, in the original centerline of U.S. 23 (width varies) at the northeasterly corner
of said 1.057 acre tract, the southeasterly corner of a tract of land conveyed to Speedway LLC, by deed of
record in Deed Book 1286, Page 2212 and being a southeasterly corner of the existing City of Delaware
Corporation line, as established by Ordinance No. 68-27, dated March 4, 1968;

Thence South 12°42”OO” East, a distance of 140.31 feet, along the easterly line of said 1.057 acre
tract, and the original centerline of said U.S. 23, to a point, at the centerline intersection of said U.S. 23 and
the northerly extended right-of-way line of Hills-Miller Road (width varies), and on the northerly line of the
existing City of Delaware Corporation line, as established by Ordinance No. 96-89, dated October 28, 1996;

Thence North 84° lI’OO” West, a distance of 341.07 feet, across said 1.057 acre tract, along the
northerly line of said Hills-Miller Road and along the said northerly City of Delaware Corporation line (Ord.
No. 96-89), to a point on the westerly line of said 1 .057 acre tract, an easterly line of said Speedway LLC
tract, a northwesterly corner of said City of Delaware Corporation line (Ord. No. 69-89) and on a westerly
line of said City of Delaware Corporation line (Ord. No. 68-27)

Thence with the following two (2) courses and distances, along the lines common to said 1.057 acre
tract, said Speedway LLC tract and the City of Delaware Corporation line (Ord. No. 68-27):

1) North 02°4l ‘00” East, a distance of 155.41 feet, to a point;

2) South 80°02’OO” East, a distance of 305.85 feet, to the Point of Beginning, containing 1.062 acres,
of which 0.166 acres lies with the right-of-way of U.S. 23, more or less.

The above description was prepared in the office of Landmark Survey Group Inc., located at 690
Lakeview Plaza Boulevard, Suite A, Worthington, Ohio by David B. McCoy in February of 2020, from the
best available County Records. This information was not derived from an actual field survey. The above
description is not valid for the transfer of real property, and is not to be utilized in place of a Boundary
Survey as defined by the Ohio Administrative Code in Chapter 4733-37.

LANDMARK SURVEY GROUP, INC.

avid B. cCoy, P.S. - ‘Date
Registered Surveyor No. 7632

DELAWARE COUNTY ENGINEER
MAP DEPARTMENT

HEREBY CERTIFY THE WWHIN TO BE A TRUE
COP’Y OF THE ORIGINAL ON flLE IN THE

MA DE’ARTMENT

CHRIS E. BALSERAN. RE., P.S
- CO.NT ENGINEER



2
0

0
’
0

I
,0

S
4

0
?

2
9

/9
’?

99
‘

IA
?

—

D
R

A
W

’N
G

PR
E

PA
R

E
D

97

M
A

P
O

F
T

E
R

R
IT

O
R

Y
T

O
B

E
A

N
N

E
X

E
D

T
O

C
IT

Y
O

F
B

E
L

A
W

A
R

E
E

X
P

E
D

IT
E

D
T

Y
P

E
II

(0
.9

C
,

7
0
9

0
2
3
)

S
I’

u
A

L
D

IN
T

S
iA

/
C

F
C

H
IC

.

C
C

i1
’

3
2

3
/L

A
W

A
T

S
,

T
2

2
N

S
’0

C
r

‘9
C

C
1A

95
?

.0
’

9,
S

/C
’

3
1

,
C

W
\S

7
5

T
A

N
/F

1
9

‘F
.)

S
’A

1
5
5

V
-

A
R

Y
H

I
)
?

LE
C

EN
D

—
a
r
-
i

I
-
I

A
N

N
EX

A
TI

O
N

N
O

T
E

S/
D

E
T

A
iL

S’

‘/
—

9
4
?
?
?

4
/
-

4
1
9
9
9
4

7

O
W

N
E

R
S

IN
TE

R
R

IT
O

R
Y

TO
B

E
A

N
N

EX
C

D
&

A
N

N
E

X
E

D
A

R
C

E
L

A
/H

E
N

C
E

B
R

EA
K

D
O

W
N

0
4
9
IA

2
1

4
9

2
?

99
90

1
2
7
2
9
9
1
H

/9
1

lA
Y

—

—
I

-

?
1
.
s
:
W

7
s
2

t

G
R

A
P

H
IC

S
C

A
L

S

JU
c
c
;
2
r

9
4
9
9

2
/’

4
/1

2
I
C

?
”
?

2
9
2
9

4
2
6
9

-
-
-
-

I

D
EL

A
W

A
R

E
C

O
U

N
TY

C
IX

N
E

ST
M

A
P

D
EP

A
R

TM
EN

T



LIST OF PROPERTY OWNERS

South of Property to be Annexed Acres PIN

ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC .238 51913302003001
1818 CALICO CT
POWELL OH 43065

KAMAL ALSHAHAL
STATUTORY AGENT FOR
ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC
2023 FINCASTLE CT
COLUMBUS OH 43235

(Petitioner Herein)

West of Property to be Annexed

SPEEDWAY LLC 13.230 51913302002000
2381 US HIGHWAY 23
DELAWARE OH 43015

SPEEDWAY LLC
STATUTORY AGENT
CT CORPORATION SYSTEM
4400 EASTON COMMONS WAY
SUITE 125
COLUMBUS OH 43219



North of Property to be Annexed

SPEEDWAY LLC 13.230 51913302002000
2381 US HIGHWAY 23
DELAWARE OH 43015

SPEEDWAY LLC
STATUTORY AGENT
CT CORPORATION SYSTEM
4400 EASTON COMMONS WAY
SUITE 125
COLUMBUS OH 43219

East of Property to be Annexed

ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC 1.062 51913302003000
1818 CALICO CT
POWELL OH 43065

KAMAL ALSHAHAL
STATUTORY AGENT For
ALSHAHAL ENTERPRISES, LLC
2023 FINCASTLE CT
COLUMBUS OH 43235

(Petitioner Herein) (Land in US 23 ROW Consisting of .166 Acres)



DELAwARE CoUNTY MAP DEPARTMENT
COUNTY ADMINISTRATIoN BUILDING

145 NoRTH UNION STREET
DELAWARE, OHIO

43015

CHRIS E. BAU5ERMAN, RE., P.S.
DELAWARE COUNTY ENGINEER

March 4, 2020

The Board of Delaware County Commissioners
101 North Sandusky Street
Delaware, Ohio 43015

Re: Proposed 1.062 Acre Annexation in Tray Township to the City of Delaware

Dear Honorable Board:

We have reviewed the attached Annexation Map and Written Description for the
above referenced proposal. Said Map and Description are hereby approved in
accordance with the Board of Delaware County Commissioner’s Resolutions No. 02-
862, dated July 1, 2002, which is entitled “Establishing General Orders for the
Hearing of Annexation Petitions” and with those applicable sections of Ohio Revised
Code Section 709.02. The actual petition document itself was not submitted to this
department for review and therefore its content is not a part of this approval.

Respectfully Submitted,

Chris E. Bauserman, P.E., P.S.
Delaware County Engineer

Jack Jennings, P.S.
Y\ DepartmentAfanager

;\ Map Department

) Delaware County Engineer
/ J 145 North Union Street

F ./“
Delaware, OH 43015

LI
(740) 833-2450

iennings@ o. delaware .oh us

Enclosures

OFFICE: 740-833-2450 (DEIAwARE) OR 740-548.7313, ExT.2450(CoLuMBus) . FAx: 740-833-2449 - EMAIL: DELco_MAPco.oELAwARE.oI-4.us



Delaware County Engineer
Map Department

740-833-2450

Memo

To: Jennifer Wairaven, Clerk, Board of Commissioners

From: Jack Jennings, P.S., Department Manager

Date: March 4, 2020

Re: Proposed 1.062 Acre Annexation to the City of Delaware

Jennifer:

Attached is one (1) set of the proposed Annexation Plat and Written Description

with a letter of approval addressed to the Board of Commissioners.

If I can be of any further assistance, please let me know.

Jack

Attachments



US 23

HILLS-MILLER RD

BR
UC

E 
RD

US
 H

IG
HW

AY
 2

3 
NCLEAR RUN RD

MONTEREY PL
OA

KH
UR

ST
 D

R

SYLVAN DR

KENSINGTON DR

TU
DO

R 
DR

PA
NH

AN
DL

E 
RD

KIRKWOOD DR

DOWNING ST W

Alshahal Enterprises Property 
Annexation Location Map ~ 1.062 Acres I



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO:  14  DATE: 03/09/2020 

ORDINANCE NO: 20-10  RESOLUTION NO: 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
MARCH 23, 2020 @ 7:30 p.m. 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING AMENDMENT FOR TERRA ALTA 
LLC.,  FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION FROM A-1 AND R-2 PMU TO A-1 AND 
R-2 PMU ON APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES AND LOCATED NORTH 
OF BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLOCK ROAD AND WEST OF 
BERLIN STATION ROAD (NO ZONING CHANGES TO THE STOCKDALE FARMS 
PORTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT).  

BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 

FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 

POLICY CHANGES: 



N/A 

PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-10 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A REZONING 
AMENDMENT FOR TERRA ALTA LLC.,  FOR TERRA 
ALTA SUBDIVISION FROM A-1 AND R-2 PMU TO A-1 
AND R-2 PMU ON APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES AND 
LOCATED NORTH OF BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF 
POLLOCK ROAD AND WEST OF BERLIN STATION 
ROAD (NO ZONING CHANGES TO THE STOCKDALE 
FARMS PORTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT). 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment for Terra Alta LLC., for Terra 
Alta Subdivision from A-1 and R-2 PMU to A-1 and R-2 PMU on approximately 
472.9 acre and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west 
of Berlin Station Road (No zoning changes to the Stockdale Farms portion of 
the development) (PC Case 2020-0258). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1.  That the Rezoning Amendment for Terra Alta LLC., for Terra 
Alta Subdivision from A-1 and R-2 PMU to A-1 and R-2 PMU on approximately 
472.9 acre and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollack Road and west of 
Berlin Station Road (No zoning changes to the Stockdale Farms portion of the 
development), is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
condition that: 

1. The Development Text, as currently proposed, is generally acceptable and any
revisions shall require conformance to all provisions of the Development Text
and the subsequent approved development plans and plats.

2. Any change of use or major modification of the plan shall require conformance
to all provisions of the Development Text.

3. A $1,000 per dwelling unit transportation contribution fee shall be collected
with each building permit for needed area transportation improvements.

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 



VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____ 
ABSTAIN ____ 

PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
ABSTAIN ____ 

ATTEST: _______________________________      ________________________ 
CITY CLERK MAYOR 



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO:  15  DATE: 03/09/2020 

ORDINANCE NO: 20-11  RESOLUTION NO: 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
MARCH 23, 2020 @ 7:30 PM 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR TERRA ALTA 
LLC., ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT (PMU) FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON APPROXIMATELY 472.9 
ACRES ZONED A-1 AND R-2 PMU AND LOCATED NORTH OF 
BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLOCK ROAD AND WEST OF BERLIN 
STATION ROAD.  
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 

FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 

POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-11 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT FOR TERRA ALTA LLC., ALLOWING THE 
PLACEMENT OF A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT (PMU) FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON 
APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES ZONED A-1 AND R-2 
PMU AND LOCATED NORTH OF BRAUMILLER ROAD, 
EAST OF POLLOCK ROAD AND WEST OF 
BERLIN STATION ROAD.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit for Terra Alta LLC., allowing 
the placement of a Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District (PMU) for Terra Alta 
Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acre zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU and located 
north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin Station Road (PC 
Case 2020-0259). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1.  That the Conditional Use Permit for Terra Alta LLC., allowing 
the placement of a Planned Mixed-Use Overlay District (PMU) for Terra Alta 
Subdivision on approximately 472.9-acre zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU and located 
north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and west of Berlin Station Road, 
is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted. 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS____NAYS____ 
ABSTAIN ____ 

PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
ABSTAIN ____ 

ATTEST: _______________________________   ________________________ 
CITY CLERK MAYOR 



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO:  16  DATE: 03/09/2020 

ORDINANCE NO: 20-12  RESOLUTION NO: 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AMENDED PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN FOR TERRA ALTA LLC., FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON 
APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 AND R-2 PMU AND 
LOCATED NORTH OF BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLOCK ROAD 
AND WEST OF BERLIN STATION ROAD.  

BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129 requirements of the zoning code. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 

FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 

POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 

PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 



RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-12 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AMENDED 
PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR TERRA ALTA 
LLC., FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON 
APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
A-1 AND R-2 PMU AND LOCATED NORTH OF 
BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLoCK ROAD AND 
WEST OF BERLIN STATION ROAD. 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of an Amended Preliminary Development Plan for Terra 
Alta LLC;, for Terra Alta Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acre on property 
zoned A-1 and R-2 PMU and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock 
Road and west of Berlin Station Road (PC 2020-0260).   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1.  That the Amended Preliminary Development Plan for Terra Alta 
LLC;, for Terra Alta Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acre on property  zoned 
A-1 and R-2 PMU and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and 
west of Berlin Station Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 

1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department.
In addition, County Engineer’s approval would be required for roadway and
storm water issues that are located within their jurisdiction.

2. All the streets shall achieve compliance with the minimum radii
requirements or per the City Engineer.

3. All public utilities shall be extended to stub to the adjacent property lines
and appropriate sections within the development.

4. The developer shall be responsible for any improvements and/or financial
obligations of the traffic impact study per the City Engineer and/or County
Engineer.

5. A $1,000 per dwelling unit transportation contribution fee shall be collected
with each building permit for needed area transportation improvements.



6. Terra Alta Drive shall be connected to its intersection with Berlin Station
Road no later than the 166th building permit is requested for the
construction of a dwelling unit in Sub-Area 1, 4 and 10.

7. An agreement between the developer and the City shall be executed to allow
the adjacent properties to access the regional lift station per the City
Engineer requirements.

8. The multi-use path shown along the north-south stream corridor shall be
improved by the developer prior to starting Section 2 and shall be
maintained by the homeowner’s association with an easement dedicated to
the City for public use. Every effort shall be made by the developer to
relocate the bike path from the front of homes in Sub-Area 3 and 9.

9. The off-site stormwater improvements shall comply with the minimum City
and County regulations.

10. The proposed bike paths shall be constructed during the subject section it
is located in.

11. The proposed bike path along Braumiller Road shall be installed per City
requirements within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be
maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. The bike path along
Braumiller Road shall be constructed with the roadway improvements
during the subject Phase it is located in.

12. Sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of all public streets. Sidewalks
are not required to be extended along Pollock Road due to topographic and
area considerations that make a pedestrian connection along Pollock
infeasible. However, at least one sidewalk shall be extended from the
western portion of the subdivision to Pollock Road to provide a connection
to the river parkland. The sidewalk shall be constructed during the subject
section it is located in.

13. Prior to or concurrent with the submittal of the Final Development Plan and
Final Subdivision Plat for the first section (not included with this submittal),
a Parkland and Open Space Improvement Plan must be submitted for
review and approval detailing the improvements to be made to the parkland
and privately maintained open spaces scattered throughout the
neighborhood.

14. A minimum four-foot-high mound with landscaping that is a minimum 60%
opaque year-round and with a landscaping height of no less than 10 feet
high shall be located adjacent to Berlin Station Road to buffer the
residential lots per the approved development text.

15. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback
requirements in the approved development text.

16. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural
standards in the approved development text and per applicable sections of
the current zoning code.



17. A minimum 3-6-foot-high mound with landscaping shall be located along
Braumiller Road except adjacent to lots 88-90 in Phase 2. An easement on
the rear of lots 88-90 shall be recorded to require the aforementioned
mounding and landscaping.

18. The maintenance of all mounds, landscaping and amenities in the parkland
and open space areas shall be the responsibility of the Homeowner’s
Association with an easement to the City dedicating them open to the
public. In addition, all evergreen trees shall be a minimum 6-foot-high at
installation and the deciduous trees shall be a minimum 1.75-inch caliper.

19. Landscaping shall be installed adjacent to the proposed detention basin
along Pollock Road.

20. All landscape plans shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the
Shade Tree Commission.

21. The 4.06-acre open space along the Olentangy River shall be dedicated to
the City with Section 1of the Final Subdivision Plat (former Stockdale
Farms).

22. For each single-family house, a $500 fee shall be paid for each single-family
lot at time of building permit issuance to achieve compliance with Chapter
1168 Tree Preservation Regulations.

23. For each cluster home unit, $200 fee shall be paid for each cluster home
unit at time of building permit issuance to achieve compliance with Chapter
1168 Tree Preservation Regulations.

24. The street lighting plan shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the
Chief Building Official achieves compliance with all zoning requirements
prior to construction drawing approval.

25. A comprehensive sign plan with all permanent and temporary signage
including all public opens spaces shall be submitted reviewed and approved
prior construction drawing approval.

26. The proposed phasing of the development shall be reviewed by staff to
ensure roadway connectivity for Phase 1 (former Stockdale Farms portion of
the development).

27. Conservation easements shall be provided over the entire length of all the
existing streams on the site and shall be recorded with each final plat.

28. A second permanent access point for the east side of the site to the
subdivision along Braumiller Road shall be required on or before the
development of the 65th lot (during Phase 2 per submitted plans former
Stockdale Farms portion of the development) or per the City Engineer for
safety considerations.

29. A dense landscape buffer along the eastern portion of the proposed cluster
homes adjacent to the large lot single family residences shall be submitted
and approved with the Final Development Plan.

30. A Del Co water line transverses the rear of lots 4-6 which could impact the
building pads of the future houses and shall limit the construction of any
accessory structures (decks, etc.) on these lots.



31. A temporary emergency access point shall be located from Braumiller Road 
north between lots 15 and 16 to Skipton Loop. The design and access of the 
emergency access point shall achieve compliance with the fire department 
requirements. When Phase 1, 2 and 3 are completed, the aforementioned 
emergency access point can be converted to a bike path or the like to be 
determined by the Homeowners Association. 

32. In Sub-Area 9, the developer shall plant several 8-foot-high Norway spruce 
trees to form a continuous buffer along the rear of lots 323-325 to screen 
the adjacent single-family home in addition to the tree line that exists in 
this location already 

33. In Sub-Area 3, the developer shall plant several 8 foot high Norway spruce 
trees to form a continuous buffer along the rear of lots 165-172 along the 
northwestern portion of the site to screen the adjacent single family home in 
addition to the tree line that exists in this location already. 

34. The developer shall submit a revised sign plan and wayfinding plan for the 
entire development.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  17    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-13    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AMENDED PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION PLAT 
FOR TERRA ALTA LLC., FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON APPROXIMATELY 
472.9 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED A-1 AND R-2 PMU AND LOCATED NORTH 
OF BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLACK ROAD AND WEST OF BERLIN 
STATION ROAD. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1111 Platting requirements of the zoning 
code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-13 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AMENDED 
PRELIMINARY SUBDIVISION PLAT FOR TERRA ALTA 
LLC., FOR TERRA ALTA SUBDIVISION ON 
APPROXIMATELY 472.9 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
A-1 AND R-2 PMU AND LOCATED NORTH OF 
BRAUMILLER ROAD, EAST OF POLLACK ROAD AND 
WEST OF BERLIN STATION ROAD. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of an Amended Preliminary Subdivision Plat for Terra Alta 
LLC;, for Terra Alta Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acre on property  zoned 
A-1 and R-2 PMU and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and 
west of Berlin Station Road (PC 2020-0261).   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Amended Preliminary Subdivision Plat for Terra Alta 
LLC;, for Terra Alta Subdivision on approximately 472.9 acre on property  zoned 
A-1 and R-2 PMU and located north of Braumiller Road, east of Pollock Road and 
west of Berlin Station Road, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 
 
1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 

storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout 
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or 
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department. 
In addition, County Engineer’s approval would be required for roadway and 
storm water issues that are located within their jurisdiction. 

2. All the streets shall achieve compliance with the minimum radii 
requirements or per the City Engineer. 

3. All public utilities shall be extended to stub to the adjacent property lines 
and appropriate sections within the development. 

4. The developer shall be responsible for any improvements and/or financial 
obligations of the traffic impact study per the City Engineer and/or County 
Engineer. 

5. A $1,000 per dwelling unit transportation contribution fee shall be collected 
with each building permit for needed area transportation improvements. 

6. Terra Alta Drive shall be connected to its intersection with Berlin Station 
Road no later than the 166th building permit is requested for the 
construction of a dwelling unit in Sub-Area 1, 4 and 10. 



7. An agreement between the developer and the City shall be executed to allow 
the adjacent properties to access the regional lift station per the City 
Engineer requirements. 

8. The multi-use path shown along the north-south stream corridor shall be 
improved by the developer prior to starting Section 2 and shall be 
maintained by the homeowner’s association with an easement dedicated to 
the City for public use. Every effort shall be made by the developer to 
relocate the bike path from the front of homes in Sub-Area 3 and 9. 

9. The off-site stormwater improvements shall comply with the minimum City 
and County regulations. 

10. The proposed bike paths shall be constructed during the subject section it 
is located in. 

11. The proposed bike path along Braumiller Road shall be installed per City 
requirements within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be 
maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. The bike path along 
Braumiller Road shall be constructed with the roadway improvements 
during the subject Phase it is located in.  

12. Sidewalks shall be provided on both sides of all public streets. Sidewalks 
are not required to be extended along Pollock Road due to topographic and 
area considerations that make a pedestrian connection along Pollock 
infeasible. However, at least one sidewalk shall be extended from the 
western portion of the subdivision to Pollock Road to provide a connection 
to the river parkland. The sidewalk shall be constructed during the subject 
section it is located in.  

13. Prior to or concurrent with the submittal of the Final Development Plan and 
Final Subdivision Plat for the first section (not included with this submittal), 
a Parkland and Open Space Improvement Plan must be submitted for 
review and approval detailing the improvements to be made to the parkland 
and privately maintained open spaces scattered throughout the 
neighborhood. 

14. A minimum four-foot-high mound with landscaping that is a minimum 60% 
opaque year round and with a landscaping height of no less than 10 feet 
high shall be located adjacent to Berlin Station Road to buffer the 
residential lots per the approved development text. 

15. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

16. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards in the approved development text and per applicable sections of 
the current zoning code. 

17. A minimum 3-6-foot-high mound with landscaping shall be located along 
Braumiller Road except adjacent to lots 88-90 in Phase 2. An easement on 
the rear of lots 88-90 shall be recorded to require the aforementioned 
mounding and landscaping. 



18. The maintenance of all mounds, landscaping and amenities in the parkland 
and open space areas shall be the responsibility of the Homeowner’s 
Association with an easement to the City dedicating them open to the 
public. In addition, all evergreen trees shall be a minimum 6-foot-high at 
installation and the deciduous trees shall be a minimum 1.75-inch caliper. 

19. Landscaping shall be installed adjacent to the proposed detention basin 
along Pollock Road. 

20. All landscape plans shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the 
Shade Tree Commission. 

21. The 4.06-acre open space along the Olentangy River shall be dedicated to 
the City with Section 1of the Final Subdivision Plat (former Stockdale 
Farms). 

22. For each single-family house, a $500 fee shall be paid for each single-family 
lot at time of building permit issuance to achieve compliance with Chapter 
1168 Tree Preservation Regulations. 

23. For each cluster home unit, $200 fee shall be paid for each cluster home 
unit at time of building permit issuance to achieve compliance with Chapter 
1168 Tree Preservation Regulations. 

24. The street lighting plan shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the 
Chief Building Official achieves compliance with all zoning requirements 
prior to construction drawing approval. 

25. A comprehensive sign plan with all permanent and temporary signage 
including all public opens spaces shall be submitted reviewed and approved 
prior construction drawing approval. 

26. The proposed phasing of the development shall be reviewed by staff to 
ensure roadway connectivity for Phase 1 (former Stockdale Farms portion of 
the development). 

27. Conservation easements shall be provided over the entire length of all the 
existing streams on the site and shall be recorded with each final plat. 

28. A second permanent access point for the east side of the site to the 
subdivision along Braumiller Road shall be required on or before the 
development of the 65th lot (during Phase 2 per submitted plans former 
Stockdale Farms portion of the development) or per the City Engineer for 
safety considerations. 

29. A dense landscape buffer along the eastern portion of the proposed cluster 
homes adjacent to the large lot single family residences shall be submitted 
and approved with the Final Development Plan. 

30. A Del Co water line transverses the rear of lots 4-6 which could impact the 
building pads of the future houses and shall limit the construction of any 
accessory structures (decks, etc.) on these lots. 

31. A temporary emergency access point shall be located from Braumiller Road 
north between lots 15 and 16 to Skipton Loop. The design and access of the 
emergency access point shall achieve compliance with the fire department 
requirements. When Phase 1, 2 and 3 are completed, the aforementioned 



emergency access point can be converted to a bike path or the like to be 
determined by the Homeowners Association. 

32. In Sub-Area 9, the developer shall plant several 8-foot-high Norway spruce 
trees to form a continuous buffer along the rear of lots 323-325 to screen 
the adjacent single-family home in addition to the tree line that exists in 
this location already 

33. In Sub-Area 3, the developer shall plant several 8 foot high Norway spruce 
trees to form a continuous buffer along the rear of lots 165-172 along the 
northwestern portion of the site to screen the adjacent single family home in 
addition to the tree line that exists in this location already. 

34. The developer shall submit a revised sign plan and wayfinding plan for the 
entire development.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



































































































































































































































































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  18    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-14    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR SKILKEN GOLD REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT 
FOR SHEETZ LOCATED AT 700 SUNBURY ROAD ON PROPERTY ZONED B-3 
(COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT) AND B-4 (GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT) 
ON APPROXIMATLEY 4.6 ACRES. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on March 4, 2020.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-14 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED 
PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
SKILKEN GOLD REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT FOR 
SHEETZ LOCATED AT 700 SUNBURY ROAD ON 
PROPERTY ZONED B-3 (COMMUNITY BUSINESS 
DISTRICT) AND B-4 (GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT) 
ON APPROXIMATLEY 4.6 ACRES. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
Skilken Gold Real Estate Development for Sheetz located at 700 Sunbury Road on 
property zoned B-3 (Community Business District)  and B-4 (General Business 
District) on approximately 4.6 acres (PC Case 2020-0225).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for Skilken Gold Real Estate Development for Sheetz located at 700 Sunbury Road 
on property zoned B-3 (Community Business District)  and B-4 (General Business 
District) on approximately 4.6 acres, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted 
with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department once a complete plan set is submitted for 
review. 

2. The developer is required to perform a Traffic Impact Study that shall 
be approved by the City Engineer with any improvements being the 
responsibility of the applicant. 

3. The applicant shall dedicate right-of-way along Sunbury Road and 
Mill Run Crossing per the Planning and Community Development 
Director. 

4. The backage road shall be designed and constructed to meet public 
road standards including a five-foot sidewalk on the north or south 
side of the road per the City Public Works Department. The backage 
road shall be constructed to the western property line of the subject 
development.  

5. Along Mill Run Crossing, the applicant shall remove the sidewalk and 



construct a 8-foot-wide asphalt bike path to connect to the existing 
bike path to the south of the existing curb cut per the adopted Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Master Plan 2027 

6. The dumpster shall be screened from public view by a wall 
constructed of brick or stone that matches the new building with 
wood doors painted or stained to match or compliment the overall 
building. 

7. The proposed development achieves compliance with Chapter 1168 
Tree Preservation Requirements. 

8. The Shade Tree Commission shall review and approve the submitted 
street tree plans.  

9. The limestone on the building, the stone canopy columns, and the 
ground sign bases shall be Delaware blue vein limestone (or cultured 
stone) or equivalent as approved by Staff.   

10. All building and fuel canopy appurtenances (coping, downspouts, 
etc.) shall be painted to match the adjacent building material color. 

11. All roof top mechanical equipment shall be completely screened from 
public view. 

12. The Applicant shall submit all building, fuel canopy, and sign 
elevations along with material and color samples for all building 
materials for staff review and approval after approval of the Final 
Development Plan and prior to any building permit issuance.  

13. On the building sign, the red sign box shall be opaque and the only 
light to shine thru would be thru the “SHEETZ” letters as approved 
by staff. 

14. A lighting plan that achieves compliance with the zoning code shall 
be submitted, reviewed and approved by the City.  All lights shall be 
fully recessed and cut off and the light poles shall be black. 

15. The two ice boxes on the front elevation shall be painted to match the 
building. 

16. No Video dispensers, ATM machines, or any other merchandise shall 
be permitted to be outside the building unless located within a 
defined designated area and buffered from Sunbury Road and Mill 
Run Crossing. 

17. The applicant shall make a shall make a payment in lieu of 7 street 
trees which totals $525 along Sunbury Road. 

18. The applicant shall plant 4 street trees along Mill Run Crossing to 
achieve compliance with the zoning code. 

19. The development shall achieve compliance with Fire Department 
requirements. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 



formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



























































































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  19    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-15    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUEST BY 
PULTE HOMES FOR THE COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 
CONTAINING 45 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 18.21 ACRES ON PROPERTY 
ZONED R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON CAMBIE DRIVE, BALD 
EAGLE DRIVE AND SUNDAIL LANE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129 Procedures of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-15 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN REQUEST BY PULTE HOMES FOR THE 
COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 
CONTAINING 45 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 18.21 
ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON CAMBIE 
DRIVE, BALD EAGLE DRIVE AND SUNDAIL LANE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Development Plan request by Pulte Homes for 
the Communities at Glenross Section 16 containing 45 single family lots on 18.21 
acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned 
Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald Eagle Drive and 
Sundail Lane (PC 2020-0205).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Development Plan request by Pulte Homes for 
the Communities at Glenross Section 16 containing 45 single family lots on 18.21 
acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned 
Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald Eagle Drive and 
Sundail Lane, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 
1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 

storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout 
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or 
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department. 

2. Per the City Engineer, Section 13 shall be constructed prior to Section 16 
otherwise an off-site improvement plan for stormwater shall be required 
and approved for Section 16 

3. The emergency access drive to Cheshire Road through Section 15 shall 
remain in place until a second access point to Winterbourne Drive is 
established on east side of Winterbourne Drive (proposed in Section 18).  

4. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

5. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards and house size in the approved development text and per 
applicable sections of the current zoning code. 

6. The Winterbourne Drive buffering shall match the existing buffering in the 



Communities at Glenross surrounding this development. The maintenance 
of the mound and associated landscaping shall be the responsibility of the 
Homeowner’s Association.  

7. A street tree plan and landscape plan was approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission on February 25, 2020. 

8. The bike path along Winterbourne Drive shall be installed by the developer 
and located within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be 
maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. 

9. This section of the Communities at Glenross Subdivision is in the Delaware 
South New Community Authority, subject to a per dwelling unit additional 
transportation fee of $1,000 per unit due at the time of building permit 
issuance, and is subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer 
additional capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit. 

10. All signage shall achieve compliance with the graphics and signage 
requirements in the development text and the previously approved 
wayfinding system and plan for the community. 

11. Lot 12916 shall include an active field area as approved by Staff in addition 
to the other proposed amenities within the reserve.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  20    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-16    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT REQUEST BY PULTE 
HOMES FOR THE COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 PART 1 
CONTAINING 36 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 14.476 ACRES ON PROPERTY 
ZONED R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED 
MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON CAMBIE DRIVE, BALD 
EAGLE DRIVE AND SUNDAIL LANE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1111 Platting of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-16 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION 
PLAT REQUEST BY PULTE HOMES FOR THE 
COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 PART 1 
CONTAINING 36 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 14.476 
ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON CAMBIE 
DRIVE, BALD EAGLE DRIVE AND SUNDAIL LANE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the 
Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 1 containing 36 single family lots on 
14.476 acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald Eagle 
Drive and Sundail Lane (PC 2020-0206).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the 
Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 1 containing 36 single family lots on 
14.476 acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Cambie Drive, Bald Eagle 
Drive and Sundail Lane, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 
1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 

storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout 
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or 
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department. 

2. Per the City Engineer, Section 13 shall be constructed prior to Section 16 
otherwise an off-site improvement plan for stormwater shall be required 
and approved for Section 16 

3. The emergency access drive to Cheshire Road through Section 15 shall 
remain in place until a second access point to Winterbourne Drive is 
established on east side of Winterbourne Drive (proposed in Section 18).  

4. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

5. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards and house size in the approved development text and per 
applicable sections of the current zoning code. 



6. The Winterbourne Drive buffering shall match the existing buffering in the 
Communities at Glenross surrounding this development. The maintenance 
of the mound and associated landscaping shall be the responsibility of the 
Homeowner’s Association.  

7. A street tree plan and landscape plan was approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission on February 25, 2020. 

8. The bike path along Winterbourne Drive shall be installed by the developer 
and located within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be 
maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. 

9. This section of the Communities at Glenross Subdivision is in the Delaware 
South New Community Authority, subject to a per dwelling unit additional 
transportation fee of $1,000 per unit due at the time of building permit 
issuance, and is subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer 
additional capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit. 

10. All signage shall achieve compliance with the graphics and signage 
requirements in the development text and the previously approved 
wayfinding system and plan for the community 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 21    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-17    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT REQUEST BY PULTE 
HOMES FOR THE COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 PART 2 
CONTAINING 9 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 3.743 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON BALD EAGLE DRIVE AND SUNDAIL 
LANE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1111 Platting of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-17 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION 
PLAT REQUEST BY PULTE HOMES FOR THE 
COMMUNITIES AT GLENROSS SECTION 16 PART 2 
CONTAINING 9 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON 3.743 ACRES 
ON PROPERTY ZONED R-2 PMU (ONE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON BALD EAGLE 
DRIVE AND SUNDAIL LANE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the 
Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 2 containing 9 single family lots on 
3.743 acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Bald Eagle Drive and Sundail 
Lane (PC 2020-0207).  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Subdivision Plat request by Pulte Homes for the 
Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 2 containing 9 single family lots on 
3.743 acres on property zoned R-2 PMU (One Family Residential District with a 
Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on Bald Eagle Drive and Sundail 
Lane, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following conditions 
that: 
1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 

storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout 
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or 
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department. 

2. Per the City Engineer, Section 13 shall be constructed prior to Section 16 
otherwise an off-site improvement plan for stormwater shall be required 
and approved for Section 16 

3. The emergency access drive to Cheshire Road through Section 15 shall 
remain in place until a second access point to Winterbourne Drive is 
established on east side of Winterbourne Drive (proposed in Section 18).  

4. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

5. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards and house size in the approved development text and per 
applicable sections of the current zoning code. 



6. The Winterbourne Drive buffering shall match the existing buffering in the 
Communities at Glenross surrounding this development. The maintenance 
of the mound and associated landscaping shall be the responsibility of the 
Homeowner’s Association.  

7. A street tree plan and landscape plan was approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission on February 25, 2020. 

8. The bike path along Winterbourne Drive shall be installed by the developer 
and located within an easement dedicated to the City and shall be 
maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. 

9. This section of the Communities at Glenross Subdivision is in the Delaware 
South New Community Authority, subject to a per dwelling unit additional 
transportation fee of $1,000 per unit due at the time of building permit 
issuance, and is subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer 
additional capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit. 

10. All signage shall achieve compliance with the graphics and signage 
requirements in the development text and the previously approved 
wayfinding system and plan for the community. 

11. Lot 12916 shall include an active field area as approved by Staff in addition 
to the other proposed amenities within the reserve.  

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 















































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  22    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-18    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUEST BY T&R 
PROPERTIES FOR THE ENCLAVE AT THE RAVINES AT OLENTANGY 
CONTAINING 86 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED UNITS AND 1 SINGLE FAMILY 
DETACHED UNIT ON APPROXIMATELY 14.742 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
R-6 PMU (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-
USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF CURVE 
ROAD AND WEST OF ROCHDALE RUN. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129 Procedures of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-18 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN REQUEST BY T&R PROPERTIES FOR THE 
ENCLAVE AT THE RAVINES AT OLENTANGY 
CONTAINING 86 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED UNITS 
AND 1 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED UNIT ON 
APPROXIMATELY 14.742 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
R-6 PMU (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH 
A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF CURVE ROAD AND 
WEST OF ROCHDALE RUN. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Development Plan request by T&R Properties for 
the Enclave at the Ravines at Olentangy containing 87 single family attached units 
on approximately 14.742 acres on property zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on the 
north side of Curve Road and west of Rochdale Run  (PC Case 2020-0236).  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Development Plan request by T&R Properties for 
the Enclave at the Ravines at Olentangy containing 87 single family attached units 
on approximately 14.742 acres on property zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on the 
north side of Curve Road and west of Rochdale Run, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 

 

1. The applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any 
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the 
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout 
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or 
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department. 

2. The internal access roadway network shall be comprised of 24-foot-wide 
private streets built to public street standards with no parking permitted 
on the streets. 

3. The applicant shall dedicate right-of-way for the Curve Road roundabout 
per the County Engineer requirements.  

4. The street names shall be vetted and approved by the appropriate agencies 
to ensure compliance and non-duplication prior to recording the Final Plat.  

5. Internal sidewalks shall be located on one side of each private street.  



6. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements as shown on this plan and the approved development text. 

7. The single family attached units shall comply achieve compliance with 
Chapter 1171 Residential Design Criteria and Performance Standards and 
typical elevations shall be provided for review with the Final Development 
Plan.  

8. The minimum dwelling unit size shall be 1,200 square feet per the approved 
development text. 

9. A deck or patio (12’x16’ maximum size) shall be permitted on the lots 
identified on the Final Development Plan per the developer. The location, 
size, and setback of such deck or patio is identified on the Final 
Development Plan. A note shall be included on the Final Subdivision Plat 
that clearly indicates the aforementioned lots per the approved Final 
Development Plan.  

10. A minimum 6-foot-high mound with a double row of staggered 6-foot-high 
minimum evergreen trees planted 20 feet on center shall be installed along 
Curve Road adjacent to lots 46-59. The perimeter landscaping maintenance 
shall be the responsibility of the Homeowner’s Association. 

11. Individual building landscaping shall be required per Chapter 1171 Design 
Criteria and Performance Standards of the zoning code. 

12. A lighting plan that achieves compliance with the minimum zoning 
regulations shall be submitted in the Final Development Plan submittal. 

13. Any ground signage shall achieve compliance with the adopted Gateways 
and Corridor Plan and the minimum zoning requirements.  

14. The applicant shall place a notice in all deeds for all properties that have 
or will have occupied structures within the 1,000 feet landfill waste offset 
area. The notice will identify the existence of the landfill and the general 
distance between the landfill and occupied structures. As a condition of 
constructing any dwelling unit with a basement located within the 1000 
ft offset from landfilled material, the applicant is required to enter into an 
agreement with the City pertaining to the installation of two additional 
explosive gas monitoring points east of Rochdale Run, and to pay all 
costs associated with the installation, operation, maintenance and 
reporting of the monitoring points.   

15. Injector pumps shall not be required to provide basement services to any 
building. 

16. A sidewalk with street trees shall be installed on the on the southside of 
Rochdale Run. 

17. Per the County Engineer, a portion of the perimeter mounding shall be 
permitted to encroach into the Curve Road right-of-way. 

 

 

 



 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



FACT SHEET

DATE: 03/09/2020 

RESOLUTION NO: 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 23  

ORDINANCE NO: 20-19  

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: NO 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT REQUEST BY T&R 
PROPERTIES FOR THE ENCLAVE AT THE RAVINES AT OLENTANGY 
CONTAINING 86 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED UNITS AND 1 SINGLE FAMILY 
DETACHED ON APPROXIMATELY 14.742 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED R-6 
PMU (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF CURVE ROAD 
AND WEST OF ROCHDALE RUN. 

BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129 Procedures of the zoning code. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 6-0 on March 4, 2020. 

FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 

POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-19 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION 
PLAT REQUEST BY T&R PROPERTIES FOR THE 
ENCLAVE AT THE RAVINES AT OLENTANGY 
CONTAINING 86 SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED UNITS 
AND 1 SINGLE FAMILY DETACHED UNIT ON 
APPROXIMATELY 14.742 ACRES ON PROPERTY ZONED 
R-6 PMU (MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH 
A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF CURVE ROAD AND 
WEST OF ROCHDALE RUN. 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of March 4, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Subdivision Plat request by T&R Properties for 
the Enclave at the Ravines at Olentangy containing 87 single family attached units 
on approximately 14.742 acres on property zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on the 
north side of Curve Road and west of Rochdale Run  (PC Case 2020-0237).  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 

SECTION 1.  That the Final Development Plan request by T&R Properties for 
the Enclave at the Ravines at Olentangy containing 87 single family attached units 
on approximately 14.742 acres on property zoned R-6 PMU (Multi-Family 
Residential District with a Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) and located on the 
north side of Curve Road and west of Rochdale Run, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 

1. The applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including any
storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the
Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the layout
and details of the project are preliminary and subject to modification or
change based on the final technical review by the Engineering Department.

2. The internal access roadway network shall be comprised of 24-foot-wide
private streets built to public street standards with no parking permitted
on the streets.

3. The applicant shall dedicate right-of-way for the Curve Road roundabout
per the County Engineer requirements.

4. The street names shall be vetted and approved by the appropriate agencies
to ensure compliance and non-duplication prior to recording the Final Plat.

5. Internal sidewalks shall be located on one side of each private street.



6. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements as shown on this plan and the approved development text. 

7. The single family attached units shall comply achieve compliance with 
Chapter 1171 Residential Design Criteria and Performance Standards and 
typical elevations shall be provided for review with the Final Development 
Plan.  

8. The minimum dwelling unit size shall be 1,200 square feet per the approved 
development text. 

9. A deck or patio (12’x16’ maximum size) shall be permitted on the lots 
identified on the Final Development Plan per the developer. The location, 
size, and setback of such deck or patio is identified on the Final 
Development Plan. A note shall be included on the Final Subdivision Plat 
that clearly indicates the aforementioned lots per the approved Final 
Development Plan.  

10. A minimum 6-foot-high mound with a double row of staggered 6-foot-high 
minimum evergreen trees planted 20 feet on center shall be installed along 
Curve Road adjacent to lots 46-59. The perimeter landscaping maintenance 
shall be the responsibility of the Homeowner’s Association. 

11. Individual building landscaping shall be required per Chapter 1171 Design 
Criteria and Performance Standards of the zoning code. 

12. A lighting plan that achieves compliance with the minimum zoning 
regulations shall be submitted in the Final Development Plan submittal. 

13. Any ground signage shall achieve compliance with the adopted Gateways 
and Corridor Plan and the minimum zoning requirements.  

14. The applicant shall place a notice in all deeds for all properties that have 
or will have occupied structures within the 1,000 feet landfill waste offset 
area. The notice will identify the existence of the landfill and the general 
distance between the landfill and occupied structures. As a condition of 
constructing any dwelling unit with a basement located within the 1000 
ft offset from landfilled material, the applicant is required to enter into an 
agreement with the City pertaining to the installation of two additional 
explosive gas monitoring points east of Rochdale Run, and to pay all 
costs associated with the installation, operation, maintenance and 
reporting of the monitoring points.   

15. The applicant shall place a notice in all deeds for all properties that have or 
will have occupied structures within the 1,000 feet landfill waste offset area. 
The notice will identify the existence of the landfill and the general distance 
between the landfill and occupied structures.  

16. Injector pumps shall not be required to provide basement services to any 
building. 

17. A sidewalk with street trees shall be installed on the on the southside of 
Rochdale Run. 



18. Per the County Engineer, a portion of the perimeter mounding shall be 
permitted to encroach into the Curve Road right-of-way. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 

























































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  24    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-20    RESOLUTION NO:   
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
        
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: Justin Nahvi, Finance Director  
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOTES IN THE 
MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $2,000,000 IN ANTICIPATION OF THE 
ISSUANCE OF BONDS, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE COSTS OF 
CONSTRUCTING GLENN ROAD BETWEEN CERTAIN TERMINI BY 
CONSTRUCTING, EXCAVATING, GRADING AND PAVING, INSTALLING 
DRAINAGE, SANITARY SEWER LATERALS, STREET LIGHTING, CONDUIT, 
CURBS AND GUTTERS, SIGNAGE, TRAFFIC PAVEMENT MARKINGS, STREET 
SIGNS, LANDSCAPING, AND ACQUIRING INTERESTS IN REAL ESTATE, 
TOGETHER WITH ALL NECESSARY APPURTENANCES THERETO. 

BACKGROUND:   
See attached memo. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
  
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:  
Finance Committee, approval 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S):   
See attached Memo 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 



 
PRESENTER(S):  
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
Fiscal Officer Certificate 



ORDINANCE NO. 20-20 

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE AND 
SALE OF NOTES IN THE MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
OF $2,000,000 IN ANTICIPATION OF THE ISSUANCE OF 
BONDS, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE COSTS OF 
CONSTRUCTING GLENN ROAD BETWEEN CERTAIN 
TERMINI BY CONSTRUCTING, EXCAVATING, GRADING 
AND PAVING, INSTALLING DRAINAGE, SANITARY 
SEWER LATERALS, STREET LIGHTING, CONDUIT, CURBS 
AND GUTTERS, SIGNAGE, TRAFFIC PAVEMENT 
MARKINGS, STREET SIGNS, LANDSCAPING, AND 
ACQUIRING INTERESTS IN REAL ESTATE, TOGETHER 
WITH ALL NECESSARY APPURTENANCES THERETO. 

WHEREAS, this City Council has requested that the Director of Finance, as fiscal officer 
of this City, certify the estimated life or period of usefulness of the Improvement described in 
Section 1 and the estimated maximum maturity of the Bonds described in Section 1; and 

WHEREAS, the Director of Finance has certified to this City Council that the estimated 
life or period of usefulness of the Improvement described in Section 1 is at least five (5) years, 
the estimated maximum maturity of the Bonds described in Section 1 is twenty (20) years, and 
the maximum maturity of the Notes described in Section 3, to be issued in anticipation of the 
Bonds, is two hundred forty (240) months; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by The Council of The City of Delaware, 
State of Ohio, that: 

Section 1  It is necessary to issue bonds of this City in the maximum principal amount of 
$2,000,000 (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of paying the costs of constructing Glenn Road 
between certain termini by constructing, excavating, grading and paving, installing drainage, 
sanitary sewer laterals, street lighting, conduit, curbs and gutters, signage, traffic pavement 
markings, street signs, landscaping, and acquiring interests in real estate, together with all 
necessary appurtenances thereto (the “Improvement”). 

Section 2.  The Bonds shall be dated approximately June 1, 2021, shall bear interest at the 
now estimated rate of 6.00% per year, payable semiannually until the principal amount is paid, 
and are estimated to mature in twenty (20) annual principal installments on December 1 of each 
year and in such amounts that the total principal and interest payments on the Bonds, in any 
fiscal year in which principal is payable, shall be substantially equal.  The first principal payment 
of the Bonds is estimated to be December 1, 2021. 

Section 3.  It is necessary to issue and this City Council determines that notes in the 
maximum principal amount of $2,000,000 (the “Notes”) shall be issued in anticipation of the 
issuance of the Bonds for the purpose described in Section 1 and to pay the costs of the 
Improvement and any financing costs.  The principal amount of Notes to be issued (not to exceed 
the stated maximum amount) shall be determined by the Director of Finance in the certificate 



- 2 - 

awarding the Notes in accordance with Section 6 of this Ordinance (the “Certificate of Award”) 
as the amount which is necessary to pay the costs of the Improvement and any financing costs.  
The Notes shall be dated the date of issuance and shall mature not more than one year following 
the date of issuance, provided that the Director of Finance shall establish the maturity date in the 
Certificate of Award.  The Notes shall bear interest at a rate or rates not to exceed 6.00% per 
year (computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months), payable at 
maturity and until the principal amount is paid or payment is provided for.  The rate or rates of 
interest on the Notes shall be determined by the Director of Finance in the Certificate of Award 
in accordance with Section 6 of this Ordinance. 

Section 4.  The debt charges on the Notes shall be payable in lawful money of the United 
States of America or in Federal Reserve funds of the United States of America as determined by 
the Director of Finance in the Certificate of Award, and shall be payable, without deduction for 
services of the City’s paying agent, at the office of a bank or trust company designated by the 
Director of Finance in the Certificate of Award after determining that the payment at that bank or 
trust company will not endanger the funds or securities of the City and that proper procedures 
and safeguards are available for that purpose or at the office of the Director of Finance if agreed 
to by the Director of Finance and the original purchaser (the “Paying Agent”).  The Director of 
Finance is authorized, to the extent necessary or appropriate, to enter into an agreement with the 
Paying Agent in connection with the services to be provided by the Paying Agent after 
determining that the signing thereof will not endanger the funds or securities of the City. 

Section 5.  The Notes shall be signed by the City Manager and the Director of Finance, in 
the name of the City and in their official capacities; provided that one of those signatures may be 
a facsimile.  The Notes shall be issued in minimum denominations of $100,000 (and may be 
issued in denominations in such amounts in excess thereof as requested by the original purchaser 
and approved by the Director of Finance) and with numbers as requested by the original 
purchaser and approved by the Director of Finance.  The entire principal amount may be 
represented by a single note and may be issued as fully registered securities (for which the 
Director of Finance will serve as note registrar) and in book entry or other uncertificated form in 
accordance with Section 9.96 and Chapter 133 of the Ohio Revised Code if it is determined by 
the Director of Finance that issuance of fully registered securities in that form will facilitate the 
sale and delivery of the Notes.  The Notes shall not have coupons attached, shall be numbered as 
determined by the Director of Finance and shall express upon their faces the purpose, in 
summary terms, for which they are issued and that they are issued pursuant to this Ordinance.  
As used in this Section and this Ordinance: 

“Book entry form” or “book entry system” means a form or system under which (a) the 
ownership of beneficial interests in the Notes and the principal of and interest on the Notes may 
be transferred only through a book entry, and (b) a single physical Note certificate in fully 
registered form is issued by the City and payable only to a Depository or its nominee as 
registered owner, with the certificate deposited with and “immobilized” in the custody of the 
Depository or its designated agent for that purpose.  The book entry maintained by others than 
the City is the record that identifies the owners of beneficial interests in the Notes and that 
principal and interest. 



- 3 - 

“Depository” means any securities depository that is a clearing agency registered 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, operating and 
maintaining, with its Participants or otherwise, a book entry system to record ownership of 
beneficial interests in the Notes or the principal of and interest on the Notes, and to effect 
transfers of the Notes, in book entry form, and includes and means initially The Depository Trust 
Company (a limited purpose trust company), New York, New York. 

“Participant” means any participant contracting with a Depository under a book entry 
system and includes securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies and clearing 
corporations. 

The Notes may be issued to a Depository for use in a book entry system and, if and as 
long as a book entry system is utilized, (a) the Notes may be issued in the form of a single Note 
made payable to the Depository or its nominee and immobilized in the custody of the Depository 
or its agent for that purpose; (b) the beneficial owners in book entry form shall have no right to 
receive the Notes in the form of physical securities or certificates; (c) ownership of beneficial 
interests in book entry form shall be shown by book entry on the system maintained and operated 
by the Depository and its Participants, and transfers of the ownership of beneficial interests shall 
be made only by book entry by the Depository and its Participants; and (d) the Notes as such 
shall not be transferable or exchangeable, except for transfer to another Depository or to another 
nominee of a Depository, without further action by the City. 

If any Depository determines not to continue to act as a Depository for the Notes for use 
in a book entry system, the Director of Finance may attempt to establish a securities 
depository/book entry relationship with another qualified Depository.  If the Director of Finance 
does not or is unable to do so, the Director of Finance, after making provision for notification of 
the beneficial owners by the then Depository and any other arrangements deemed necessary, 
shall permit withdrawal of the Notes from the Depository, and shall cause the Notes in bearer or 
payable form to be signed by the officers authorized to sign the Notes and delivered to the 
assigns of the Depository or its nominee, all at the cost and expense (including any costs of 
printing), if the event is not the result of City action or inaction, of those persons requesting such 
issuance. 

The Director of Finance is also hereby authorized and directed, to the extent necessary or 
required, to enter into any agreements determined necessary in connection with the book entry 
system for the Notes, after determining that the signing thereof will not endanger the funds or 
securities of the City. 

Section 6.  The Notes shall be sold at not less than par plus accrued interest (if any) at 
private sale by the Director of Finance in accordance with law and the provisions of this 
Ordinance.  The Director of Finance shall sign the Certificate of Award referred to in Section 3 
fixing the interest rate or rates which the Notes shall bear and evidencing that sale to the original 
purchaser, cause the Notes to be prepared, and have the Notes signed and delivered, together 
with a true transcript of proceedings with reference to the issuance of the Notes if requested by 
the original purchaser, to the original purchaser upon payment of the purchase price.  The City 
Manager, the Director of Finance, the City Attorney, the City Clerk and other City officials, as 
appropriate, and any person serving in an interim or acting capacity for any such official, are 



- 4 - 

each authorized and directed to sign any transcript certificates, financial statements and other 
documents and instruments and to take such actions as are necessary or appropriate to 
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Ordinance.  The actions of the City Manager, 
the Director of Finance, the City Attorney, the City Clerk or other City official, as appropriate, in 
doing any and all acts necessary in connection with the issuance and sale of the Notes are hereby 
ratified and confirmed.  The Director of Finance is authorized, if it is determined to be in the best 
interest of the City, to combine the issue of Notes with one or more other note issues of the City 
into a consolidated note issue pursuant to Section 133.30(B) of the Ohio Revised Code. 

Section 7.  The proceeds from the sale of the Notes received by the City (or withheld by 
the original purchaser or deposited with the Paying Agent, in each case on behalf of the City) 
shall be paid into the proper fund or funds, and those proceeds are appropriated and shall be used 
for the purpose for which the Notes are being issued.  The Certificate of Award may authorize 
the original purchaser to (a) withhold certain proceeds from the sale of the Notes or (b) remit 
certain proceeds from the sale of the Notes to the Paying Agent, in each case to provide for the 
payment of certain financing costs on behalf of the City.  If proceeds are remitted to the Paying 
Agent in accordance with this Section 7, the Paying Agent shall be authorized to create a fund in 
accordance with the Certificate of Award for that purpose.  Any portion of those proceeds 
received by the City (after payment of those financing costs) representing premium or accrued 
interest shall be paid into the Bond Retirement Fund. 

Section 8.  The par value to be received from the sale of the Bonds or of any renewal 
notes and any excess funds resulting from the issuance of the Notes shall, to the extent necessary, 
be used to pay the debt charges on the Notes at maturity and are pledged for that purpose. 

Section 9.  During the year or years in which the Notes are outstanding, there shall be 
levied on all the taxable property in the City, in addition to all other taxes, the same tax that 
would have been levied if the Bonds had been issued without the prior issuance of the Notes.  
The tax shall be within the ten-mill limitation imposed by law, shall be and is ordered computed, 
certified, levied and extended upon the tax duplicate and collected by the same officers, in the 
same manner, and at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of those years are 
certified, levied, extended and collected, and shall be placed before and in preference to all other 
items and for the full amount thereof.  The proceeds of the tax levy shall be placed in the Bond 
Retirement Fund, which is irrevocably pledged for the payment of the debt charges on the Notes 
or the Bonds when and as the same fall due. 

In each year to the extent receipts from the municipal income tax are available for the 
payment of the debt charges on the Notes or the Bonds and are appropriated for that purpose, the 
amount of the tax shall be reduced by the amount of such receipts so available and appropriated 
in compliance with the following covenant.  To the extent necessary, the debt charges on the 
Notes or the Bonds shall be paid from municipal income taxes lawfully available therefor under 
the Constitution and laws of the State of Ohio and the Charter of the City; and the City hereby 
covenants, subject and pursuant to such authority, including particularly Section 133.05(B)(7) of 
the Ohio Revised Code, to appropriate annually from such municipal income taxes such amount 
as is necessary to meet such annual debt charges. 



- 5 - 

Nothing in the preceding paragraph in any way diminishes the irrevocable pledge of the 
full faith and credit and general property taxing power of the City to the prompt payment of the 
debt charges on the Notes or the Bonds. 

Section 10.  The City covenants that it will use, and will restrict the use and investment 
of, the proceeds of the Notes in such manner and to such extent as may be necessary so that 
(a) the Notes will not (i) constitute private activity bonds or arbitrage bonds under Sections 141 
or 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or (ii) be treated other 
than as bonds the interest on which is excluded from gross income under Section 103 of the 
Code, and (b) the interest on the Notes will not be an item of tax preference under Section 57 of 
the Code. 

The City further covenants that (a) it will take or cause to be taken such actions that may 
be required of it for the interest on the Notes to be and remain excluded from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes, (b) it will not take or authorize to be taken any actions that would 
adversely affect that exclusion, and (c) it, or persons acting for it, will, among other acts of 
compliance, (i) apply the proceeds of the Notes to the governmental purpose of the borrowing, 
(ii) restrict the yield on investment property, (iii) make timely and adequate payments to the 
federal government, (iv) maintain books and records and make calculations and reports and 
(v) refrain from certain uses of those proceeds, and, as applicable, of property financed with such 
proceeds, all in such manner and to the extent necessary to assure such exclusion of that interest 
under the Code. 

The Director of Finance or any other officer of the City having responsibility for issuance 
of the Notes is hereby authorized (a) to make or effect any election, selection, designation, 
choice, consent, approval, or waiver on behalf of the City with respect to the Notes as the City is 
permitted to or required to make or give under the federal income tax laws, including, without 
limitation thereto, any of the elections available under Section 148 of the Code, for the purpose 
of assuring, enhancing or protecting favorable tax treatment or status of the Notes or interest 
thereon or assisting compliance with requirements for that purpose, reducing the burden or 
expense of such compliance, reducing the rebate amount or payments or penalties with respect to 
the Notes, or making payments of special amounts in lieu of making computations to determine, 
or paying, excess earnings as rebate, or obviating those amounts or payments with respect to the 
Notes, which action shall be in writing and signed by the officer, (b) to take any and all other 
actions, make or obtain calculations, make payments, and make or give reports, covenants and 
certifications of and on behalf of the City, as may be appropriate to assure the exclusion of 
interest from gross income and the intended tax status of the Notes, and (c) to give one or more 
appropriate certificates of the City, for inclusion in the transcript of proceedings for the Notes, 
setting forth the reasonable expectations of the City regarding the amount and use of all the 
proceeds of the Notes, the facts, circumstances and estimates on which they are based, and other 
facts and circumstances relevant to the tax treatment of the interest on and the tax status of the 
Notes.  The Director of Finance or any other officer of the City having responsibility for issuance 
of the Notes is specifically authorized to designate the Notes as “qualified tax-exempt 
obligations” if such designation is applicable and desirable, and to make any related necessary 
representations and covenants. 



- 6 - 

Section 11.  The Director of Finance is directed to promptly deliver or cause to be 
delivered a certified copy of this Ordinance to the County Auditor of Delaware County, Ohio. 

Section 12.  The Director of Finance is authorized to request a rating for the Notes from 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or S&P Global Ratings, or both, as the Director of Finance 
determines is in the best interest of the City.  The expenditure of the amounts necessary to secure 
any such ratings as well as to pay the other financing costs (as defined in Section 133.01 of the 
Ohio Revised Code) in connection with the Notes is hereby authorized and approved and the 
amounts necessary to pay those costs are hereby appropriated from the proceeds of the Notes, if 
available, and otherwise from available moneys in the General Fund. 

Section 13.  The legal services of the law firm of Squire Patton Boggs (US) LLP are 
hereby retained.  Those legal services shall be in the nature of legal advice and recommendations 
as to the documents and the proceedings in connection with the authorization, sale and issuance 
of the Notes and securities issued in renewal of the Notes and rendering at delivery related legal 
opinions, all as set forth in the form of engagement letter from that firm which is now on file in 
the office of the City Clerk.  In providing those legal services, as an independent contractor and 
in an attorney-client relationship, that firm shall not exercise any administrative discretion on 
behalf of this City in the formulation of public policy, expenditure of public funds, enforcement 
of laws, rules and regulations of the State, any county or municipal corporation or of this City, or 
the execution of public trusts.  For those legal services that firm shall be paid just and reasonable 
compensation and shall be reimbursed for actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred in providing 
those legal services.  The Director of Finance is authorized and directed to make appropriate 
certification as to the availability of funds for those fees and any reimbursement and to issue an 
appropriate order for their timely payment as written statements are submitted by that firm.  The 
amounts necessary to pay those fees and any reimbursement are hereby appropriated from the 
proceeds of the Notes, if available, and otherwise from available moneys in the General Fund. 

Section 14.  The services of Rockmill Financial Consulting, LLC, as municipal advisor, 
are hereby retained.  The municipal advisory services shall be in the nature of financial advice 
and recommendations in connection with the issuance and sale of the Notes.  In rendering those 
municipal advisory services, as an independent contractor, that firm shall not exercise any 
administrative discretion on behalf of the City in the formulation of public policy, expenditure of 
public funds, enforcement of laws, rules and regulations of the State, the City or any other 
political subdivision, or the execution of public trusts.  That firm shall be paid just and 
reasonable compensation for those municipal advisory services and shall be reimbursed for the 
actual out-of-pocket expenses it incurs in rendering those municipal advisory services.  The 
Director of Finance is authorized and directed to make appropriate certification as to the 
availability of funds for those fees and any reimbursement and to issue an appropriate order for 
their timely payment as written statements are submitted by that firm.  The amounts necessary to 
pay those fees and any reimbursement are hereby appropriated from the proceeds of the Notes, if 
available, and otherwise from available moneys in the General Fund. 

Section 15.  This Council determines that all acts and conditions necessary to be done or 
performed by the City or to have been met precedent to and in the issuing of the Notes in order to 
make them legal, valid and binding general obligations of the City have been performed and 
have been met, or will at the time of delivery of the Notes have been performed and have been 



- 7 - 

met, in regular and due form as required by law; that the full faith and credit and general 
property taxing power (as described in Section 9) of the City are pledged for the timely payment 
of the debt charges on the Notes; and that no statutory or constitutional limitation of 
indebtedness or taxation will have been exceeded in the issuance of the Notes. 

Section 16.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of this Council and 
any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of this Ordinance were taken in an 
open meeting of this Council or any of its committees, and that all deliberations of this Council 
and of any of its committees that resulted in those formal actions were in meetings open to the 
public, all in compliance with the law, including Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code. 

Section 17.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect on the earliest date permitted 
by law. 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION: YEAS _____ NAYS _____ 
 ABSTAIN _____ 
 
 
PASSED:  , 2020 YEAS _____ NAYS _____ 
 ABSTAIN _____ 
 
 
ATTEST:      
 CITY CLERK   MAYOR 
 





 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 25 
 

Update and Discussion 
of 2020-2024 Capital 

Improvement Program 



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor Riggle and Members of City Council 
CC: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager and Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
VIA: Alycia Ballone, Budget and Management Analyst 
DATE:  March 4, 2019 
RE: Review of the 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Plan 

Included in Council’s packet is an update to the Capital Improvement Plan. 

General Fund Summary (Page 1) 
The following items have been changed on the General Fund Summary: 

• The Balance Forward was updated per Finance Director, Justin Nahvi. 
• Revenues were updated to reflect the projections of the 2020 budget’s income tax 

forecast with modest, 0.5% increases in revenues for the years 2021 through 2024. 
• Highlighted is the General Fund allocation to Street Improvements as this has 

changed with the proposed supplementals. 

Street Improvements (Page 2) 
On the Streets Improvements page, there are three items highlighted.  The first two of these 
lines, ODOT URP Street Resurfacing Supplemental and Local Resurfacing Supplemental, 
reflect supplemental appropriations that were passed earlier this year.   The third 
highlighted line is a supplemental of $300,000 for East William Street improvements. 

Park Impact Fee Improvement Fund (Page 3) 
The Park Impact Fee Improvement Fund reflects two changes: Ross Street Park 
Improvements and Delaware Run Feasibility Study. 

The 2019-2023 Capital Improvement Plan included $175,000 in planned funding 
appropriations for Ross Street Park.  During the 2020-2024 Capital Improvement Plan, this 
number was inadvertently reduced to $75,000.  The highlighted line reflects a 
supplemental appropriation of $100,000 to cover the costs associated with phase one of 
this project.  More details on the Ross Street park are available with the project narrative 
on page six. 

The second addition is a supplemental request for $64,000 for a feasibility study related to 
the Delaware Run trail.  This would not include any construction costs and would be only 



 
 

 

for CSX review, a feasibility study, and, if possible, design work.  More information can be 
found in the project description sheet on page seven. 

While there is no line item yet for the Bruce Road Path (formerly referred to as the 
BROPATH), included on page eight is an updated project sheet for the path.  City Staff is in 
negotiations to secure easements and will be coming back to Council once an estimate of 
the costs is available. 

Storm Water Fund (Page 4) 
The change in the Storm Water Fund is for the storm repair portion of the East William 
Street project in the amount of $100,000.  This is included with the proposed East William 
Street supplemental appropriation. 

Water Fund Capacity Projects (Page 5) 
The Glenn Parkway Water Line Extension in the amount of $636,000 was inadvertently 
omitted from the 2020 budget.  This CIP update includes the omission. 

 

 

 



                                                                            CITY OF DELAWARE

                                                                 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

                                                                    GENERAL FUND SUMMARY
                                                                                  2020 - 2024

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

BALANCE FORWARD 1,050,000 119,439 78,791 313,824 1,256,907

REVENUES:

  INCOME TAX  (14% of  net 1% Collections) 2,394,059 2,406,029 2,418,059 2,430,149 2,442,300

  CITY HALL ANNEX RENT 78,000 78,000 78,000 78,000 78,000

     BALANCE PLUS REVENUE 3,522,059 2,603,468 2,574,850 2,821,973 3,777,208

EXPENDITURES:

   DEBT SERVICE

      2012 Streetscape ($2,542,516 through 2022) 269,904 261,067 263,538 0 0

      2019 City Hall/Annex (through 2034) 60,000 95,000 149,850 204,500 208,500

      2019 Software Systems (through 2024) 269,973 304,659 337,566 340,566 337,965

       TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 599,877 660,726 750,954 545,066 546,465

 AMOUNT AVAILABLE FOR CAPITAL
   IMPROVEMENTS AFTER DEBT 2,922,182 1,942,742 1,823,896 2,276,907 3,230,743

  OTHER EXPENDITURES

      AIRPORT IMPROVEMENTS  (pg. 4) 0 0 1,307 0 0

      STREET IMPROVEMENTS  (pg. 7) 1,348,727 726,527 255,765 0 326,976

      PARK IMPROVEMENTS  (pg. 17) 350,000 63,000 208,000 60,000 190,000

      EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT (pg. 20) 833,016 779,424 735,000 600,000 650,000

      BUILDING MAINTENANCE  (pg. 28) 171,000 195,000 210,000 260,000 200,000

      UNANTICIPATED PROJECTS 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000

     TOTAL OTHER EXPENDITURES 2,802,743 1,863,951 1,510,072 1,020,000 1,466,976

ENDING BALANCE 119,439 78,791 313,824 1,256,907 1,763,767



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
STREET IMPROVEMENTS

                                                                                2020 - 2024
 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

REVENUES:

  PERMISSIVE TAX (License Fee Fund) 432,280 436,603 440,969 445,379 449,832

  STATE LICENSE FEES 18,393 18,577 18,763 18,950 19,140

  STATE GASOLINE TAXES 90,900 91,809 92,727 93,654 94,591

  NEW GASOLINE TAXES 758,395 765,979 773,639 781,375 789,189

  NEW LICENSE FEES ($5) 0 223,500 225,735 227,992 230,272

  SIDEWALK ASSESSMENTS 221,930 96,630 96,330 84,670 75,000
    CIP Allocation 1,348,727 726,527 255,765 0 326,976

        TOTAL REVENUE 2,870,625 2,359,625 1,903,927 1,652,021 1,985,000

EXPENDITURES:      

   DEBT SERVICE

    Bonds - S. Houk Road (through 2022) 29,625 29,625 28,927 0 0

       TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 29,625 29,625 28,927 0 0

STREET RESURFACING 

     City Grant Match Street Resurfacing 180,000 355,000 355,000 180,000 430,000

     ODOT URP Street Resurfacing Supplemental 158,000

     ODOT URP Street Resurfacing City Match 180,000 200,000 0 0 175,000

     City Street Resurfacing -

       Local Resurfacing Supplemental 81,000

       Local Streets 800,000 900,000 900,000 900,000 900,000

       Administrative/Inspection 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

       TOTAL STREET RESURFACING 1,449,000 1,505,000 1,305,000 1,130,000 1,555,000

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS

     City Grant Match Transportation Improvements 235,000     

     Point Project City Funds 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

     Bridge Improvements 50,000  150,000   

  E William St Supplemental 300,000

     US 23/36 Exit Bin Wall Improvement 50,000

     Signal Improvements (APS/Safety/RRFB) 75,000 25,000 20,000 40,000 30,000

     Carson Farms Signal 25,000 250,000

     US 23/Springfield Branch Bridge Repair  150,000

     Curtis St. Intersection (Dev Trust City Share) 27,000

     Fiber System Expansion 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

     Hills-Miller Sidewalk (Dev Trust City Share) 55,000

     Downtown Sidewalk Repairs                  150,000

     Downtown Arch 25,000

     Sidewalk Improvements 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

       TOTAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS 1,392,000 825,000 570,000 440,000 430,000

     TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,870,625 2,359,625 1,903,927 1,570,000 1,985,000



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
PARK IMPACT FEE  IMPROVEMENT FUND

 2020 - 2024

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

BALANCE FORWARD 2,068,689 1,671,689 1,575,689 2,050,689 1,775,689

REVENUES:
 Impact Fees 350,000 225,000 225,000 225,000 225,000

 Trail Improvement Grants 250,000

 TOTAL REVENUES 350,000 225,000 475,000 225,000 225,000

EXPENDITURES:
 COMMUNITY PARK IMPROVEMENTS

 Ross St. Park Improvement 175,000

 South Community Park Land Acquisition 18,000 500,000 345,000

 COMMUNITY TRAIL IMPROVEMENTS
 Central Avenue Pedestrian Corridor 490,000

 Delaware Run Feasibility Study 64,000

 Stratford/Olentangy Trail (Meeker-Chapman) 321,000

 Olentangy River Trail (Pollock Rd) 100,000 100,000

 TOTAL IMPACT FEE EXPENDITURES 747,000 321,000 0 500,000 345,000

IMPACT FEE BALANCE 1,671,689 1,575,689 2,050,689 1,775,689 1,655,689

Debt Balance Outstanding 0 0 0 0 0



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN
STORM WATER FUND

 2020 - 2024

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

BALANCES FORWARD 2,113,380 1,597,367 1,272,933 1,040,211 1,044,334

REVENUES:
 Storm Water Fees 328,987 335,566 342,278 349,123 356,106

 TOTAL REVENUE 328,987 335,566 342,278 349,123 356,106

EXPENDITURES:
 Storm Water Repair 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000

 Storm Water I&I Remediation 100,000 100,000 100,000

 Bernard Avenue (Sandusky to Liberty St.) 400,000

 Montrose/Columbus/Toledo 200,000

 Vernon Ave. 135,000

 Chamberlain/Channing St. 350,000

 Pittsburgh Drive 200,000

 E William St Storm Repair 100,000

 US23 Storm Repair (ODOT) 250,000

 Cemetery Storm Pipe 500,000

 Equipment Replacement 70,000 20,000

 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 845,000 660,000 575,000 345,000 725,000

ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,597,367 1,272,933 1,040,211 1,044,334 675,440



 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
 WATER FUND CAPACITY PROJECTS

 2020 - 2024

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

10,619,957 10,201,977 9,710,995 8,947,987 8,186,257

REVENUES:
 Water Capacity Fees 2,000,000 1,500,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000

 Water Debt Meter Fee Allocation 0 0 0 0 0

 TOTAL REVENUES 2,000,000 1,500,000 1,200,000 1,200,000 1,200,000

EXPENDITURES:

 DEBT SERVICE
 Westside Trans Line ($2,225,051, 25 yrs, 3.67%, 2036) 136,750 136,750 136,750 136,750 136,750

 Penry Rd. Waterline ($1,000,000, 25 yrs, 3.55%, 2037) 62,976 62,976 62,976 62,976 62,976

 Kingman Hill Tower ($3,545,000, 25 yrs, 4.51%, 2031) 211,228 210,230 212,256 210,978 208,110

 Plant Expansion ($9,600,000, 25yrs., 3.23%, 2039) 551,026 551,026 551,026 551,026 551,026

 TOTAL DEBT SERVICE 961,980 960,982 963,008 961,730 958,862

 WATER SYSTEM IMPROVMENTS
 Water Master Plan 100,000

 DISTRIBUTION CAPACITY PROJECTS
 Panhandle to US 42 Water Main 570,000 570,000
 Braumiller Rd. 16" Water Main 160,000 800,000 800,000
 Glenn Pkwy Water Line Extension 636,000
 Hills Miller to Buttermilk Hill 175,000
 New Line Oversizing/Extension 250,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

 TOTAL WATER CAPACITY PROJECTS 1,456,000 1,030,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 375,000

ENDING FUND BALANCE 10,201,977 9,710,995 8,947,987 8,186,257 8,052,395



2020-2025 Capital Improvement Plan 

4th Draft 

MARCH 3, 2020 PARK IMPACT FEE IMPROVEMENT FUND 

INFORMATION AT 
A  GLANCE 

------------- 

COST 
 $175,000 

------------- 
FUNDING 

Park Improvements 

 $175,000 

------------- 

PROJECTED SCHEDULE 

Construction   2020 

------------- 

DESIGN CONSULTANT 

------------- 

CITY LEAD 

JP Linkous 

(740)-203-1402 
Jlinkous@delawareohio.net 

Unity Park Expansion (aka Ross Street Park) 
Purpose –The Unity Park will be expanded to include the former Parks and 
Natural Resource maintenance area. Concepts were introduced to the 
community in fall 2019 and a final master plan developed in early 2020. The 
entire project will involve multiple phases. These costs reflect the initial 
phase. 

Project Justification: The Unity Park expansion will provide additional 
programming space for a park that has outgrown its existing amenities. The 
Community Coalition and SWCI will be active partners in future 
programming for the park. In addition, a public survey and public meetings 
have taken place to help guide the master plan for the park.  

Building Demolition and removal- $35,000 
New Parking lot- $125,000 
Landscaping- $15,000 

Financing 
The project is estimated at $75,000.  The City has identified the Park Impact 
Fee Improvement Fund to develop the expansion. 

Status 
Bids will be requested in spring 2020 with construction in summer 2020. 



2020-2025 Capital Improvement Plan 

4th Draft 

MARCH 3, 2020 PARK IMPACT FEE IMPROVEMENT FUND 

INFORMATION AT 
A  GLANCE 

------------- 

COST 
 $64,000 

------------- 
FUNDING 

Park Impact Fee 
Improvement Fund 

$64,000 

------------- 

PROJECTED SCHEDULE 

Design  2020 

------------- 

DESIGN CONSULTANT 
CSX 

Patrick Engineering 
------------- 

CITY LEAD 

P&NR 

Delaware Run Greenway Corridor- 
Blue Limestone Park to Hidden Valley Golf Course
Purpose – The proposed project would open up the Delaware Run corridor 
for connectivity, natural interpretation and greenway preservation. The 
initial phase would connect Blue Limestone Park to Grady Memorial 
Hospital. It involves crossing a CSX railroad owned parcel and RR tunnel. 
Per CSX requirements, the plan will need a feasibility study that will need to 
be reviewed by CSX. The feasibility study is estimated at $16,000 and the 
CSX review is estimated at $15,000. If the project is approved by CSX the 
design phase would begin at a cost of $33,000. 

Impact on Operating Expenses: The initial trail is proposed as a gravel 
surface and a majority of the trail will be on currently owned city parcels. 
Additional hours will be spent on maintaining and patrolling the trail. 

Financing 
The project is anticipated to cost roughly $64,000.  The City has identified 
the Park Impact Fee Improvement Fund to develop the expansion.. 

Status 
Design phase is proposed for 2020. 



2020-2025 Capital Improvement Plan 

4th Draft 

MARCH 3, 2020 PARK IMPACT FEE IMPROVEMENT FUND 

INFORMATION AT 
A  GLANCE 

------------- 

COST 
TBD

------------- 
FUNDING 

Park Impact Fee 
Improvement Fund 

------------- 

PROJECTED SCHEDULE 

2020-2021 

------------- 

DESIGN CONSULTANT 

------------- 

CITY LEAD 

Ted Miller 

(740)-203-1452 
tmiller@delawareohio.net 

Oakhurst Trail- B.R.O.P.A.T.H. 
Purpose –A proposed trail from Oakhurst Park to Pinecrest Drive has been 
prioritized by City Staff and citizens looking for a safe active transportation 
route on the north side of the City.   

The proposed trail is approximately 1,400 lf 
with a crushed gravel surface. The section 
would be the first link that is ultimately 
planned to travel through the fairgrounds to 
Pennsylvania Avenue. 

Financing 

Status 
Staff is currently trying to negotiate 
easements with the property owner. If 
easements are able to be secured and cost 
estimates can be determined, then a request 
will be made to council for construction of 
the trail.  



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  26    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-21    RESOLUTION NO:   
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
        
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: Justin Nahvi, Finance Director  
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR THE HOUSING PROGRAM INCOME 
FUND. 

BACKGROUND:   
The City of Delaware has previously participated in the HOME grant program 
that provides funding to rehab residential properties for homeowners that quality 
for the grant based on their income level.  A stipulation of these grants requires 
the homeowner to refund a portion of the grant award back to the City if the 
property is refinanced or sold to another owner.  The City recently received 
$8,150 from a homeowner that previously received a HOME grant and the funds 
were issued as the property was conveyed to a new owner.  The State of Ohio 
does not require that this repayment be transferred back to the State agency 
that administers these grants. As such, the Planning and Community 
Development Department has proposed releasing these funds to Habitat for 
Humanity of Delaware & Union Counties to assist the organization in meetings 
its objectives in the community with regards to housing.   
 
 
 
 
 



REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
The enclosed ordinance has been submitted for Council consideration as there 
are no appropriations allocated in the 2020 budget within the Housing Program 
Income Fund (Fund 296) to accommodate the distribution of these monies to 
Habitat for Humanity. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:  
Not Applicable 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S):   
This proposed distribution of the $8,150 will have no negative impact on the 
Housing Program Income Fund (Fund 296). 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Not Applicable 
 
PRESENTER(S):  
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
None 



ORDINANCE 20-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR THE HOUSING 
PROGAM INCOME FUND. 

 
 WHEREAS the City of Delaware has historically received HOME grant 
funding that is awarded to residents for housing rehabilitation assistance based 
on eligibility requirements generally associated with household income; and   
 

WHEREAS these grant awards to homeowners include stipulations that if 
a property is refinanced or sold within a pre-defined period of time that a portion 
of the grant will need to be repaid to the City; and 

 
WHEREAS the City of Delaware recently received $8,150 from a past 

award recipient in relation to the transfer of ownership for a property; and 
 
WHEREAS these monies are not required to be released back to the State 

of Ohio and the Planning & Community Development Department has proposed 
releasing these funds to Habitat for Humanity of Delaware & Union Counties, an 
eligible grantee, in support of the organization’s mission to provide housing for 
individuals or families in need of assistance within the City of Delaware. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1: That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Housing Program Income Fund (Fund 296) $8,150 increasing the 
following account: 

 
HOME Expenditures (296.2960.5520)   $8,150 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  27    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-22    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: Justin Nahvi, Finance Director  
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR THE EAST WILLIAM STREET 
PROJECT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Public Works Department is currently administering roadway 
improvements to E William Street for which $4,250,000 in project costs were 
outlined in the 2020 Capital Improvement Plan.  Of the total project costs, the 
local funding allocation was $971,382 of which $300,000 would be financed 
through City utility funds and the balance, $671,382 would be financed by City 
capital improvement funds. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
In relation to increasing materials and labor costs, coupled with an insufficient 
budget allocation for contingency funding on the project, the Public Works 
Department has identified a need for $300,000 in supplemental appropriations 
from the Capital Improvement Fund (Fund 410) to financially sustain the 
roadway improvements.  In addition, through ongoing construction 
improvements to East William Street, the Public Works Department has also 
identified a need for $100,000 in unexpected utility related improvements 
requiring supplemental appropriations from the Storm Sewer Fund (Fund 203).  
Council may recall City Engineer and Public Works Director, Bill Ferrigno 



bringing up the possibility of this supplemental during the budget review on 
December 9, 2019. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The unencumbered cash balance in the Storm Sewer Fund (Fund 203) is 
currently $1.5 million and this increase of $100,000 in project costs will not 
negatively impact the cash sufficiency balance for this enterprise fund.  In 
addition, there is a sufficient cash balance in the Capital Improvement Fund 
(Fund 410) to absorb the referenced project increase in the amount of 
$300,000 per this fact sheet. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
Bill Ferrigno, City Engineer & Public Works Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
None 



ORDINANCE 20-22  
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR THE EAST WILLIAM 
STREET PROJECT AND DECLARING AN 
EMERGENCY. 

 
  

WHEREAS $4,250,000 in project costs were outlined in the 2020 Capital 
Improvement Plan for improvements to East William Street; and   

 
WHEREAS of the total project costs for the roadway improvements, 

$300,000 would be drawn from City Utility funds and $671,382 from City Capital 
Improvement funds equaling a total local share of the project in the amount of 
$971,382; and   

 
WHEREAS due to increasing material and labor costs, coupled with an 

insufficient budget allocation in contingency funding for this project, the Public 
Works Department has identified the need for $300,000 in supplemental 
appropriations to be drawn from the Capital Improvement Fund (Fund 410) to 
finalize this project; and 

 
WHEREAS during the current construction progress to East William 

Street, the Public Works Department has also identified the need for an 
additional $100,000 in stormwater improvements for utility related repairs to be 
drawn from the Storm Sewer Fund (Fund 203). 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1: That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Capital Improvement Fund increasing the following account: 

 
US 36/E. William St. Corridor (410.4104.5541)   $300,000 
 
SECTION 2: That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 

balance of the Storm Sewer Fund increasing the following account: 
 
US 36/E. William St. Corridor (203.0204.5541)   $100,000 
 
 
 
 
 



 
SECTION 3.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
SECTION 4.  EMERGENCY CLAUSE.  That this ordinance is hereby 

declared to be an emergency measure necessary to provide for the public peace, 
safety, health and welfare of the City and for the further reason to provide for a 
sufficient level of appropriations to complete the roadway improvements for East 
William Street and as such will be in full force and effect immediately upon its 
passage. 

 
 

VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
VOTE ON EMERGENCY CLAUSE   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  28    DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-23    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR WATER MAIN EXTENSIONS 
ASSOCIATED WITH THE GLENN PARKWAY PROJECT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Public Works Department will be coordinating on the extension of Glenn 
Parkway to Berlin Station in 2020 which will include the extension of water 
lines for this project.  Appropriations were separately allocated in the 2019 
fiscal year for the water line extension, however; this specific portion of the 
overall project was not executed in the prior year. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
Appropriations for water line extensions were not included in the 2020 
Approved Budget within the Water Capacity Fee Fund (Fund 536).  The 
estimated cost of extending this utility in relation to the Glenn Parkway project 
is $636,000 which would need to be appropriated in the current year to finalize 
this roadway project. 
 
 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 



 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
The unencumbered cash balance in the Water Capacity Fee Fund (Fund 536) is 
currently $10.3 million and this project will have no negative impact on the 
cash sufficiency for the fund. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
 
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
Bill Ferrigno, City Engineer & Public Works Director 
Blake Jordan, Public Utilities Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 
None 



ORDINANCE 20-23 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR WATER MAIN 
EXENTSIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THE GLENN 
PARKWAY PROJECT. 

 
 WHEREAS in prior fiscal years appropriations were allocated for the costs 
associated with waterline extensions attributed to the Glenn Parkway project; 
and   

 
WHEREAS this waterline project was not executed in the 2019 fiscal year 

and the subsequent appropriations were not included for the 2020 budget 
period; and   

 
WHEREAS the estimated cost for the waterline extension portion of the 

Glenn Parkway project are $636,000 to be drawn from the Water Capacity Fee 
Fund (Fund 536); and 

 
WHEREAS supplemental appropriations are needed to sustain the 

completion of this project. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1: That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Water Capacity Fee Fund increasing the following account: 

 
Glenn Rd Waterline Extension (536.5316.5536)   $636,000 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  29     DATE: 03/09/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-24    RESOLUTION NO:   
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
        
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA: Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE 
TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR PARKLAND AND TRAILWAY 
DEVELOPMENT IMPROVEMENTS. 

BACKGROUND:   
The 2019 Capital Improvement Plan included planned funding allocation for the 
Ross Street Park in the amount $175,000, while inadvertently the 2020 Capital 
Improvement Plan included planned funding allocation of only $75,000 for this 
project.  The estimates for the first phase (parking area with storm 
improvements, building removal and landscaping) came in at $175,000. 
 
The 2020 Capital Improvement Plan did not include any work related to Delaware 
Run.  The Parks Department is requesting $64,000 in funding be appropriated 
to complete the CSX review, feasibility study and design work. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
Park’s CIP projects that were not approved within the 2020 Budget include 
$64,000 for design services relating to the Delaware Run future trail way 
improvements as well as $100,000 for park improvements to the Ross Street 
Park.  These two projects would be budgeted from the Park Impact Fees 
Improvement Fund (Fund 491) for a total cost of $164,000.   
 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:  
Not Applicable 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S):   
The Park Impact Fees Improvement Fund (Fund 491) currently has an 
unencumbered cash balance of $2.1 million and the additional capital 
expenditures in 2020 will not have an impact on the cash sufficiency balance in 
the fund.   
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
Not Applicable 
 
PRESENTER(S):  
Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
Ted Miller, Parks & Natural Resources Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
None 



ORDINANCE 20-24  
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPLEMENTING THE 2020 
APPROPRIATIONS ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR PARKLAND AND 
TRAILWAY DEVELOPMENT IMPROVEMENTS. 

  
WHEREAS, the 2019 Capital Improvement Plan included planned funding 

allocation for the Ross Street Park in the amount $175,000, while inadvertently 
the 2020 Capital Improvement Plan included planned funding allocation of only 
$75,000 for this project; and   

 
WHEREAS, the 2020 Capital Improvement Plan did not include any 

funding allocation for work related to the Delaware Run trail feasibility study, a 
cost of $64,000; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Parks Department has requested a total of $164,000 in 

supplemental appropriations from the Park Impact Fees Improvement Fund 
(Fund 491) to support these projects.   

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1: That there is hereby appropriated from the unencumbered 
balance of the Park Impact Fees Improvement Fund increasing the following 
account: 

 
Professional Services                   (491.4910.5230)  $64,000 
Ross St. Parkland Improvements (491.4910.5546)  $100,000 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020   YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 



City Manager Report 20200309 
 

 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: March 5, 2020 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 See Attached 
 
3. Manager Meetings/Events 
 February 19 
  Strand Meeting  
 February 24 
  City Council 
 February 25 
  State of the County 
  Tax Incentive Review Council 
 February 27 
  MS Consultants General ED Services Kickoff 
 March 2 
  Rotary 
  Council Work Session 
 March 3 
  911 Board Meeting 
 March 4-5 
  OCMA Winter Conference  
  
   
 
  
  
  
  



CONTRACT APPROVAL – March 5, 2020 
 

VENDOR 
 

EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT 
2020 

AMOUNT 
 

DEPARTMENT 
MS Consultants Economic Development $7,500 CMO 
OhioHealth OhioHealth Employer Services 

Agreement Biometrics 
$5400 DAS 

Robert-Half International, Inc Renews expired contract with 
Accountemps 

Varies DAS 

CoHatch Membership agreement NA ED 
Ohio Attorney General Delinquent debt collection NA Finance 
Department of Justice US DOS/US Treasury Equitable Sharing 

Agreement and Certification 
NA Police 

Quality Control Inspection 2020 RPR/Construction Inspection 
Professional Services 

Task order PW 

Lake Erie Construction Co. 2020 Guardrail and Fence Repair  NA PW 
The AeroMark Company 2020 Pavement Marking Maintenance 

Program 
66,843.33 PW 

Burgess & Niple Water distribution continuous status 
modeling 

10,000 PU 

 



March  
 

 

  2020 
Monthly Meeting Schedule  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

 Council Work Session 
6:30 PM 

 Civil Service-Cancelled 
Planning Commission – 
7 pm 

   

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 
 City Council 

7pm 
 BZA 6:30 pm-cancelled    

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 
  Parks and Recreation 

Advisory Board 6:30 pm 
    

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
 City Council  

7pm 
 Historic Preservation 

Commission 6:30 pm 
   

29 30 31     
       

       
       

 


	01 20200309council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20200224 council minutes
	03 20191022 shade tree minutes
	04 20191023 hpc minutes
	05 20200205 planning minutes
	06 Fact Sheet 20-23, Conger Elemenarty School Zone E. William St Ext
	07 RES 20-23, Conger Elementary School Zone Ext E. William St
	08 Conger Elementary School Zone E. William St Update Exhibit 012920 (small)
	09 ODOT Conger E. William St School Zone Ext Approval 022420
	10 Fact Sheet Res 20 -24, Cooperative Purchasing Program
	11 Res 20-24, Cooperative Purchasing Program
	12 fact sheet ord 19 -63 evans farm annex
	13 ord 19 -63, evans farm annex (2)
	14 NCA Forecast Scenarios 2-28-20
	1% Growth
	10% Growth
	25% Growth

	15 Evans Farm Memo
	16 Evans Farm NCA (002)
	17 Evans Farm NCA Analysis (Peachblow Site  - 25-Year NCA) (12.12.19) v2
	18 Granting of Prayer-Evans Farm Annex
	19 res 19-37, Evan Farms Res of Services
	20 Fact Sheet 20-05, 901
	21 Ordinance 20-05, Chapter 901 Update
	AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 901 OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE CODIFIED ORDINANCES TO BRING THE RULES AND REGULATIONS INTO CONFORMANCE WITH THE CURRENT RIGHT OF WAY BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES.

	22 CHAPTER_901. (DRAFT) 3.1.20
	23 Fact Sheet 20-06 909
	24 Ordinance 20-06 Chapter 909
	AN ORDINANCE REVISING SECTION 909 OF THE CITY OF DELAWARE CODE OF ORDINANCES ESTABLISHING GENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR THE MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR OF SIDEWALK WITHIN PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY.

	25   909 Sidewalks (Draft) 1.23.20
	26 Fact Sheet Res 20-20,  (Downtown SMP)
	27 Resolution of Necessity 20-20 (Downtown SMP)
	28   DRAFT 2020 Downtown SMP Specs
	29  Revised 2020 List & Estimate to Public Works Cmte
	30 Fact Sheet Res 20-21,  (SMP)
	31 Resolution of Necessity 20- 21,(SMP)
	32 DRAFT 2020 SMP Specs
	33 DRAFT 2020 SMP Deficiency List & Cost Estimate
	34 fact sheet res 20-25, res of services alshahal enterprises
	35 res 20-25,  res of services alshahal enterprises (002)
	37 alshahar annexation petition
	38 alshahal enterprises_annexation map
	40 factsheet ord 20-10, 2020-0258 Terra Alata REZ
	41 ord 20-10, 2020-0258 Terra Alta REZ Ordinance
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-10
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	42 factsheet ord 20-11, 2020-0259 Terra Alta  CUP
	43 ord 20-11, 2020-0259 Terra Alta CUP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-11
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	44 fast sheet ord 20-12, 2020-0260 Terr Alta APDP
	45 ord 20-12 , 2020-0260 Terra Alta  APDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-12
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	46 factsheet ord 20-13, 2020-0261 Terr Alta APSP
	47 ord 20-13, 2020-0261 Terra Alta  APSP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-13
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	49 terra alta staff amended report
	50 fact sheet ord 20-14, cpfdp sheetz
	51 ord 20-14, 2020-0225 Sheetz  CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-14
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	52 sheetz amended staff report
	53 Fact Sheet ord 20-15, 2020-0205 Communities at Glenross Section 16 FDP
	54 ord 20-15, 2020-0205 Communities at Glenross Section 16  FDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-15
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	55 fact sheet ord 20-16, 2020-0206 Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 1 FSP
	56 ord 20-16, 2020-0206 Communities at Glenross Section 16  Part 1 FSP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-16
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	57 fact sheet ord 20-17, 2020-02056 Communities at Glenross Section 16 Part 2 FSP
	58 ord 20-17, 2020-0207 Communities at Glenross Section 16  Part 2 FSP Ordiance
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-17
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	59 2020-0205-0207 communities at Glenross sec 16 staff
	60 Fact Sheet ord 20-18, 2020-0236 Enclaves at the Ravines at Olentangy FDP
	61 ord 20-18, 2020-0236 Enclaves at the Ravines of Olentangy FDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-18
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	62 Fact Sheet ord 20-19, 2020-0237 Enclaves at the Ravines at Olentangy FSP
	63 ord 20-19, 2020-0237 Enclaves at the Ravines of Olentangy FSP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-23
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	64 2020-0236-0237, enclave at ravines staff report
	65 fact sheet ord 20-20, bond glenn road
	66 ord 20-20 , bond glenn road
	67 20200220164949746
	68 AGENDA ITEM
	69 3.9.2020 CIP Review Memo
	70 3.9.2020 CIP Review
	GF Summary v2
	Streets Summary
	Park Impact Fee
	Storm Summary
	Water Capacity Summary
	Parks CIP Narratives
	Parks CIP Narratives
	Parks CIP Narratives

	71 Fact Sheet Ord 20-21, HOME Grant
	72 Ord 20-21, HOME Grant Supplemental Appropriations
	73 Fact Sheet Ord 20-22, E William Supplemental Appropriations
	74 Ord 20-22,  E William Supplemental Appropriations
	75 Fact Sheet Ord 20-23, Glenn Parkway Supplemental Appropriations
	76 Ord 20-23, Glenn Parkway Supplemental Appropriations
	77 Fact Sheet Ord 20-24 Parks Supplemental Appropriations
	78 Ord 20-24 Parks Supplemental Appropriations
	79 city managers report 20200309
	80 contract approval 20200224
	CONTRACT APPROVAL – March 5, 2020
	2020
	DEPARTMENT
	AMOUNT
	VENDOR
	EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT

	$7,500
	MS Consultants
	Economic Development

	$5400
	OhioHealth
	OhioHealth Employer Services Agreement Biometrics

	Varies
	Robert-Half International, Inc
	Renews expired contract with Accountemps

	NA
	CoHatch
	Membership agreement

	NA
	Ohio Attorney General
	Delinquent debt collection

	NA
	Department of Justice
	US DOS/US Treasury Equitable Sharing Agreement and Certification

	Task order
	Quality Control Inspection
	2020 RPR/Construction Inspection Professional Services

	NA
	Lake Erie Construction Co.
	2020 Guardrail and Fence Repair 

	66,843.33
	The AeroMark Company
	2020 Pavement Marking Maintenance Program

	10,000
	Burgess & Niple
	Water distribution continuous status modeling


	81 March



